UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, DC 20549

FORM 8-K

CURRENT REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Date of report (Date of earliest event reported): January 4, 2016 (December 31, 2015)

Acadia Healthcare Company, Inc.

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter)

Delaware (State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation) 001-35331 (Commission File Number) 45-2492228 (IRS Employer Identification No.)

6100 Tower Circle, Suite 1000, Franklin, Tennessee 37067 (Address of Principal Executive Offices)

> (615) 861-6000 (Registrant's Telephone Number, including Area Code)

Not Applicable (Former Name or Former Address, if Changed Since Last Report)

				
Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation of the registrant under any of the following provisions (See General Instruction A.2. below):				
	Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425)			
	Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12)			
	Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b))			
	Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c))			

Item 1.01. Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement.

Acquisition of Priory Group No. 1 Limited

On December 31, 2015, Acadia Healthcare Company, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("<u>Acadia</u>"), and Whitewell UK Investments 1 Limited, a private limited company registered in England and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Acadia (the "<u>Purchaser</u>"), entered into a Sale and Purchase Deed (the "<u>Agreement</u>") with a number of subsidiaries indirectly held by certain funds managed and advised by Advent International Corporation named therein (collectively, the "<u>Institutional Sellers</u>"), Appleby Trust (Jersey) Limited, a private limited liability company incorporated in Jersey ("<u>Trustee</u>"), the management sellers named therein (the "<u>Management Sellers</u>," and together with the Institutional Sellers and Trustee, collectively, the "<u>Sellers</u>"), pursuant to which, among other things, the Purchaser will acquire the entire issued share capital (the "<u>Shares</u>") of Priory Group No. 1 Limited, a company incorporated in England and Wales ("<u>Priory</u>," and together with Priory's subsidiaries, collectively, the "<u>Target Companies</u>"). Priory is a leading provider of behavioral healthcare services in the United Kingdom (the "<u>UK</u>"), operating more than 300 facilities with approximately 7,200 beds focusing on the provision of mental healthcare, education and children's services, adult care and elderly care. The purchase and sale of the Shares is referred to herein as the "<u>Transaction</u>." The Agreement provides that the Transaction will close on February 16, 2016 (the "<u>Closing</u>").

In accordance with the terms of the Agreement, at Closing (i) an aggregate of 5.363 million shares of Acadia common stock, \$0.01 par value per share ("Common Stock"), will be issued to the Institutional Sellers, subject to adjustment as provided in the Agreement, and (ii) Acadia will pay aggregate cash consideration of approximately £1.275 billion (or approximately \$1.887 billion), which includes approximately £925 million (or \$1.369 billion) to be used to repay the outstanding balances of the debt facilities of the Target Companies.

Pursuant to the Agreement, Acadia has agreed to commence a public offering of Common Stock prior to Closing intended to raise net proceeds of at least £400 million to fund a portion of the cash consideration. Acadia has agreed to use reasonable endeavors to consummate the public offering on or prior to Closing. Subject to market conditions and in its sole discretion, Acadia has the right under the Agreement to sell additional shares of Common Stock in the public offering and to pay the net proceeds in excess of £400 million to the Institutional Sellers in lieu of issuing all or a portion of the 5.363 million shares of Common Stock issuable to the Institutional Sellers.

In the event that Acadia is unable to consummate a public offering of Common Stock to raise cash consideration at agreed upon levels, then Acadia shall, in its absolute discretion, be entitled to issue additional shares of Common Stock for no additional consideration to the Institutional Sellers at Closing such that the aggregate of the number of shares of Common Stock so issued, together with the 5.363 million shares issuable to the Institutional Sellers, all valued at the price at which shares are first issued to the public in the public offering, would be equal to approximately \$337.5 million (or approximately £225 million). If Acadia fails to elect to issue such additional shares of Common Stock, the Institutional Sellers may elect to terminate the Agreement.

The Agreement contains certain customary warranties by the parties, including, without limitation, warranties about the authorization of the parties to enter into the Transaction and perform their obligations under the Agreement and, in the case of the Sellers, their ownership of the Shares. The Agreement does not provide either party with indemnification rights.

The Sellers have agreed, among other things, that, prior to the Closing, they shall (i) use reasonable endeavors to procure that no Target Company shall take certain identified actions without the

prior written consent of the Purchaser; (ii) furnish certain required financial statements of the Target Companies and such other financial information as may be necessary in connection with the financing of the Transaction; (iii) assist Acadia with the preparation of customary offering documents and information memoranda and similar documents in connection with the financing of the Transaction, deliver (or cause its accountants to deliver) accountants' comfort letters and consents of accountants for use of their reports in any required filings, provide customary authorization letters for Acadia's financing transactions and cooperate with Acadia's marketing efforts; and (iv) issue notices of redemption and procure bond payoff amounts with respect to Priory's outstanding senior secured and senior unsecured bonds. The Purchaser and Acadia have agreed (i) to maintain in effect the Debt Commitment Letter (as defined below) and not to amend or modify the Debt Commitment Letter in any way that would impose new or additional conditions, prevent or delay Closing or adversely and materially impact the ability of the Purchaser to enforce its rights under the Debt Commitment Letter, and (ii) to satisfy all conditions under the Debt Commitment Letter within its control and, in the event such debt financing becomes unavailable, to obtain alternative debt financing. Acadia has also agreed not to take certain actions, such as equity issuances, payment of dividends, asset sales, and the incurrence of debt, subject to exceptions, until the earlier of Closing and termination of the Agreement.

Either party may terminate the Agreement if the UK Competition and Markets Authority makes or imposes any order, undertaking or obligation that prohibits Closing. The parties may also terminate the Agreement in certain circumstances if the other party is in breach of its obligations at Closing.

The foregoing description of the Agreement does not purport to be a complete description and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the Agreement, which is filed as Exhibit 2 and incorporated herein by reference. The Agreement has been included as an exhibit hereto solely to provide investors and security holders with information regarding its terms. It is not intended to be a source of financial, business or operational information about Acadia, Priory or their respective subsidiaries or affiliates. The representations, warranties and covenants contained in the Agreement are made only for purposes of the Agreement and are made as of specific dates; are solely for the benefit of the parties to the Agreement; may be subject to qualifications and limitations agreed upon by the parties in connection with negotiating the terms of the Agreement, including being qualified by confidential disclosures made for the purpose of allocating contractual risk between the parties rather than establishing matters as facts; and may be subject to standards of materiality applicable to the parties to the Agreement that differ from those applicable to investors or security holders. Investors and security holders should not rely on the representations, warranties and covenants or any description thereof as characterizations of the actual state of facts or condition of Acadia, Priory or their respective subsidiaries or affiliates. Moreover, information concerning the subject matter of the representations, warranties and covenants may change after the date of the Agreement, which subsequent information may or may not be fully reflected in public disclosures.

Debt Commitment Letter and Debt Financing

Acadia has received a commitment from Bank of America, N.A. ("Bank of America") and Jefferies Finance LLC ("JF," and together with Bank of America, the "Initial Lenders") regarding financing a portion of the Transaction (the "Debt Financing"). Subject to the terms of a Commitment Letter with Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated ("Merrill Lynch"), Bank of America and JF (the "Debt Commitment Letter") and as permitted under the terms of that certain Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of December 31, 2012 (as amended to date) among Acadia Healthcare Company, Inc., the subsidiaries of Acadia party thereto, Bank of America, N.A. as Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender and L/C Issuer and the other parties thereto (as amended, modified or otherwise supplemented prior to the date hereof), each of Bank of America and JF has committed to provide, severally and not jointly (a) 50% and 50%, respectively, of an incremental senior

secured term loan B facility in an aggregate principal amount of up to \$955 million, subject to certain adjustments, and (b) 50% and 50%, respectively, of \$390 million of senior unsecured increasing rate bridge loan facility, subject to certain adjustments. It is expected that Acadia will seek long-term debt financing in lieu of a portion or all of the drawings under such bridge loan facility, subject to market and other conditions. The obligation of the Initial Lenders to provide the Debt Financing in accordance with the Debt Commitment Letter is subject to certain customary conditions. While closing of the Transaction is not subject to financing or other conditions, there can be no assurance that the Debt Financing will be consummated prior to the Closing.

Third Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement

Concurrently with the execution of the Agreement, the Company entered into a Third Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement (the "New Registration Rights Agreement") with the parties named therein. The New Registration Rights Agreement amends and replaces the existing Second Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement dated as of October 29, 2014, as amended (the "Existing Registration Rights Agreement"). Subject to certain limitations and effective as of the date hereof, the New Registration Rights Agreement amends the Existing Registration Rights Agreement to grant the Institutional Sellers certain "demand" registration rights for registered offerings and "piggyback" registration rights with respect to Acadia's securities. All expenses incident to registrations are required to be borne by Acadia. The parties to the New Registration Rights Agreement have also agreed not to sell Acadia securities for a specified period of time.

The foregoing description of the New Registration Rights Agreement does not purport to be a complete description and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the New Registration Rights Agreement, which is filed as <u>Exhibit 4</u> and incorporated by reference herein.

Item 3.02. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities.

As described in Item 1.01 above, Acadia has entered into the Agreement pursuant to which it will issue 5.363 million shares of Common Stock, subject to adjustment as provided in the Agreement, to the Institutional Sellers as partial consideration for the Transaction. The issuance and sale of the shares of Common Stock is intended to be exempt from registration under Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act as a transaction by an issuer not involving a public offering.

To the extent relevant, the information disclosed in Item 1.01 of this Current Report on Form 8-K is incorporated into this Item 3.02 by reference.

Item 9.01. Financial Statements and Exhibits.

(d) Exhibits.

Exhibit Number	<u>Description</u>
2	Sale and Purchase Deed, dated as of December 31, 2015, by and among the Purchaser, the institutional sellers named therein, Appleby Trust (Jersey) Limited, the management sellers named therein, and Acadia*
4	Third Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of December 31, 2015, by and among Acadia and each of the parties named therein
99	Press Release dated January 4, 2016

^{*} Schedules and exhibits to the Agreement have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. Acadia hereby agrees to furnish supplementally a copy of any omitted schedule or exhibit to the SEC upon request.

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Current Report on Form 8-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements include any statements that address future events, occurrences or results. In some cases, forward-looking statements can be identified by terminology such as "may," "might," "would," "should," "could" or the negative thereof. Generally, the words "anticipate," "believe," "continue," "expect," "intend," "estimate," "project," "plan" and similar expressions used in connection with any discussion of the Agreement, the Transaction, the Debt Commitment Letter, the Debt Financing, and the New Registration Rights Agreement identify forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict. Therefore, actual results could differ materially and adversely from these forward-looking statements.

Acadia has based these forward-looking statements on its current expectations, assumptions, estimates and projections. Although Acadia believes that such expectations, assumptions, estimates and projections are reasonable, forward-looking statements are only predictions and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, many of which are outside of Acadia's control and could cause Acadia's actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially and adversely from any results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.

Given these risks and uncertainties, undue reliance should not be placed on these forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are made only as of the date of this Current Report on Form 8-K. Acadia does not undertake, and expressly disclaims, any obligation to update or alter any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

Date: January 4, 2016

ACADIA HEALTHCARE COMPANY, INC.

By: /s/ Christopher L. Howard

Christopher L. Howard

Executive Vice President, Secretary and General Counsel

Exhibit <u>Number</u>	<u>Description</u>
2	Sale and Purchase Deed, dated as of December 31, 2015, by and among the Purchaser, the institutional sellers named therein, Appleby Trust (Jersey) Limited, the management sellers named therein, and Acadia*
4	Third Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of December 31, 2015, by and among Acadia and each of the parties named therein
99	Press Release dated January 4, 2016

^{*} Schedules and exhibits to the Agreement have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. Acadia hereby agrees to furnish supplementally a copy of any omitted schedule or exhibit to the SEC upon request.

31 December 2015

THE INSTITUTIONAL SELLERS APPLEBY TRUST (JERSEY) LIMITED THE MANAGEMENT SELLERS WHITEWELL UK INVESTMENTS 1 LIMITED ACADIA HEALTHCARE COMPANY, INC.

SALE AND PURCHASE DEED

relating to the entire issued share capital of Priory Group ${\it No.~1}$ Limited



Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer LLP 65 Fleet Street London EC4Y 1HS

CONTENTS

CLAUSE		PAGE
1.	Sale and purchase	1
2.	Consideration	3
3.	Management Sellers	6
4.	Period to Closing	7
5.	Closing	16
6.	Sellers' Warranties	20
7.	Purchaser Warranties and Purchaser Guarantor Warranties	22
8.	Purchaser Guarantor undertakings	25
9.	No rights of rescission or termination	25
10.	Sellers' Representatives	25
11.	Post-Closing undertakings	26
12.	No Leakage undertaking	29
13.	Payments	30
14.	Purchaser Guarantor	31
15.	Announcements	32
16.	Confidentiality	33
17.	Recourse to the Trustee	35
18.	Further assurances	35
19.	Assignment	35
20.	Costs	36
21.	Notices	36
22.	Conflict with other agreements	38
23.	Whole agreement	39
24.	Withholdings and set-off	39
25.	Waivers, rights and remedies	40
26.	Specific performance	40
27.	Counterparts	40
28.	Variations	40
29.	Invalidity	41
30.	Third party enforcement rights	41
31.	Governing law and jurisdiction	41
32.	Non-recourse	43
Schedule 1 Details of the Sellers		44
	Part A Institutional Sellers	44
	Part B Management Sellers	44

CLAUSE	PAGE
Schedule 2 Closing arrangements	47
Part A Seller Obligations	47
Part B Purchaser Obligations	48
Part C General	50
Part D Sellers' Undertaking	50
Schedule 3 Permitted Leakage	51
Schedule 4 Voting Power of Attorney	53
Schedule 5 Deed of Adherence	56
Schedule 6 Additional Purchaser Guarantor warranties	57
Schedule 7 Conduct of the Purchaser Guarantor prior to Closing	62
Schedule 8 Actions pending Closing	64
Schedule 9 Definitions and interpretation	66
Annex I Purchaser Guarantor Schedules	

Agreed Form Documents

Allocation Table

Data Room index

Deed of termination in respect of the Investment Documents

Pro forma director resignation letter

Pro forma indemnity in respect of lost share certificates

Certificates of title

Press announcement

Agreed Threshold Share Price document

THIS DEED is made on 31 December 2015

PARTIES:

- (1) **THE PERSONS** whose names and addresses are set out in Part A of Schedule 1 (the *Institutional Sellers*);
- (2) **APPLEBY TRUST (JERSEY) LIMITED**, a private limited liability company incorporated in Jersey (registered number 21755), whose registered office is at 13-14 The Esplanade, St Helier, Jersey JEI 1BD, Channel Islands, in its capacity as nominee for the Management Sellers and as trustee of the Priory Equity Plan Employee Trust (the *Trustee*);
- (3) **THE PERSONS** whose names are set out in Part B of Schedule 1 (the *Original Management Sellers* and, together with any other person who signs a Deed of Adherence as a Management Seller, the *Management Sellers* and, together with the Institutional Sellers and the Trustee, the *Sellers*);
- (4) **WHITEWELL UK INVESTMENTS 1 LIMITED**, a private limited company registered in England (company number 09929374), whose registered office is at 1 Finsbury Circus, London EC2M 7SH, United Kingdom (the *Purchaser*); and
- (5) **ACADIA HEALTHCARE COMPANY, INC.**, a company incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware, whose principal place of business is 6100 Tower Circle Drive, Suite 1000, Franklin, TN 37067, United States of America (the *Purchaser Guarantor*),

(together, the parties).

Words and expressions used, and not otherwise defined, in this Deed shall be interpreted in accordance with Schedule 9.

IT IS AGREED:

1. Sale and purchase

- 1.1. Upon Closing, and subject to clauses 1.5 and 1.8:
- (a) each of the Institutional Sellers shall sell, and the Purchaser shall purchase, those Shares set out opposite that Seller's name in columns 2, 6 and 10 of Part A of the Allocation Table;
- (b) the Trustee (in its capacity as trustee of the Priory Equity Plan Employee Trust) shall sell, and the Purchaser shall purchase, those Shares set out opposite the Trustee's name in columns 2 and 6 of Part B of the Allocation Table (as adjusted in accordance with clause 4.11); and
- (c) in relation to the Shares set out in columns 2, 6, 10, 14, 18, 22 and 26 of Part C of the Allocation Table (as adjusted in accordance with clause 4.11):
 - (i) each Management Seller shall sell, and the Purchaser shall purchase, the beneficial title to those Shares set out opposite that Management Seller's name; and

(ii) the Trustee (in its capacity as nominee for the Management Sellers) shall sell, and the Purchaser shall purchase, the legal title to those Shares,

in each case free from all Third Party Rights and with all relevant rights then attaching to them including the right to receive all distributions and dividends declared, paid or made after Closing and all distributions and dividends on the Preference Shares accrued or declared, but unpaid, prior to Closing.

- 1.2. Each Institutional Seller covenants that it has the right to transfer the legal and beneficial title to those Shares set out opposite that Seller's name in columns 2, 6, and 10 of Part A of the Allocation Table.
- 1.3. The Trustee (in its capacity as trustee of the Priory Equity Plan Employee Trust) covenants that it has the right to transfer the legal and beneficial title to those Shares set out opposite the Trustee's name in columns 2 and 6 of Part B of the Allocation Table (as adjusted in accordance with clause 4.11).
- 1.4. In relation to the Shares set out in columns 2, 6, 10, 14, 18, 22 and 26 of Part C of the Allocation Table (as adjusted in accordance with clause 4.11):
- (a) each Management Seller covenants that it has the right to transfer the beneficial title to those Shares set out opposite that Management Seller's name: and
- (b) the Trustee (in its capacity as nominee for the Management Sellers) covenants that it has the right to transfer the legal title to those Shares.
- 1.5. Upon delivery of the Revised Schedule in accordance with clause 4.11, the Allocation Table shall be deemed to be replaced in its entirety by such Revised Schedule for all purposes under this Deed, with effect from the date of such delivery.
- 1.6. The sale and purchase of the Shares shall be on the terms and conditions set out in this Deed.
- 1.7. If a Management Seller ceases to be a holder of the beneficial interest in all of the Shares held by it prior to Closing, then such Management Seller shall no longer be a party to this Deed in its capacity as a Management Seller.
- 1.8. At any time between the date of this Deed and eight Business Days prior to Closing, the Purchaser shall be entitled to elect by notice in writing to the Institutional Sellers' Representative that it shall procure that the Preference Shares (together with all accrued or declared, but unpaid, dividends and distributions on such Preference Shares) held by the Institutional Sellers will be redeemed at Closing rather than purchased pursuant to clause 1.1, provided always that the economic position of the relevant Institutional Sellers is not worse as a result of such redemption than it would have been had the Preference Shares (together with all accrued or declared, but unpaid, dividends and distributions on such Preference Shares) been sold. The Sellers will provide reasonable assistance to the Purchaser in connection with the redemption of the Preference Shares (together with all accrued or declared, but unpaid, dividends and distributions on such Preference Shares) and any third party costs reasonably incurred in connection therewith shall be borne by the Purchaser. The Purchaser shall indemnify each relevant Institutional Seller against any Costs directly suffered or incurred by any of them as a result of the Preference Shares (together with all accrued

or declared, but unpaid, dividends and distributions on such Preference Shares) being redeemed at Closing, which the relevant Institutional Sellers would not have directly suffered or incurred if the Preference Shares (together with all accrued or declared, but unpaid, dividends and distributions on such Preference Shares) had been purchased at Closing.

1.9. If the Preference Shares are redeemed pursuant to clause 1.8, the redemption amount shall be equal to the aggregate of the Initial Preference Share Price and the Additional Preference Share Price, and clauses 2 and 4.11, the Allocation Table (and the Revised Schedule) and Schedule 2 of this Deed will be deemed adjusted accordingly.

2. Consideration

- 2.1. The aggregate consideration payable by the Purchaser for all of the Shares shall be the Share Price (as adjusted in accordance with clause 4.11) which shall be payable in accordance with Schedule 2.
- 2.2. The individual consideration payable by the Purchaser for the Shares held by each Management Seller and the Trustee (in its capacity as trustee of the Priory Equity Plan Employee Trust) shall be the aggregate of that Seller's: (a) Initial Cash Price; and (b) Additional Preference Share Price.
- 2.3. Subject to clauses 2.4 to 2.6 (inclusive), the individual consideration payable by the Purchaser for the Shares held by each relevant Institutional Seller shall be the aggregate of that Seller's: (a) Initial Cash Price; and (b) Additional Preference Share Price.
- 2.4. Subject to clauses 2.5 to 2.6 (inclusive), at Closing, £225,000,000 of: (a) the aggregate consideration payable to the Institutional Sellers pursuant to clause 2.3; and/or (b) the cash payable to any Institutional Seller in respect of any Outstanding Notes Debt pursuant to Part B of Schedule 2 (such allocation between sub-paragraph (a) and sub-paragraph (b) being as the Institutional Sellers' Representative may elect) (the *Cash Deduction*), shall be satisfied by the issuance Pro Rata to the Institutional Sellers of the Acadia Common Stock Consideration.
- 2.5. If the Public Equity Offering would result in Equity Proceeds at the then prevailing exchange rate of in excess of £400,000,000 with a Public Equity Offering Price equal to at least the Agreed Threshold Share Price:
- (a) the Purchaser Guarantor may elect to procure purchasers for some or all of the shares of Acadia Common Stock Consideration at the Public Equity Offering Price and it shall notify the Institutional Sellers' Representative in writing if it makes such an election and will confirm the number of shares of Acadia Common Stock Consideration to be included in such proposed sale (the *Initial Seller Acadia Placing Shares*) and the Equity Proceeds in US dollars of such proposed sale (the *Initial Cash Consideration Increase Amount*) for which it can procure purchasers;
- (b) in such event: (a) the Initial Seller Acadia Placing Shares shall be sold on or prior to Closing by the Purchaser Guarantor to such purchasers as it procures pursuant to clause 2.5(a); (b) the Initial Cash Consideration Increase Amount shall be paid Pro Rata to the Institutional Sellers in US dollars at Closing; and (c) the Acadia Common

Stock Consideration to be delivered to each Institutional Seller pursuant to clause 2.4 shall be reduced by its Pro Rata share of the Initial Acadia Common Stock Reduction Shares (the aggregate number of shares of Acadia Common Stock Consideration as reduced by the Initial Acadia Common Stock Reduction Shares and any Option Acadia Common Stock Reduction Shares, being the *Adjusted Acadia Placing Stock*). The Purchaser Guarantor will inform the Institutional Sellers' Representative in writing as soon as reasonably practicable on or following the Pricing Date, and in any event within two Business Days, of the number of Initial Seller Acadia Placing Shares and the Initial Cash Consideration Increase Amount (subject to adjustment prior to Closing as a result of finalisation of the calculation of the Equity Proceeds). *Initial Acadia Common Stock Reduction Shares* means the number of shares of Acadia Common Stock equal to: (a) the Initial Cash Consideration Increase Amount; divided by (b) the Agreed Threshold Share Price (and, for the avoidance of doubt, the Initial Acadia Common Stock Reduction Shares shall not exceed the Acadia Common Stock Consideration and the Initial Cash Consideration Increase Amount shall not exceed the Acadia Common Stock Consideration Amount);

- (c) in the event, and to the extent, that the underwriters in the Public Equity Offering exercise the option (granted to them by the Purchaser Guarantor in the underwriting agreement entered into in connection with the Public Equity Offering) to acquire additional shares of Acadia Common Stock which shall be at a Public Equity Offering Price equal to at least the Agreed Threshold Share Price (regardless of whether the Purchaser Guarantor has exercised its election under clause 2.5(a)), then, if an Option Closing occurs before the date that is five Business Days before the Closing Date, and provided that the Initial Cash Consideration Increase Amount (if any) is or was (as relevant) less than the Acadia Common Stock Consideration Amount, then: (i) the Equity Proceeds raised in such Option Closing (the *Option Cash Consideration Increase Amount* and, together with the Initial Cash Consideration Increase Amount, the Cash Consideration Increase Amount) shall be paid Pro Rata to the Institutional Sellers in US dollars at Closing (but only to the extent that the Cash Consideration Increase Amount does not exceed the Acadia Common Stock Consideration Amount); and (ii) the Acadia Common Stock Consideration to be delivered to each Institutional Seller pursuant to clause 2.4 shall be further reduced by its Pro Rata share of the Option Acadia Common Stock Reduction Shares (the Option Acadia Common Stock Reduction Shares, together with the Initial Acadia Common Stock Reduction Shares, being the *Acadia Common Stock Reduction Shares*). Option Acadia Common Stock Reduction Shares means the number of shares of Acadia Common Stock equal to: (a) the Option Cash Consideration Increase Amount; divided by (b) the Agreed Threshold Share Price (and, for the avoidance of doubt, the Acadia Common Stock Reduction Shares shall not exceed the Acadia Common Stock Consideration and the Cash Consideration Increase Amount shall not exceed the Acadia Common Stock Consideration Amount); and
- (d) if the Purchaser Guarantor makes such an election pursuant to this clause 2.5, the Purchaser shall give a notice in writing (delivered both by email and by hand at the Top-Up Meeting, as defined below) (the *Placing Election Notice*) to the Institutional Sellers' Representative stating that it is electing to place Initial Seller Acadia Placing Shares pursuant to this clause 2.5 and setting out the Public Equity Offering Price. Such Placing Election Notice shall be so served by no later than 17:00 Eastern Standard Time on the Pricing Date.

- 2.6. If the Public Equity Offering Price is less than the Agreed Threshold Share Price, the Purchaser Guarantor shall, at its absolute discretion, be entitled to issue additional shares of Acadia Common Stock (for no consideration in addition to the transfer (and, if relevant, the redemption) of the Shares and the redemption of the Notes pursuant to the terms of this Deed) Pro Rata to the Institutional Sellers on Closing such that the aggregate of the number of shares of Acadia Common Stock so issued, together with the Acadia Common Stock Consideration, all valued at the Public Equity Offering Price, would be equal to the Acadia Common Stock Consideration Amount (such election being the *Full Top-Up Election*). Beginning at 16:00 Eastern Standard Time and continuing until the later of: (a) 17:00 Eastern Standard Time; and (b) if a Non Top-Up Election is made by the time specified for delivery of the Election Notice in this clause 2.6, 45 minutes after the time at which a Non Top-Up Election is delivered on the Pricing Date, there shall be a meeting at the London offices of Advent International (at the address 111 Buckingham Palace Road, London SW1W 0SR) (or such other physical location as agreed in writing as between the Institutional Seller's Representative and the Purchaser prior to the Pricing Date), which shall be attended by, amongst others, the Institutional Sellers' Pricing Representative (and its legal advisers) and the Purchaser's Counsel (acting on behalf of the Purchaser) (the Top-Up Meeting). By 17:00 Eastern Standard Time, at the Top-Up Meeting, the Purchaser shall procure that the Purchaser's Counsel (acting on behalf of the Purchaser) shall give a notice in writing (delivered by hand and, to the extent that either or both of the Purchaser Guarantor and the Institutional Sellers' Representative are available, will simultaneously be notified by conference call) to the Institutional Sellers' Pricing Representative (the *Election Notice*) setting out the Public Equity Offering Price and stating (without qualification) whether the Purchaser Guarantor is thereby:
- (a) making the Full Top-Up Election; or
- (b) not making Full Top-Up Election (the *Non Top-Up Election*).

If the Public Equity Offering Price is less than the Agreed Threshold Share Price and the Election Notice is not so delivered in accordance with this clause 2.6 making the statement in either paragraph (a) or (b) above in accordance with this clause 2.6, then, in either such case, the Purchaser shall be deemed to have made the Full Top-Up Election. The time of the delivery of the Non Top-Up Election shall be the *Notification Time*. (Clause 4.8 of this Deed provides for the conduct of communications between the Institutional Sellers' Pricing Representative and the Purchaser before 16:00 Eastern Standard Time on the Pricing Date.) The Institutional Sellers' Pricing Representative (on behalf of the Institutional Sellers) may elect within 20 minutes of the Notification Time, by notice in writing (delivered by hand and, to the extent that either or both of the Purchaser Guarantor and the Institutional Sellers' Representative are available, will simultaneously be notified by conference call) to the Purchaser's Counsel (acting on behalf of the Purchaser), to terminate this Deed and following any such termination, the parties shall have no rights and liabilities under this Deed, save for any rights and liabilities which have accrued before termination or under any of the Surviving Provisions. A Full Top-Up Election (or a deemed Full Top-Up Election), shall be an irrevocable and binding commitment

upon the Purchaser Guarantor to issue such additional shares of Acadia Common Stock upon Closing in accordance with this clause 2.6. If either the Institutional Sellers' Pricing Representative or the Purchaser's Counsel (acting on the Purchaser's behalf) is not present at the Top-Up Meeting for any period of time during which a notice is due to be given to him pursuant to this clause 2.6, then such notice may be delivered to the Institutional Sellers' Pricing Representative or the Purchaser, respectively, by email (in accordance with clause 21 of this Deed) with such notice also being delivered to the Institutional Sellers' Pricing Representative or the Purchaser, respectively, by hand as soon as possible thereafter.

2.7. Any payment made in satisfaction of a liability arising under a Seller Obligation or a Purchaser Obligation or under the Management Warranty Deed shall, to the extent possible, adjust the cash price paid for the relevant Shares.

3. Management Sellers

Each Management Seller hereby:

- (a) agrees that, from that Management Seller's portion of the Share Price: (i) an amount equal to any loan granted to that Management Seller by a Target Company (including any interest accrued thereon) for the purposes of subscribing for shares in the Company, to the extent such loan remains outstanding at Closing (the *Management Seller Loan Amount*); and (ii) an amount equal to the aggregate amount of the income tax and primary class 1 National Insurance contributions (if any) due after the Locked Box Date on the acquisition of beneficial interests in its Shares from the Trustee (the *Tax Liabilities Amount*) shall be transferred to the Company in accordance with Schedule 2;
- (b) pursuant to paragraph (a), above, directs the Purchaser to transfer to the Company (or as it may direct), at Closing, an amount equal to that Management Seller's Management Seller Loan Amount and Tax Liabilities Amount and the Purchaser hereby agrees to procure that the Management Seller's Tax Liabilities Amount is transferred as soon as reasonably practicable following Closing to HM Revenue & Customs;
- agrees that, from that Management Seller's portion of the Share Price, an amount of the consideration (if any) for each Share, the beneficial interest in which is acquired by such Management Seller from the Trustee after the date of this Deed, to the extent such amount has not been paid prior to Closing by such Management Seller to the Trustee (the *Consideration Deduction Amount*) shall be transferred to the Company in accordance with Schedule 2; and
- (d) pursuant to paragraph (c), above, directs the Purchaser to transfer to the Company (in deemed partial repayment of the indebtedness owed by the Trustee to the Company in respect of the cost of the acquisition of the Shares), at Closing, an amount equal to that Management Seller's Consideration Deduction Amount.

4. Period to Closing

- 4.1. From the date of this Deed until the earlier of Closing or the termination of this Deed, each Institutional Seller and Management Seller undertakes to use reasonable endeavours, in each case subject to all legal and regulatory requirements and to the extent within its power to do so:
- (a) to procure that no Target Company shall undertake any acts or matters specified in Schedule 8 without the prior written consent of the Purchaser (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed), provided that the Purchaser shall be deemed to have consented to the relevant act or matter if it fails to notify the Sellers' Representatives within five Business Days of the relevant written request that it does not consent to the relevant act or matter;
- (b) to procure that each relevant Target Company shall comply with all reasonable requests from the Purchaser Group in connection with the Purchaser's Financing, including:
 - furnishing the Purchaser Group and its Debt Financing Sources and Equity Financing Sources as promptly as practicable and by no (i) later than 15 January 2016 with: (A) IFRS audited consolidated financial statements of the Target Companies for the fiscal years ended 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 and unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of the Target Companies as of and for the nine months ended 30 September 2014 and 2015 prepared in accordance with IFRS and reviewed by the Company's independent auditors in accordance with AU-930, Interim Financial Information, as issued by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (collectively, the financial statements in this sub-clause (A), the *Required Target Financial Information*) which Required Target Financial Information shall be and shall remain Compliant prior to and as of the Closing Date; and (B) other financial and other pertinent information regarding the Target Companies as may be reasonably requested by the Purchaser Group, including, without limitation, financial statements (including financial statements of the Target Companies and pro forma financial information solely relating to the Target Companies but excluding: (i) any pro forma financial information relating to the Purchaser or its Affiliates and any post-Closing pro forma cost savings, synergies, capitalisation, ownership or other pro forma adjustments desired to be incorporated into any pro forma financial information; and (ii) any financial statements or information that may be required by Rules 3-09, 3-10 or 3-16 of Regulation S-X) and audit reports and other information of the type required and of a type and form customarily included with respect to a non-U.S. target company acquired by a U.S. company in a registration statement by a U.S. company on Form S-1 for a public offering of equity or debt securities as contemplated by the Purchaser's Financing);
 - (ii) assisting with the preparation of any customary offering documents or memoranda, bank information memoranda, prospectuses and similar documents and materials for rating agency presentations and similar documents required in connection with the Purchaser's Financing;
 - (iii) delivering (or causing its accountants to deliver) accountants' comfort letters and consents of accountants for use of their audit opinions in any materials relating to the Purchaser's Financing and in connection with any filings

required to be made by any member of the Purchaser Group pursuant to the Securities Act or the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (collectively, an *SEC Filing*), where the financial statements or any of the other Required Target Financial Information are included or incorporated by reference;

- (iv) cooperating reasonably with: (A) the marketing efforts for the Purchaser's Financing; and (B) the Debt Financing Sources' and Equity Financing Sources' due diligence, in each case to the extent customary and reasonable; and
- (v) at least five Business Days prior to the Closing Date, providing all documentation and other information about the Target Companies as is requested in writing by the Purchaser Group at least 10 Business Days prior to the Closing Date which is in connection with the Purchaser's Financing and required by regulatory authorities under applicable "know your customer" and anti-money laundering rules and regulations including without limitation the USA PATRIOT Act,

provided, however, that nothing herein shall require such cooperation to the extent it would: (i) interfere unreasonably with the Business or operations of any of the Target Companies; (ii) require any Target Company to take any action that would conflict with or violate any such Target Company's constitutional documents, material agreements or any laws; (iii) require any Target Company to enter into or approve any agreement referred to in this clause 4.1(b) prior to Closing or that becomes effective prior to Closing (except customary representation letters required by external auditors of any Target Company); (iv) subject any Seller or Target Company or any of their directors, officers or employees to actual or potential liability, require any of them to bear any cost or expense or to pay any commitment or other similar fee or make any other payment or incur any other liability or require any of them to provide or agree to provide any indemnity, guarantee or pledge in connection with the Purchaser's Financing or any of the foregoing prior to the Closing or that becomes effective prior to the Closing; or (v) require the provision of any financial statements or financial or other information other than the Required Target Financial Information;

- (c) to procure that each relevant Target Company shall comply with all reasonable requests from the Purchaser Group to provide customary authorisation letters to the Debt Financing Sources authorising the distribution of information relating to the Target Companies to prospective lenders or investors:
- (d) (i) to procure that the Bond Issuer issues a notice of redemption (such redemption to be conditional on Closing occurring) to the Senior Secured Bond Trustee no later than 16 January 2016 which shall permit the Senior Secured Bonds to be redeemed on 16 February 2016, and a notice of redemption (such redemption to be conditional on Closing occurring) to the Senior Unsecured Bond Trustee no later than 16 January 2016 which shall permit the Senior Unsecured Bonds to be redeemed on 16 February 2016, and (ii) to use all reasonable endeavours to comply with any relevant provisions of articles 3, 8 and 12 of the Senior Secured Bond Indenture and under articles 3, 8 and 13 of the Senior Unsecured Bond Indenture respectively; and

- (e) to provide the Purchaser with reasonably satisfactory evidence of the Senior Secured Bond Payoff Amount and the Senior Unsecured Bond Payoff Amount no later than three Business Days prior to Closing.
- 4.2. Each Seller hereby consents, and shall procure that the Target Companies consent, to the reasonable use of the logos of the Target Companies in connection with the Purchaser's Financing, provided that such logos are used solely in a manner that is not intended to or reasonably likely to harm or damage the Target Companies or the reputation or goodwill of the Target Companies or any of their logos and on such other terms and conditions as the Target Companies may reasonably impose.
- 4.3. The Purchaser and the Purchaser Guarantor shall take, or cause to be taken, all actions and to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary or advisable (or in the case of clauses 4.3(c) to (e) (inclusive) only, all things reasonably necessary or advisable) to arrange the Purchaser's Debt Financing as promptly as practicable following the date of this Deed and to consummate the Purchaser's Debt Financing at Closing, including to:
- maintain in effect the Debt Commitment Agreement and not permit any amendment or modification to be made to, nor consent to any waiver of any provision or remedy under, and not replace, the Debt Commitment Agreement, if such amendment, modification, waiver or replacement:

 (i) reduces the aggregate amount of the Purchaser's Debt Financing (including by changing the amount of fees to be paid or original issue discount of the Purchaser's Debt Financing); or (ii) imposes new or additional conditions or otherwise expands, amends or modifies any of the conditions to the receipt of the Purchaser's Debt Financing in a manner that would reasonably be expected to: (A) prevent or delay Closing; or (B) adversely and materially impact the ability of the Purchaser to enforce its rights against other parties to the Debt Commitment Agreement or the definitive agreements with respect thereto when required pursuant to this Deed (provided that the Purchaser may amend the Debt Commitment Agreement to add lenders, lead arrangers, bookrunners, syndication agents or similar entities who had not executed the Debt Commitment Agreement as of the date hereof and amend the economic or other arrangements with respect to the existing and additional lenders, lead arrangers, bookrunners, syndication agents or similar entities, if the addition of such additional parties and amendment of additional terms do not reduce the Purchaser's Debt Financing to be funded at Closing to less than the aggregate amount committed pursuant to the Debt Commitment Agreement as of the date hereof, do not impose new or additional conditions to the receipt of the Purchaser's Debt Financing to be funded at Closing and, individually or in the aggregate, would not be reasonably expected to delay or prevent Closing) (and the Purchaser agrees to promptly deliver to the Sellers copies of any amendment, modification, supplement, waiver or replacement to the Debt Commitment Agreement);
- (b) satisfy on or prior to the Closing Date, all conditions to the provision of the Purchaser's Debt Financing that are within the Purchaser's control, and not take any actions which would cause any of the conditions to fail to be satisfied whether or not within the Purchaser Group's control;

- (c) negotiate, execute and deliver definitive debt documents that reflect the terms contained in, or no less favourable to the Purchaser in the aggregate than, the Debt Commitment Agreement (including any "market flex" provisions related thereto);
- (d) cause the Debt Financing Sources to fund the full amount of the Purchaser's Debt Financing at or prior to Closing (or such lesser amount as may be required to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Deed); and
- (e) enforce its rights under the Debt Commitment Agreement.
- 4.4. In the event that any portion of the Purchaser's Debt Financing becomes unavailable for any reason, regardless of the reason therefor, the Purchaser agrees to: (1) obtain alternative debt financing (in an amount sufficient, when taken together with the Equity Proceeds, to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Deed and to pay related fees and expenses) from the same or other sources on terms that contain conditions no less favourable to the Purchaser than the conditions included in the Debt Commitment Agreement on the date hereof; and (2) promptly notify the Institutional Sellers' Representative of such unavailability and the reason therefor. For the purposes of this Deed, the term Debt Commitment Agreement shall be deemed to include any commitment agreement (or similar agreement) with respect to any alternative debt financing arranged in compliance herewith, as well as all amendments, modifications and supplements thereto permitted under this Deed, the term Debt Financing Sources shall include the lenders, arrangers or providers of such alternative debt financing, and the term Purchaser's Debt Financing shall include such alternative debt financing.
- 4.5. No later than five Business Days prior to Closing, the Purchaser Guarantor shall commence a Public Offering pursuant to which the Purchaser Guarantor shall offer not less than such number of shares of Acadia Common Stock as would raise Equity Proceeds of at least £400,000,000 at the then prevailing exchange rate (the *Public Equity Offering*). As used herein, the term *Public Offering* means any primary offering by the Purchaser Guarantor of shares of Acadia Common Stock to the public (which shall not include a secondary component) pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act or any comparable offering document under any similar federal statute then in force.
- 4.6. The Purchaser Guarantor shall use reasonable endeavours to consummate the Public Equity Offering on or prior to Closing, including:
- in accordance with the Securities Act and all applicable rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, preparing and filing with the SEC either a new registration statement and all amendments thereto and related prospectuses and prospectus supplements, or one or more prospectus supplements which supplement the prospectus included in Purchaser Guarantor's registration statement on Form S-3ASR already filed and effective, in each case as may be necessary to comply with applicable securities laws, with respect to the offer and sale of the shares of Acadia Common Stock to be issued in the Public Equity Offering (the *Acadia Publicly Issued Shares*);
- (b) if a new registration statement is filed in order to consummate the Public Equity Offering, causing such registration statement to be an automatic shelf registration on

Form S-3 which becomes effective immediately upon filing, or if a Form S-3ASR cannot be filed, filing such registration statement on such other form as may be permitted by the rules and regulations of the SEC, and responding as promptly as possible to any SEC comments or requests for information with respect to such registration statement (if any) and cause such registration statement to be declared effective as soon as possible;

- (c) providing the Institutional Sellers' Representative with copies of any registration statement, prospectus, prospectus supplement, free writing prospectus or road show presentation contemplated to be used in connection with the Public Equity Offering a reasonable amount of time prior to the filing or use thereof and giving due consideration to any comments received from the Institutional Sellers' Representative on such drafts;
- (d) keeping the Institutional Sellers' Representative informed of the status of the registration process and timing of the Public Equity Offering, providing the Institutional Sellers' Representative with copies of any SEC comments received on any of the Purchaser Guarantor's SEC filings as soon as practicable following receipt thereof and providing the Institutional Sellers' Representative with any contemplated correspondence with the SEC as soon as practicable in advance of submission to the SEC;
- (e) preparing, and filing promptly with the SEC, such amendments or supplements to such registration statement, prospectus or prospectus supplement as may be necessary or advisable to correct any statements or omissions if, at the time when a prospectus relating to such securities is required to be delivered under the Securities Act, any event has occurred as the result of which any such registration statement, prospectus, prospectus supplement or any other prospectus as then in effect would include an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading;
- (f) making all filings of periodic and current reports required by the rules and regulations of the SEC prior to the Closing;
- (g) causing all Acadia Publicly Issued Shares to be listed on the NASDAQ Global Select Market;
- (h) registering and/or qualifying the Acadia Publicly Issued Shares under such other securities or "blue sky" laws of such jurisdictions and doing any and all other acts and things as may be reasonably necessary or advisable, so as to enable the Purchaser Guarantor to consummate the Public Equity Offering prior to Closing;
- (i) entering into and performing such customary agreements (including underwriting agreements in customary form) and taking all such other actions, to the extent permitted under the terms of the Deed, as the underwriters, if any, reasonably request in order to expedite or facilitate the disposition of the Acadia Publicly Issued Shares (including participating in such number of "road shows," investor presentations, marketing events, drafting sessions and due diligence sessions, and making available such information for due diligence review, as the underwriters managing such offering may reasonably request);

- (j) ensuring that any free writing prospectus (as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act) prepared by or on behalf of the Purchaser Guarantor complies in all material respects with the Securities Act, is filed in accordance with the Securities Act to the extent required thereby, is retained in accordance with the Securities Act to the extent required thereby and, when taken together with the related prospectus, will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading;
- (k) promptly obtaining the withdrawal of any stop order suspending the effectiveness of a registration statement contemplated to be used for the Public Equity Offering, suspending or preventing the use of any related prospectus or suspending the qualification of any equity securities included in such registration statement for sale in any jurisdiction;
- (l) causing the Acadia Publicly Issued Shares to be registered with or approved by such other governmental agencies or authorities as may be necessary to enable the Purchaser Guarantor to consummate the Public Equity Offering;
- (m) causing the auditors of the Purchaser Guarantor's financial statements which are included in the applicable registration statement, prospectus or prospectus supplement to provide a comfort letter in customary form and covering such matters of the type customarily covered by comfort letters to underwriters in public equity offerings;
- (n) causing counsel to the Purchaser Guarantor and its subsidiaries to provide customary legal opinions to the underwriters as the underwriters may reasonably request including without limitation 10b-5 opinions or statements with respect to the disclosure contained in the applicable registration statement, prospectus or disclosure package;
- (o) paying all fees and expenses in connection with the Public Equity Offering, including without limitation SEC filing fees, NASDAQ listing fees, fees and expenses of auditors and counsel, transfer agent fees, underwriting commissions, and fees and expenses of underwriters customarily paid for by issuers of underwritten equity securities;
- (p) not granting any registration rights from the date hereof through the Closing, and obtaining waivers of any registration rights existing on the date hereof which could give the holders thereof the right to require the sale of their shares in the Public Equity Offering; and
- (q) taking all actions necessary to ensure that the representations and warranties in clause 4.7 below remain true and correct from the date hereof through the Closing.
- 4.7. The Purchaser Guarantor warrants to each of the Sellers that as at the date of this Deed:
- (a) the Purchaser Guarantor is a large accelerated filer and a well-known seasoned issuer as defined in the rules and regulations of the SEC and is not an "ineligible issuer" as defined in the rules and regulations of the SEC;

- (b) the Purchaser Guarantor has an effective registration statement on Form S-3ASR which may be used for the Public Equity Offering;
- (c) there is no reason to believe that the Purchaser Guarantor could not on the date hereof file a new registration statement on Form S-3ASR which would be effective automatically and usable for the Public Equity Offering;
- (d) there are no outstanding SEC comments currently open with the SEC or any pending requests for confidential treatment on any of the Purchaser Guarantor's SEC filings;
- (e) approval by the board of directors of the Purchaser Guarantor is the only corporate approval required, and approval by holders of Acadia Common Stock is not required, in order to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Deed, including the issue of Acadia Common Stock provided for under the terms of this Deed;
- (f) the Purchaser Guarantor has a sufficient number of shares of Acadia Common Stock authorised in its organisational documents necessary to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Deed, including the issue of Acadia Common Stock provided for under the terms of this Deed, taking into account all issued shares and all shares reserved for future issuances;
- (g) no holder of securities has registration rights which enable them to require the sale of their shares in the Public Equity Offering (or any such rights have been waived); and
- (h) a copy of the Amended Registration Rights Agreement has been duly authorised, executed and delivered by each party thereto other than the Institutional Sellers and all requisite consents necessary to amend the existing registration rights agreement have been obtained.
- The Purchaser Guarantor shall keep the Sellers' Representatives informed in reasonable detail of the status of its efforts to arrange the Purchaser's Financing. The Purchaser will inform the Institutional Sellers' Pricing Representative of the likely Pricing Date as soon as reasonably practicable upon becoming aware of the same, and will keep the Institutional Sellers' Pricing Representative reasonably informed if that date may change. On the Pricing Date between 13:00 and 16:00 Eastern Standard Time, the Purchaser will liaise with the Institutional Sellers' Pricing Representative by telephone (such telephone number(s) of the Institutional Sellers' Pricing Representative to be notified to the Purchaser by the Institutional Sellers' Representative in writing from time to time following the date of this Deed) as often as is reasonable and if unable to reach the Institutional Sellers' Pricing Representative by telephone, by email, and shall provide good faith estimates of the potential Public Equity Offering Price and reasonable details of the status of the bookbuild. The Purchaser Guarantor will use all reasonable endeavours to respond to any queries the Institutional Sellers' Pricing Representative may have during that period in relation to the potential Public Equity Offering Price. The Purchaser Guarantor shall give the Sellers' Representatives prompt notice of any breach or repudiation, or receipt of a written notice of any anticipated or threatened breach or repudiation, by any party to the Debt Commitment Agreement of which the Purchaser Guarantor becomes aware.
- 4.9. The Purchaser:

- (a) shall indemnify and hold harmless the Sellers and the Target Companies for all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses (which shall be limited to legal fees and accountancy fees only) to the extent directly incurred by any Seller (or their respective Affiliates) or any Target Company (as the case may be) in connection with the co-operation of the Sellers contemplated by this clause 4 in connection with the Purchaser's Financing and/or the issuance of Acadia Common Stock;
- (b) acknowledges and agrees that the Sellers, the Target Companies and their respective Affiliates shall not have any responsibility for, or incur any liability to any person under any arrangement with respect to the Purchaser's Financing that the Purchaser may request in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Deed; and
- (c) shall indemnify and hold harmless each Seller and their respective Affiliates from and against any and all Costs directly suffered or incurred by any of them as a result of claims made by any third party in connection with the Purchaser's Financing and/or the issuance of Acadia Common Stock Consideration, other than in respect of a Seller, to the extent such Costs result from any inaccuracy in any historical written information regarding the Target Companies provided by that Seller (or, in the case of an Institutional Seller, any Institutional Seller) or any Target Company (which shall be deemed to be provided by all Sellers) to the Purchaser Guarantor and its Affiliates pursuant to clause 4.1(b) of this Deed.
- 4.10. No later than five Business Days prior to the Closing Date, a statement (the *Closing Statement*) shall be delivered by or on behalf of the Sellers' Representatives to the Purchaser, setting out, in each case as at the Closing Date:
- (a) the Outstanding Notes Debt (which shall be paid by the Purchaser at Closing pursuant to paragraph (b)(vi) of Part B of Schedule 2);
- (b) an estimate of the Outstanding RCF Debt (which shall be paid by the Purchaser at Closing pursuant to paragraph (b)(vii) of Part B of Schedule 2);
- (c) the Management Seller Loan Amount that will be outstanding as at the Closing Date (if any) for each relevant Management Seller (which shall be paid by the Purchaser at Closing pursuant to paragraph (b)(iv) of Part B of Schedule 2);
- (d) the Tax Liabilities Amount for each relevant Management Seller (which shall be paid by the Purchaser at Closing pursuant to paragraph (b)(iv) of Part B of Schedule 2);
- (e) the Consideration Deduction Amount for each relevant Management Seller (which shall be paid by the Purchaser at Closing pursuant to paragraph (b)(iv) of Part B of Schedule 2);
- (f) the Additional Notes Debt (which shall be paid by the Purchaser at Closing pursuant to paragraph (b)(vi) of Part B of Schedule 2) and the Additional Preference Share Price (which shall be paid by the Purchaser at Closing pursuant to paragraphs (b)(i) and (b)(ii) of Part B of Schedule 2);
- (g) the amount and relevant payee for items of Sellers' Disclosed Transaction Costs (which shall be paid by the Purchaser at Closing pursuant to paragraph (b)(viii) of Part B of Schedule 2); and

- (h) the Agreed Leakage Amount.
- 4.11. On the day falling five Business Days prior to Closing, a schedule (the *Revised Schedule*) in substantially the same form as the Allocation Table shall be delivered by or on behalf of the Sellers' Representatives to the Purchaser which reflects any changes made, between the date of this Deed and the date upon which the Revised Schedule is delivered to the Purchaser in accordance with this clause 4.11 (or which are to be made following such delivery on or prior to Closing):
- (a) as a result of the date of distribution being the Closing Date for receipt of "Distributable Proceeds" pursuant to the "Sale" for the purposes of determining the operation of Article 4 of the Articles (with Distributable Proceeds and Sale each having the meaning given to them in the Articles) and, in particular, to reflect the Additional Notes Debt and Additional Preference Share Price attributable to each Seller entitled thereto and the consequential reductions to be made to each Seller's portion of the Share Price that relates to its Ordinary Shares as a result thereof in accordance with Article 4 of the Articles;
- (b) to the number of Shares which are legally and beneficially held by the Trustee (in its capacity as trustee of the Priory Equity Plan Employee Trust);
- (c) to the number of Shares which are legally held by the Trustee (in its capacity as nominee for the Management Sellers);
- (d) to the number of Shares which are beneficially held by each Management Seller;
- (e) to reflect that the Sellers' Disclosed Transaction Costs shall be deducted from the proceeds otherwise being transferred to the Sellers in consideration for the sales and purchases (and if applicable, redemptions) pursuant to this Deed (meaning that, for the purposes of the Articles, the Sellers' Disclosed Transaction Costs shall be deducted from the "Distributable Proceeds" prior to its allocation in accordance with Article 4 of the Articles);
- (f) to reflect the applicable portion of each relevant Seller's Share Price and/or Outstanding Notes Debt, if any, that, in the case of sub-clauses (i) to (iii) (inclusive) below, is directed to be paid to a person other than that Seller pursuant to Part B of Schedule 2 or, in the case of sub-clause (iv), is reduced in accordance with clause 12.5, and comprises the relevant portion of:
 - (i) the aggregate of all Management Seller Loan Amounts;
 - (ii) the aggregate of all Tax Liabilities Amounts;
 - (iii) the aggregate of all Consideration Deduction Amounts; and
 - (iv) the Agreed Leakage Amount; and
- (g) to reflect the amount of each Institutional Seller's portion of the Share Price that corresponds to:
 - (i) the Cash Deduction and also sets out the number of shares of Acadia Common Stock Consideration to be issued in lieu thereof (if applicable); and

(ii) if applicable pursuant to clause 2.5, the Cash Consideration Increase Amount, the Acadia Common Stock Reduction Shares and the resulting Adjusted Acadia Placing Stock (and also sets out, if applicable pursuant to clause 2.6, the additional shares of Acadia Common Stock to be issued pursuant thereto),

and any consequential amendments to the allocation of the consideration payable to each Seller for the Shares and to repay the Outstanding Notes Debt, it being agreed that the allocation of the consideration under the Revised Schedule shall adjust the Share Price and the Outstanding Notes Debt and their respective allocations, but in no circumstances result in an increase to the aggregate of the Share Price and the Outstanding Notes Debt payable by the Purchaser (without prejudice to the operation of clauses 2.4 to 2.6). The Purchaser shall not be concerned with, and shall have no liability in respect of, the provisions of the Articles which shall govern the allocation of proceeds among the Sellers in accordance with the terms hereof and thereof.

- 4.12. For the avoidance of doubt and notwithstanding anything set forth in this clause 4, the parties understand and acknowledge that under the terms of this Deed, the Purchaser's and Purchaser Guarantor's obligations to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Deed are not in any way contingent upon or otherwise subject to the Purchaser's consummation of any financing arrangements (including pursuant to the Purchaser's Financing), the Purchaser's or the Purchaser Guarantor's obtaining of any financing (including the Purchaser's Financing) or the availability, grant, provision or extension of any financing to the Purchaser and/or the Purchaser Guarantor (including the Purchaser's Financing).
- 4.13. No later than 10 Business Days prior to the anticipated date of Closing, the Institutional Sellers' Representatives shall deliver to the Purchaser a draft of the Deed of Release and shall give reasonable consideration to any comments which the Purchaser may have on such draft.

5. Closing

- 5.1. Subject to clauses 2.6, 5.12 and 5.13(c), Closing shall take place at the London office of Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer LLP on the Closing Date (or at such other place and time as shall be mutually agreed between the Purchaser and the Institutional Sellers' Representative).
- 5.2. If the Purchaser elects to procure the redemption of the Preference Shares in accordance with clause 1.8, neither the Sellers nor the Purchaser shall be obliged to complete the sale or purchase of any of the Ordinary Shares or the redemption of any of the Preference Shares (together with all accrued or declared, but unpaid, dividends and distributions on such Preference Shares) unless all of the Ordinary Shares are sold and purchased, and all of the Preference Shares (together with all accrued or declared, but unpaid, dividends and distributions on such Preference Shares) are redeemed, simultaneously. If the Purchaser does not elect to procure the redemption of the Preference Shares in accordance with clause 1.8, neither the Sellers nor the Purchaser shall be obliged to complete the sale or purchase of any of the Shares unless all of the Shares are sold and purchased simultaneously.

- 5.3. At Closing, the Purchaser shall procure the repayment of the Outstanding Debt in accordance with Schedule 2 provided that the Sellers shall provide the Purchaser with such information and assistance as the Purchaser reasonably requires to comply with this clause 5.3.
- 5.4. At Closing, each of the Sellers waives any pre-emption or other rights over the Shares conferred on it or held by it by virtue of the Articles or the Investment Documents or otherwise.
- 5.5. At Closing, each of the parties shall deliver or perform (or ensure that there is delivered or performed) all those documents, items and actions respectively listed in relation to that party in Schedule 2 unless, in the case of any item, the Sellers' Representatives and the Purchaser agree in writing to waive such item.
- 5.6. The provisions of Schedule 4 shall apply conditional upon and with effect from Closing.
- 5.7. The Institutional Sellers' Representative and the Purchaser shall jointly engage with the CMA in the period from the date of this Deed to Closing and shall agree with the CMA (and to the extent required offer any necessary "hold separate" undertaking(s) to the CMA which are reasonably acceptable to the Purchaser and the Institutional Sellers' Representative pending Closing, offer any necessary "hold separate" undertakings to the CMA for the period following Closing, and agree to the imposition of an order in standard terms pursuant to section 72 of the Act) that pending Closing, the Sellers and the Purchaser, and following Closing the Purchaser, shall:
- (a) not take any action which might lead to the integration of each of the Target Companies and the Purchaser Group;
- (b) not otherwise impair the ability of the Business and the Purchaser Group to compete independently in the UK; and
- (c) take any other action to the extent it might reasonably be required in order to persuade the CMA not to make any order which would prohibit Closing,
 - provided such action(s) does not prohibit Closing.
- 5.8. Without prejudice to the generality of clause 5.7, the Purchaser shall, prior to Closing:
- (a) promptly notify the Institutional Sellers' Representative (and provide copies or, in the case of non-written communications, details) of any communications with the CMA relating to the Proposed Transaction, other than any non-material communications of an administrative nature;
- (b) where practicable, communicate with the CMA only after prior consultation with the Institutional Sellers' Representative and its advisers (and taking into account any reasonable comments and requests of the Institutional Sellers' Representative and its advisers as appropriate and practicable) and provide the Institutional Sellers' Representative and its advisers with copies of all such submissions, notifications, filings and other communications (save that business secrets and other confidential material to the Purchaser may be redacted and delivered on a confidential counsel to counsel basis);

- (c) (without limiting (b) above) provide the Institutional Sellers' Representative and its advisers with draft copies of all submissions, notifications, filings and other communications to the CMA (save that business secrets and other confidential material to the Purchaser may be redacted and delivered on a confidential counsel to counsel basis) at such time as will allow the Institutional Sellers' Representative and its advisers a reasonable opportunity to provide comments and for the Purchaser to take account of any reasonable comments of the Institutional Sellers' Representative and its advisers on such drafts prior to their submission; and
- (d) where permitted by the CMA, allow persons nominated by the Institutional Sellers' Representative to attend all meetings and participate in all material telephone or other conversations with the CMA and to make oral submissions at the meetings or in telephone or other conversations (provided that the Purchaser shall not be required to permit the Institutional Sellers' Representative or advisers to attend any part of such meetings during which business secrets and other confidential material to the Purchaser is likely to be disclosed).
- 5.9. The Sellers shall (and shall procure that the Target Companies and their respective advisers) use reasonable endeavours to co-operate with the Purchaser and promptly provide to it (or its advisers) all reasonable assistance (including the provision of information):
- (a) for the purpose set out in clause 5.7; and
- (b) as may be reasonably required for inclusion in any submission made or otherwise reasonably required in connection with any review by the CMA of the Proposed Transaction.
- 5.10. Without prejudice to clause 5.8 and subject to clause 5.11, if the CMA makes or imposes any order, undertaking or obligation under section 72 of the Act that restricts or prohibits Closing, the Purchaser shall following the entry into force of the order, undertaking or obligation take reasonably necessary steps to obtain clearance from the CMA in respect of the Proposed Transaction, including:
- (a) continuing to seek to negotiate any "hold separate" undertakings and derogations from, or amendments to, such order, undertaking or obligation made or imposed under section 72 of the Act as would be acceptable to the CMA and would permit Closing to occur; and/or
- (b) making, or agreeing to make, divestments from parts of the Business and/or the Purchaser Group's businesses as existing prior to Closing.
- 5.11. The Purchaser shall consult (as and when necessary and practicable) with the Institutional Sellers' Representative and its advisers on the substance of the proposed remedy offered to the CMA (and take into account any reasonable comments and requests of the Institutional Sellers' Representative and its advisers as appropriate).
- 5.12. If the CMA makes or imposes any order, undertaking or obligation under section 72 of the Act that restricts or prohibits Closing, each of the Institutional Sellers'

Representative and the Purchaser shall cooperate with one another and their respective advisers in good faith prior to Closing to reverse the making of such order by the CMA which would prohibit Closing, including defending through litigation and appeals against the imposition of any such order. If any such order, undertaking or obligation under section 72 of the Act remains in place one Business Day before the Closing Date, each of the Institutional Sellers' Representative and the Purchaser shall have the ability to terminate this Deed (other than the Surviving Provisions and without prejudice to any rights and liabilities which have accrued before termination) by notice in writing to the other party, provided that the right to terminate this Deed under this clause 5.12 shall not be available to any party that is then in material breach of its obligations under clauses 4.3 to 4.6 (inclusive) or clauses 5.7 to 5.12 (inclusive) of this Deed (and for this purpose the Purchaser shall be treated as in such material breach if it or the Purchaser Guarantor is in such material breach).

- 5.13. If the Purchaser, the Purchaser Guarantor or any Seller (the *Defaulting Party*) fails to comply with any material obligation in Schedule 2 (being those set out in paragraphs 1(a), 1(b)(ii), 1(b)(vi) and 1(c) of Part A of Schedule 2 in respect of the Sellers, and those set out in Part B of Schedule 2 in respect of the Purchaser and the Purchaser Guarantor) on the Closing Date, then the Institutional Sellers' Representative (in the event the Defaulting Party is the Purchaser or the Purchaser Guarantor) or the Purchaser (in the event the Defaulting Party is a Seller) may, in addition to and without prejudice to all its other rights and remedies (including those set forth in clause 26 and without prejudice to any rights and liabilities which have accrued before termination):
- (a) defer Closing to the date falling not more than five Business Days after the date Closing would otherwise have occurred (so that the provisions of this clause 5 shall apply to Closing as so deferred);
- (b) proceed to Closing (without limiting its rights under this Deed); or
- subject to Closing having been deferred at least once under clause 5.13(a) by such party, terminate this Deed (subject to clause 5.14 and other than the Surviving Provisions) by notice in writing to the other parties to this Deed,
 - it being understood that the right to terminate this Deed under this clause 5.13 shall not be available to any party who is then in breach of any of its material obligations in Schedule 2 (being those set out in paragraphs 1(a), 1(b)(ii), 1(b)(iii), 1(b)(v) and 1(c) of Part A of Schedule 2 in respect of the Sellers, and those set out in Part B of Schedule 2 in respect of the Purchaser and the Purchaser Guarantor) (and for this purpose the Purchaser shall be treated as in such breach if it or the Purchaser Group is in such breach, and vice versa).
- 5.14. If this Deed terminates in accordance with clauses 2.6, 5.12 or 5.13(c), then the rights and obligations of the parties shall automatically terminate without liability to the parties, and the parties shall have no rights and liabilities under this Deed save for any rights and liabilities which have accrued before termination or under any of the Surviving Provisions.

6. Sellers' Warranties

- 6.1. Each of the Institutional Sellers jointly and severally warrants to the Purchaser that as at the date of this Deed:
- (a) each Institutional Seller is the sole legal and beneficial owner and is entitled to sell and transfer the full legal and beneficial ownership of the Shares set out opposite its name in Part A of the Allocation Table, free from all Third Party Rights, and otherwise on the terms set out in this Deed;
- (b) the details shown in the Allocation Table relating to the Shares held by the Institutional Sellers are true, accurate and complete in all respects;
- (c) the Shares constitute the entire issued share capital of the Company and are each fully paid up, and the Notes constitute the entire issued loan capital of the Company;
- (d) this Deed and each of the documents which are to be entered into by each Institutional Seller pursuant to or otherwise in connection with this Deed will constitute valid and binding obligations of each Institutional Seller in accordance with their respective terms;
- (e) each Institutional Seller is validly incorporated, in existence and duly registered under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation and has full power to conduct its business as conducted at the date of this Deed;
- (f) each Institutional Seller has obtained all corporate authorisations and all other governmental, statutory, regulatory or other consents, licences and authorisations required to empower it to enter into and perform its obligations under this Deed;
- (g) entry into and performance by each Institutional Seller of this Deed and/or any documents which are to be entered into by each Institutional Seller pursuant to or otherwise in connection with this Deed will not:
 - (i) breach any provision of its memorandum and articles of association, by-laws or equivalent constitutional documents; or
 - (ii) result in a breach of any laws or regulations in its jurisdiction of incorporation or of any order, decree or judgment of any court or any governmental or regulatory authority;
- (h) no Institutional Seller: (i) is insolvent or bankrupt under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation; (ii) is unable to pay its debts as they fall due; and (iii) has proposed or is liable to any arrangement (whether by court process or otherwise) under which its creditors (or any group of them) would receive less than the amounts due to them;
- (i) there are no proceedings in relation to any compromise or arrangement with creditors or any winding up, bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings concerning any Institutional Seller;
- no steps have been taken to enforce any security over any assets of an Institutional Seller and no event has occurred to give the right to enforce such security;

- (k) each Institutional Seller is an accredited investor as defined under the Securities Act; and
- (l) no Institutional Seller has offered or sold any shares of Acadia Common Stock within the United States except in accordance with Regulation S, and it has not engaged in any hedging transactions involving Acadia Common Stock unless in compliance with the Securities Act.
- 6.2. The Trustee warrants to the Purchaser that as at the date of this Deed:
- (a) it is the sole legal and beneficial owner and is entitled to sell and transfer the full legal and beneficial ownership of the Shares set out opposite its name in Part B of the Allocation Table, free from all Third Party Rights, and otherwise on the terms set out in this Deed;
- (b) it is the sole legal owner and is entitled to sell and transfer the full legal ownership of the Shares set out opposite each Management Seller's name in Part C of the Allocation Table, free from all Third Party Rights, and otherwise on the terms set out in this Deed; and
- (c) this Deed and each of the documents which are to be entered into by it pursuant to or otherwise in connection with this Deed will constitute valid and binding obligations of it in accordance with their respective terms.
- 6.3. Each of the Original Management Sellers severally warrants, in respect of itself only, to the Purchaser that as at the date of this Deed:
- (a) it is the sole beneficial owner and is entitled to sell and transfer the full beneficial ownership of the Shares set out opposite its name in Part C of the Allocation Table, free from all Third Party Rights and otherwise on the terms set out in this Deed;
- (b) this Deed and each of the documents which are to be entered into by it pursuant to or otherwise in connection with this Deed (including the Management Warranty Deed, where relevant) will constitute valid and binding obligations of it in accordance with their respective terms;
- (c) it has appointed (or procured the appointment of) the Trustee to hold the legal title to the Shares in respect of which it is the beneficial owner as its nominee and has directed the Trustee to sell and transfer the legal title to such Shares to the Purchaser pursuant to this Deed;
- (d) it is not insolvent or bankrupt under laws applicable to it, unable to pay its debts as they fall due and has not proposed or is not liable to any arrangement (whether by court process or otherwise) under which its creditors (or any group of them) would receive less than the amounts due to them:
- (e) there are no proceedings in relation to any compromise or arrangement with creditors or any winding up, bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings concerning it and no events have occurred which would justify such proceedings; and
- (f) no steps have been taken to enforce any security over any of its assets and no event has occurred to give the right to enforce such security.

- 6.4. The Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that, except as provided under the Sellers' Warranties or the Management Warranty Deed, no other statement, promise or forecast made by or on behalf of any Seller or its Affiliates or any Target Company in relation to the Business or any Target Company may form the basis of any Claim by the Purchaser or any other member of the Purchaser Group. In particular, no Seller makes any representation or warranty as to the accuracy of any forecasts, estimates, projections, statements of intent or opinion provided to the Purchaser, any member of the Purchaser Group or to its or their advisors prior to the date of this Deed (including any documents contained in the Data Room).
- 6.5. The Sellers' Warranties set out in clauses 6.1 to 6.3 (inclusive) shall be deemed to be repeated immediately before Closing by reference to the facts and circumstances then existing as if references in those Sellers' Warranties to:
- (a) the date of this Deed were references to the Closing Date;
- (b) the Allocation Table, if appropriate, was to the Revised Schedule; and
- (c) the Original Management Sellers were references to the Management Sellers.
- 6.6. For the avoidance of doubt, the warranties in clauses 6.2 and 6.3 are given by each relevant Seller severally and only in relation to itself.
- 6.7. The liability of each of the relevant Sellers under:
- (a) the Sellers' Warranties in clauses 6.1(a), 6.1(c), 6.1(d), 6.1(e), 6.2(a), 6.2(b) and 6.3(a) (and under clauses 1.2 to 1.4 (inclusive)) shall terminate on the date falling six years after Closing; and
- (b) under all other Sellers' Warranties shall terminate on the date falling three years after Closing.
- 6.8. Nothing in this clause 6 shall have the effect of limiting or reducing any liability of a Seller in respect of a Claim arising as a result of fraud or deliberate concealment by such Seller.
- 6.9. The rights and remedies of the Purchaser in respect of any breach of the Sellers' Warranties shall not be affected by Closing.
- 6.10. Each of the Sellers' Warranties are separate and independent and unless otherwise expressly provided shall not be limited by reference to any other Sellers' Warranty or anything in this Deed.

7. Purchaser Warranties and Purchaser Guarantor Warranties

- 7.1. Each of the Purchaser and the Purchaser Guarantor warrants severally, in respect of itself only, to each of the Sellers that as at the date of this Deed:
- (a) this Deed and each of the documents which are to be entered into by it pursuant to or otherwise in connection with this Deed will constitute valid and binding obligations of it in accordance with their respective terms;

- (b) it is validly incorporated, in existence and duly registered under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation and has full power to conduct its business as conducted at the date of this Deed;
- (c) it has obtained all corporate authorisations and all other governmental, statutory, regulatory or other consents, licences and authorisations required to empower it to enter into and perform its obligations under this Deed;
- (d) entry into and performance by each member of the Purchaser Group of this Deed and/or any documents which are to be entered into by it pursuant to or otherwise in connection with this Deed will not:
 - (i) breach any provision of its memorandum and articles of association, by-laws or equivalent constitutional documents; or
 - (ii) result in a breach of any laws or regulations in its jurisdiction of incorporation or of any order, decree or judgment of any court or any governmental or regulatory authority;
- (e) it: (i) is not insolvent or bankrupt under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation; (ii) is not unable to pay its debts as they fall due; and (iii) has not proposed or is not liable to any arrangement (whether by court process or otherwise) under which its creditors (or any group of them) would receive less than the amounts due to them;
- (f) there are no proceedings in relation to any compromise or arrangement with creditors or any winding up, bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings concerning it and no events have occurred which would justify such proceedings;
- the execution and delivery of this Deed by each of the Purchaser Guarantor and the Purchaser do not, and the performance by each of the Purchaser Guarantor and the Purchaser of this Deed and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Deed will not, conflict with, violate, cause a default under, require the repayment of financial indebtedness outstanding under or an offer to purchase under, or require the Purchaser Guarantor or the Purchaser to obtain any consent, approval, waiver, authorisation or notification under any agreement or instrument pursuant to which the Purchaser Guarantor or any of its Affiliates has outstanding financial indebtedness or has guaranteed any financial indebtedness or under which any of them has obtained commitments to obtain financing;
- (h) no default or event of default exists under the Purchaser Debt Agreements as of the date of this Deed and the representations and warranties of each Loan Party (as defined in the Purchaser Credit Agreement) contained in the Purchaser Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document (as defined in the Purchaser Credit Agreement as in effect on the date hereof), or which are contained in any document furnished at any time under or in connection with the Purchaser Credit Agreement or such Loan Documents or related documentation, shall be true and correct in all material respects on the date of this Deed, except to the extent that such representations and warranties specifically refer to an earlier date, in which case they shall be true and correct in all material respects as of such earlier date;

- (i) no steps have been taken to enforce any security over any of its assets and no event has occurred to give the right to enforce such security;
- (j) the Purchaser has delivered to the Sellers' Representative a true and complete copy of the executed Debt Commitment Agreement. The Debt Commitment Agreement has not been amended or modified in any manner prior to the date of this Deed. Neither the Purchaser nor any of its Affiliates has entered into any agreement, side letter or other arrangement (other than customary engagement letters and fee letters, none of which contain conditions or other provisions relating to the availability of the Financing) relating to the Purchaser's Debt Financing, other than as set forth in the Debt Commitment Agreement. The aggregate proceeds of the Purchaser's Financing (both before and after giving effect to the exercise of any or all "market flex" provisions related to the Purchaser's Debt Financing), when funded, will at Closing provide in immediately available funds the necessary cash resources (together with the Equity Proceeds) to pay the aggregate Share Price and meet its other obligations under this Deed (including those set out in clause 5.3) subject to any conditions set out in the Debt Commitment Agreement. As of the date of this Deed, the commitments contained in the Debt Commitment Agreement have not been withdrawn or rescinded in any respect. The Debt Commitment Agreement is in full force and effect and represents a valid, binding and enforceable obligation of the Purchaser and, to the Purchaser's knowledge, each other party thereto, to provide the Purchaser's Debt Financing in the amount and on the terms contemplated thereby subject only to the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions contained therein. The Purchaser has fully paid (or caused to be paid) any and all commitment fees and other amounts that are due and payable on or prior to the date of this Deed in connection with the Purchaser's Debt Financing. As of the date of this Deed, no event has occurred which, with or without notice, lapse of time or both, would constitute a breach or default on the part of the Purchaser or, to the Purchaser's knowledge, any other party thereto under the Debt Commitment Agreement. There are no conditions precedent or other contingencies related to the funding of the full amount of the Purchaser's Debt Financing, other than as set forth in the Debt Commitment Agreement. As of the date of this Deed, to the knowledge of the Purchaser, the Purchaser has no reason to believe that: (i) any of the conditions to the availability of the Purchaser's Debt Financing will not be satisfied; or (ii) the Purchaser's Debt Financing will not be made available to the Purchaser on the Closing Date; and
- (k) it is not aware of any facts or circumstances which, to the knowledge of the Purchaser Guarantor, would result in a Claim being capable of being made against any Seller or any of its Affiliates (other than in relation to Leakage) or constitute any misrepresentation by or on behalf of any Seller or any of its Affiliates in connection with the Proposed Transaction.
- 7.2. The Purchaser Guarantor warrants to each of the Sellers in the terms of the warranties set out in Schedule 6 as at the date of this Deed.
- 7.3. The Purchaser Warranties set out in clause 7.1 and the Purchaser Guarantor Warranties set out in clause 7.1 and Schedule 6 shall be deemed to be repeated immediately before Closing (save for such warranties set out in paragraph 1 of Schedule 6 that are made as of an earlier date, which shall be repeated as of such earlier date) by reference to the facts and circumstances then existing as if references in those Purchaser Warranties and the Purchaser Guarantor Warranties to the date of this Deed were references to the Closing Date or such earlier date (as applicable).

8. Purchaser Guarantor undertakings

From the date of this Deed until Closing, the Purchaser Guarantor undertakes to comply with the obligations set out in Schedule 7.

9. No rights of rescission or termination

Subject to the rights of termination expressly provided for in clauses 2.6, 5.12 or 5.13(c), no party shall be entitled to rescind or terminate this Deed in any circumstances whatsoever (whether before or after Closing). This shall not exclude any liability for (or remedy in respect of) fraud or fraudulent misrepresentation.

10. Sellers' Representatives

- 10.1. Each Institutional Seller hereby irrevocably appoints Simon Powell to act as the sole representative of the Institutional Sellers (the *Institutional Sellers' Representative*), and each Management Seller hereby irrevocably appoints each of Tom Riall and David Hall to act as the sole representative of the Management Sellers (the *Management Sellers' Representative*), in each case on an individual and not on a joint basis, to act on the relevant Sellers' behalf for all purposes under this Deed and the Transaction Documents including for the purposes of:
- (a) delivering payment instructions to the Purchaser in connection with the payment of the Share Price;
- (b) accepting notices on behalf of such Seller in accordance with clause 21;
- (c) taking any and all actions that may be necessary or desirable, as determined by the relevant Sellers' Representative in its sole discretion, in connection with the payment of the costs and expenses incurred with respect to the Proposed Transaction;
- (d) granting any consent or approval on behalf of such Seller under this Deed; and
- (e) generally taking any and all other actions and doing any and all other things provided in or contemplated by this Deed to be performed by such Seller or the relevant Sellers' Representative on behalf of such Seller.
- 10.2. Each Institutional Seller hereby:
- (a) irrevocably (by way of security for the performance of its obligations under this Deed) appoints the Institutional Sellers' Representative as its attorney with full authority on its behalf and in its name or otherwise to do all acts and to execute and deliver such documents or deeds as are required by law or as may, in the reasonable opinion of the Institutional Sellers' Representative, be required to give effect to the matters described in clause 10.1; and
- (b) severally (but not jointly or jointly and severally) undertakes to indemnify the Institutional Sellers' Representative against such Seller's pro rata share (calculated by reference to the proportion that such Seller's share of the Share Price bears to the

aggregate of the Institutional Sellers' share of the Share Price) of all costs, claims and expenses and liabilities incurred by the Institutional Sellers' Representative as a result of the proper exercise or purported exercise of any power conferred on the Institutional Sellers' Representative by this Deed.

- 10.3. Each Management Seller hereby:
- (a) irrevocably (by way of security for the performance of its obligations under this Deed) appoints the Management Sellers' Representative as its attorney with full authority on its behalf and in its name or otherwise to do all acts and to execute and deliver such documents or deeds as are required by law or as may, in the reasonable opinion of the Management Sellers' Representative, be required to give effect to the matters described in clause 10.1; and
- (b) severally (but not jointly or jointly and severally) undertakes to indemnify the Management Sellers' Representative against such Seller's pro rata share (calculated by reference to the proportion that such Seller's share of the Share Price bears to the aggregate of the Management Sellers' share of the Share Price) of all costs, claims and expenses and liabilities incurred by the Management Sellers' Representative as a result of the proper exercise or purported exercise of any power conferred on the Management Sellers' Representative by this Deed.
- 10.4. The Purchaser and each Seller acknowledge that in exercising the powers and authorities conferred by this clause 10 upon the relevant Sellers' Representative, the relevant Sellers' Representative shall not be acting, or be construed as acting, as the agent or trustee on behalf of any Seller and each Seller agrees that the relevant Sellers' Representative shall have no liability whatsoever to the Purchaser or any Seller in relation to the exercise of those powers and authorities, save in the case of fraud or fraudulent misrepresentation.
- 10.5. Notwithstanding clause 10.4, the Purchaser shall be entitled to conclusively and absolutely rely without further enquiry on the exercise of the powers and authorities conferred on the Sellers' Representatives as if the relevant Seller is exercising such powers and authorities.

11. Post-Closing undertakings

- 11.1. The Purchaser acknowledges that the Sellers' Representatives and/or the Sellers may need access, from time to time, after Closing to certain accounting and tax records and information held by the Target Companies to the extent such records and information pertain to events occurring prior to Closing and agrees that the Purchaser shall, and shall cause the Target Companies to:
- (a) retain and maintain such records (in the form such records are held at Closing or in substantially similar form) until the earlier of the date that is seven years after Closing and such time as each Sellers' Representative agrees that such retention and maintenance is no longer necessary;
- (b) allow each Sellers' Representative and the Sellers and, where applicable, their respective officers, employees, agents, auditors, professional advisers and representatives, to inspect, review and make copies of such records as such Sellers'

- Representative or a Seller may reasonably deem necessary or appropriate from time to time, during Working Hours and by providing no less than three Business Days' notice to the Purchaser, and at the expense of such Sellers' Representative or Seller (as applicable);
- (c) without prejudice to clause 11.1(b), provide reasonable assistance to the Sellers to meet such Sellers' tax compliance, filing and/or reporting obligations with respect to the Target Companies by providing information relating to the financial activities of the Target Companies, including financial statements of the Target Companies for the financial year in which Closing takes place, as soon as reasonably practicable; and
- (d) provide such other assistance and information as may reasonably be requested by any Sellers' Representative and/or any Seller in order to comply with any tax compliance, filing and/or reporting obligations.
- 11.2. Each Seller undertakes in respect of itself only (in the event that a claim is made against it in connection with the Proposed Transaction) not to make a claim against any Target Company or any person who was at any time prior to Closing an employee, consultant, officer or director of any Target Company (a *Covered Person*) on whom that Seller may have relied in negotiating this Deed, except in the case of fraud or deliberate concealment by such Target Company or Covered Person.
- 11.3. For a period of six years from Closing, save to the extent such provisions are inconsistent with applicable law or regulation, the Purchaser shall ensure that any indemnity and/or immunity provisions contained in the memorandum and articles of association (or similar constitutional documents) of each Target Company of which a Covered Person was an employee, officer or director immediately prior to Closing are not amended, repealed or modified in any manner that would affect adversely the rights of any Covered Person.
- 11.4. For six years from Closing, the Purchaser shall ensure that each Target Company maintains in force such "run-off" directors' and officers' liability insurance policies as will enable each Covered Person to make claims arising out of any matter, cause or event occurring on or before Closing (a **Pre-Closing Event**) under those policies on terms and conditions that are, in every material respect, no less advantageous to the Covered Person than the directors' and officers' liability insurance policies maintained by the Target Companies as at the date of this Deed.
- 11.5. Save pursuant to a claim under the Management Warranty Deed, the Purchaser shall (and shall ensure that each Target Company shall), from and after Closing and to the fullest extent permitted in accordance with applicable laws, waive, release and discharge each Covered Person from any and all claims, demands, proceedings, causes of action, orders, obligations and liabilities arising out of any Pre-Closing Event which each Target Company has or may at any time have had against any Covered Person, except in cases of fraud, fraudulent misrepresentation or deliberate concealment. The Purchaser shall ensure that each Target Company shall not, directly or indirectly, assert any claim or demand, or commence, institute or cause to be commenced, any proceedings of any kind relating to any Pre-Closing Event against any Covered Person.

- 11.6. The provisions of clauses 11.2 to 11.5 (inclusive) are in addition to, and not in substitution for, any other rights to indemnification or contribution that any Covered Person may have at law, by contract or otherwise.
- 11.7. For a period of three years after the Closing Date, each of the Institutional Sellers undertakes that it shall not, and shall not direct or cause its Affiliates (nor provide any discretionary consent, encourage or provide assistance to its Affiliates) to:
- (a) do business under the name "Priory", "Craegmoor" or "Amore" in the United Kingdom and within the behavioural healthcare sector;
- (b) use the "Priory" name, "Craegmoor" name, or "Amore" name for business purposes in the United Kingdom and within the behavioural healthcare sector; or
- (c) hold itself out to be part of or to be acting in any way on behalf of any Target Company,

in each case save as may be required by law or regulation (including any reporting or filing requirements in relation to the continued operation and/or liquidation of any such person) or in connection with any contracts or arrangements that any such person or any of their Affiliates may at any time after Closing enter into with any of the Target Companies or their Affiliates.

- 11.8. Each of the Institutional Sellers undertakes to the Purchaser that:
- (a) it shall not and shall procure that its Relevant Affiliates shall not;
- (b) it shall not direct or cause its Affiliates, nor provide any discretionary consent, or encourage or provide assistance to its Affiliates to;
- (c) it shall procure that a Fund VI Affiliate shall direct each "portfolio company" of any Fund VI Affiliate carrying on business in the healthcare sector not to,
 - for a period of two years after the Closing Date, directly or indirectly, solicit, endeavour to entice away, employ or offer to employ any Executive Management Team Member.
- 11.9. The parties consider that the restrictions contained in clauses 11.7 and 11.8 are no greater than is reasonable and necessary for the protection of the Purchaser's legitimate interests. If any such restriction shall be held to be void but would be valid if deleted in part or reduced in application, then such restrictions shall apply with such deletion or modification as may be necessary to make it valid and enforceable.
- 11.10. The Sellers' Representatives shall promptly provide the Purchaser with copies of all conditional redemption notices, escrow agreements, or similar documents executed by the Sellers and the Target Companies on or prior to Closing with respect to the defeasance, discharge and/or redemption of the Senior Secured Bonds and the Senior Unsecured Bonds.
- 11.11. Each Institutional Seller hereby represents, warrants, and certifies that: (a) it is an accredited investor under Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Act; (b) it is qualified to invest in shares of Acadia Common Stock because it has, either alone or with its purchaser representative or representatives, if any, such knowledge and

experience in financial and business matters that it is capable of evaluating the merits and risks of such investment; (c) its investment in shares of Acadia Common Stock is solely for its own account and not with a view to resale or distribution in violation of applicable securities laws; (d) it has no present agreement, understanding or arrangement to subdivide, sell, assign, hypothecate or transfer any part or all of its interest in the shares of Acadia Common Stock in violation of applicable securities laws; (e) it can bear the economic risk of losing its investment in the shares of Acadia Common Stock; (f) the shares of Acadia Common Stock were not offered to it through any advertisement or general solicitation; (g) it has been given the opportunity to ask questions and obtain material and relevant information from the Purchaser Guarantor and Purchaser enabling it to make an informed investment decision; and (h) all data that it has requested has been furnished to it.

- 11.12. Each Institutional Seller understands that the shares of Acadia Common Stock to be issued to it will be characterised as "restricted securities" under the federal securities laws of the United States, inasmuch as they are being acquired from the Purchaser Guarantor in a transaction not involving a public offering, and that under such laws and applicable regulations such shares may not be resold without registration under the Securities Act or an applicable exemption from registration (including without limitation Rule 144 and Regulation S). In this connection, each Institutional Seller represents that it is familiar with the registration requirements of the Securities Act, as presently in effect, and understands the resale limitations imposed thereby and by the Securities Act.
- 11.13. Each Institutional Seller understands that the certificates representing the shares of Acadia Common Stock to be issued to it will bear appropriate legends restricting the transferability thereof under the U.S. federal securities laws. The Purchaser Guarantor agrees that, six months following the Closing Date unless an Institutional Seller informs the Purchaser Guarantor that it is at that time an "affiliate" of the Purchaser Guarantor, subject to receipt by the Purchaser Guarantor of customary and appropriate representations and certificates, all restrictive legends will be removed from the shares of Acadia Common Stock being issued to such Institutional Seller.

12. No Leakage undertaking

- 12.1. Each of the Institutional Sellers jointly and severally covenants and undertakes to the Purchaser that if, on or prior to Closing:
- (a) there has been Leakage since the Locked Box Date; or
- (b) any arrangement or agreement has been made that has resulted in any Leakage since the Locked Box Date,

then, subject to clauses 12.3 and 12.4, the Institutional Sellers shall jointly and severally, following Closing, pay or procure payment in cash to the Purchaser on demand a sum equal to the amount of such Leakage received by, or for the benefit of, any Institutional Seller or any of its Affiliates (as the case may be) on a pound for pound basis.

- 12.2. Save for the Institutional Sellers, each of the other Sellers severally (but not jointly or jointly and severally) covenants and undertakes, in respect of itself only, to the Purchaser that if, on or prior to Closing:
- (a) there has been Leakage since the Locked Box Date; or
- (b) any arrangement or agreement has been made that has resulted in any Leakage since the Locked Box Date,
 - then, such Seller shall severally (but not jointly and severally), subject to clauses 12.3 to 12.4, following Closing, pay or procure payment in cash to the Purchaser on demand a sum equal to the amount of such Leakage received by, or for the benefit of, that Seller or any of its Affiliates (as the case may be) on a pound for pound basis.
- 12.3. Any payment due under clause 12.1 or clause 12.2 shall be reduced to take account of the net financial benefit of any Relief available to the Purchaser, a member of the Purchaser Group or a Target Company in the financial years ending 31 December 2016 or 2017 in respect of the matter giving rise to the payment.
- 12.4. The liability of each of the Sellers pursuant to this clause 12 shall terminate on the date falling six months after Closing unless prior to that date the Purchaser has notified the relevant Seller of a breach by it of the undertaking set out in clause 12.1 or clause 12.2 (as the case may be) in which case, in relation to any relevant breaches notified, that Seller shall remain liable until any relevant Claims have been satisfied, settled or withdrawn and any payment in respect of any such satisfaction or settlement has been made to the Purchaser.
- 12.5. If the Purchaser is notified of any Leakage prior to Closing and a Seller alleged to be in breach of clause 12.1 or 12.2 (as the case may be) (each a *Relevant Seller*) agrees that such Leakage has occurred and the amount of such Leakage as reduced to take into account any Relief available to the Purchaser or a Target Company in respect of the matter giving rise to the payment (the *Agreed Leakage Amount*) then the share of the Share Price that would have been payable to such Relevant Seller shall so far as possible be reduced by an amount equal to such Agreed Leakage Amount, which shall discharge the Relevant Seller's obligation to make payment of such Agreed Leakage Amount pursuant to clause 12.1 or 12.2 (as the case may be) to the extent of the reduction.

13. Payments

- 13.1. Any payment to be made pursuant to this Deed by the Purchaser (or any member of the Purchaser Group) to:
- (a) any Institutional Seller shall be made to the Institutional Sellers' Account or the US dollar account specified for the purposes of paragraph (b)(v) of Part B of Schedule 2;
- (b) any Management Seller shall be made to the Management Sellers' Account;
- (c) the Trustee shall be made to the Trustee's Account; and
- (d) the Company shall be made to the Company's Account.

- 13.2. Any payment to be made pursuant to this Deed by the Sellers (or any of them) shall be made to the Purchaser's Bank Account.
- 13.3. Payments under clauses 13.1 and 13.2 shall be in immediately available funds by electronic transfer on the due date for payment. Receipt of the amount due shall be an effective discharge of the relevant payment obligation.
- 13.4. If any sum due for payment in accordance with this Deed is not paid on the due date for payment, the person in default shall pay Default Interest on that sum from but excluding the due date to and including the date of actual payment calculated on a daily basis.

14. Purchaser Guarantor

- 14.1. In consideration of the Sellers entering into this Deed, the Purchaser Guarantor unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees to each Seller and to each of its Affiliates as a continuing obligation that the Purchaser will comply properly with its obligations under this Deed and each Transaction Document to which it is a party (including any liability to pay damages, agreed or otherwise under this Deed or any Transaction Document) (the *Purchaser Guaranteed Obligations*).
- 14.2. The Purchaser Guarantor's liability under clause 14.1 shall not be discharged or impaired by:
- (a) any amendment, variation or assignment of this Deed or any Transaction Document or any waiver of its or their terms;
- (b) any release of, or granting of time or other indulgence to, the Purchaser or any third party;
- (c) any winding up, dissolution, reconstruction, legal limitation, incapacity or lack of corporate power or authority or other circumstances affecting the Purchaser (or any act taken by the Seller in relation to any such event); or
- (d) any other act, event, neglect or omission (whether or not known to the Purchaser, the relevant Seller or the Purchaser Guarantor) which would or might (but for this clause) operate to impair or discharge the Purchaser Guarantor's liability or afford the Purchaser Guarantor or the Purchaser any legal or equitable defence.
- 14.3. Each Seller may make any number of demands of the Purchaser Guarantor and the Purchaser Guarantor's obligations under this clause 14 shall be in addition to any rights that each Seller may have under any other agreement or security in relation to this Deed or the Purchaser Guaranteed Obligations. Each Seller may enforce its rights against the Purchaser Guarantor without first having recourse to any other such agreement or security or exercising any rights or remedies against the Purchaser.
- 14.4. Without prejudice to the rights of each Seller against the Purchaser, the Purchaser Guarantor shall be a primary obligor and shall be deemed a principal debtor in respect of its obligations under this Deed and not a surety.
- 14.5. Until all of the Purchaser Guaranteed Obligations have been unconditionally and irrevocably discharged, the Purchaser Guarantor agrees that:

- (a) it will not make demand for the payment of any sum from the Purchaser connected with or in relation to the sum demanded by any Seller or claim any set-off or counterclaim against the Purchaser;
- (b) if the Purchaser is bankrupt, insolvent or in liquidation, the Purchaser Guarantor will not prove in any such bankruptcy, insolvency or liquidation in competition with any Seller; and
- (c) any security taken by the Purchaser Guarantor from the Purchaser in consideration of this guarantee and any money received by the Purchaser Guarantor by proving in the bankruptcy, insolvency or liquidation of the Purchaser shall be held in trust absolutely for the Sellers in respect of the obligations of the Purchaser Guarantor under this clause 14.
- 14.6. The Purchaser Guarantor agrees that:
- (a) if any payment received by any Seller from the Purchaser in relation to the Purchaser Guaranteed Obligations is avoided or set aside on the subsequent bankruptcy, insolvency or liquidation of the Purchaser, any amount received by that Seller and subsequently repaid shall not discharge or diminish the liability of the Purchaser Guarantor for the Purchaser Guaranteed Obligations and this clause 14 shall apply as if such payment had at all times remained owing by the Purchaser; and
- (b) after a demand has been made by a Seller under this clause 14 and until the amount demanded has been paid in full, that Seller may take such action as it thinks fit against the Purchaser to recover all sums due and payable to it under this Deed, without affecting the obligations of the Purchaser Guarantor under this clause 14.
- 14.7. In consideration of each Seller entering into this Deed as a separate, additional continuing and primary obligation, and without prejudice to clause 14.1, the Purchaser Guarantor undertakes to indemnify each Seller and each of its Affiliates against any direct Costs reasonably incurred by any of them as a result of the Purchaser's failure to comply properly with its obligations under this Deed or any Transaction Document.
- 14.8. The liability of the Purchaser Guarantor shall not be greater than that of the Purchaser as a result of any failure by the Purchaser to comply with its obligations under this Deed and each Transaction Document, provided that this clause 14.8 shall not apply to any additional liability relating to tax that arises as a result of any payment being made by the Purchaser Guarantor.

15. Announcements

15.1. No party (nor any of its respective Affiliates) to this Deed shall make any announcement or issue any circular in connection with the existence or subject matter of this Deed (or any other Transaction Document) without the prior written approval of the Institutional Sellers' Representative and the Purchaser (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) except that each Institutional Seller shall be entitled to refer to the existence and/or subject matter of this Deed (or any other Transaction Document):

- (a) when providing information or advice to any direct or indirect investors or prospective investors in funds managed and advised by Affiliates of that Seller, together with their directors, officers, advisors or agents; and
- (b) in marketing literature issued or circulated by or on behalf of that Seller or its Affiliates.
- 15.2. The restriction in clause 15.1 shall not apply:
- (a) to the press announcement issued by the Sellers and the Purchaser on or around the date of this Deed in substantially the Agreed Form (subject to such amendments as may be agreed by the Institutional Sellers' Representative and the Purchaser prior to its issue);
- (b) subject to clause 16, to any communications made by or on behalf of any Target Company to any client of such Target Company; and
- (c) to the extent that the announcement or circular is required by law, by any stock exchange or any regulatory or other supervisory body or authority of competent jurisdiction, whether or not the requirement has the force of law.
- 15.3. If the exception set out in 15.2(c) applies, the party making the announcement or issuing the circular shall use its reasonable efforts (to the extent permitted by law) to consult with (in the case of the Sellers) the Purchaser or (in the case of the Purchaser or Purchaser Guarantor) the Institutional Sellers' Representative in advance as to its form, content and timing.

16. Confidentiality

16.1. For the purposes of this clause 16:

(a) **Confidential Information** means:

- (i) (in relation to the obligations of the Purchaser and the Purchaser Guarantor) any information received directly or indirectly or held by the Purchaser (or any of its Representatives) relating to any Seller and/or any of its Affiliates from time to time and, prior to Closing, any of the Target Companies or the Business; or
- (ii) (in relation to the obligations of the Sellers) any information received directly or indirectly or held by or on behalf of the Sellers (or any of their Representatives) relating to the Purchaser Group and, following Closing, any of the Target Companies or the Business; and
- (iii) the contents and existence of information detailed in and relating to, the provisions of, and negotiations leading to, this Deed and the other Transaction Documents,

and includes written information and information transferred or obtained orally, visually, electronically or by any other means; and

- (b) **Representatives** means, in relation to a party, its respective Affiliates and the directors, officers, employees, agents, advisers, accountants, auditors and consultants of that party and/or of its respective Affiliates.
- 16.2. Each of the Sellers and the Purchaser shall (and shall ensure that each of its Representatives shall) maintain Confidential Information in confidence and not disclose Confidential Information to any person except:
- (a) as this clause 16 permits; or
- (b) with the prior written approval of (in the case of the Purchaser or Purchaser Guarantor disclosing) the Institutional Sellers' Representative and (in the case of a Seller disclosing) the Purchaser.
- 16.3. Clause 16.2 shall not prevent disclosure by a party or its Representatives to the extent it can demonstrate that:
- disclosure is required by law or by any stock exchange or any regulatory, governmental or antitrust body (including any Tax Authority) having applicable jurisdiction (provided that the disclosing party shall first inform (in the case of the Purchaser or Purchaser Guarantor disclosing) the Institutional Sellers' Representative and (in the case of a Seller disclosing) the Purchaser of its intention to disclose such information and take into account the reasonable comments of (in the case of the Purchaser or Purchaser Guarantor disclosing) the Institutional Sellers' Representative and (in the case of a Seller disclosing) the Purchaser);
- (b) disclosure is to a Tax Authority or tax or other professional adviser in circumstances where such disclosure is reasonably necessary for the management of the tax affairs of any Seller, the Purchaser or the Purchaser Guarantor;
- (c) disclosure is of Confidential Information which was lawfully in the possession of that party or any of its Representatives (in either case as evidenced by written records) without any obligation of secrecy prior to its being received or held;
- (d) disclosure is of Confidential Information which has previously become publicly available other than through that party's fault (or that of its Representatives);
- (e) disclosure is required for the purpose of any arbitral or judicial proceedings arising out of this Deed (or any other Transaction Document);
- (f) such disclosure is made in the proper performance of a party's duties in its capacity as an employee or director of a Target Company;
- (g) such disclosure is made on a confidential basis in accordance with the terms of that certain confidentiality agreement, dated 14 September 2015, between the Purchaser Guarantor and the Company to lending banks or other funding parties or prospective funding (whether debt or equity) parties of the Purchaser; or
- (h) in the case of each Institutional Seller only, such disclosure is made to any direct or indirect investors or prospective investors in funds managed and/or advised by Affiliates of that Seller, together with its directors, officers, advisors or agents provided that such information is disclosed on a confidential basis.

16.4. Each of the Sellers, the Purchaser and the Purchaser Guarantor undertakes that it (and its Affiliates) shall only disclose Confidential Information to Representatives if it is reasonably required for purposes connected with this Deed and only if the Representatives are informed of the confidential nature of the Confidential Information.

17. Recourse to the Trustee

- 17.1. Each of the parties acknowledges that the Trustee is entering into this Deed in its capacities as trustee of the Priory Equity Plan Employee Trust and as nominee for the Management Sellers to hold and sell the legal title to Shares as their nominee.
- 17.2. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Deed:
- (a) where the Trustee is acting as trustee of the Priory Equity Plan Employee Trust (and not as nominee for the Management Sellers), the Trustee's liability under this Deed (including in respect of the power of attorney contained in Schedule 4) is limited at all times to the value of the net assets held in the Priory Equity Plan Employee Trust from time to time which are in the Trustee's possession or under the Trustee's control as the trustee of the Priory Equity Plan Employee Trust (excluding for the avoidance of doubt any assets held by the Trustee as nominee for any Management Seller or any other person and any assets which have been allocated or appointed out of the Priory Equity Plan Employee Trust); and
- (b) without prejudice to clause 17.2(a) above, where the Trustee is acting as nominee for any Management Seller, the Trustee's liability under this Deed (including in respect of the power of attorney contained in Schedule 4) shall be limited at all times to the value of the legal title to the assets held as nominee from time to time on behalf of each such Management Seller.
- 17.3. All representations, warranties, undertakings, obligations and covenants in this Deed are made, given, owed or agreed by or in relation to the Shares held by the Trustee as nominee for the Management Sellers and in the Trustee's capacity as trustee of the Priory Equity Plan Employee Trust and shall not be construed to be made, given, owed or agreed by or in relation to the Trustee in its capacity as trustee of any other trust or in its personal capacity or in any other capacity or in relation to any other assets.

18. Further assurances

- 18.1. Each of the parties shall execute such further documents and do all such acts and things as may be required by law or as may be necessary to implement and give effect to this Deed.
- 18.2. Each of the parties shall procure that its Affiliates comply with all obligations under this Deed expressed to apply to any such Affiliate.

19. Assignment

19.1. Except as provided in this clause 19 or unless each Sellers' Representative and the Purchaser specifically agree in writing, no person shall assign, transfer, charge or

- otherwise deal with all or any of its rights under this Deed nor grant, declare, create or dispose of any right or interest in it. Any purported assignment in contravention of this clause 19 shall be void.
- 19.2. Subject to clause 19.4, this Deed and all or any of the benefits arising under it may be assigned or charged in whole or in part by the Purchaser to:
- (a) its financial lenders or banks or other creditors or any member of their groups (including funds) or any security agent or trustee acting on their behalf as security, in each case for any financing or refinancing in respect of the Proposed Transaction (including any additional facilities and hedging made available in connection with such financing or refinancing) and such benefit may further be assigned to any other financial institution or other creditors by way of security for the borrowings of the Purchaser resulting from any refinancing of the borrowings made under such financing or refinancing or to any person entitled to enforce such security or to any transferee under a valid enforcement of such security; or
- (b) any of its Affiliates, provided that if such assignee or chargee (as applicable) at any time is to cease to be an Affiliate of the Purchaser, this Deed and the relevant benefits shall be, prior to such time, transferred back to the Purchaser (or any of its Affiliates).
- 19.3. As soon as practicable after any assignment in accordance with this clause 19, the party that has assigned its rights will give written notice of the assignment to the Sellers' Representatives.
- 19.4. If an assignment is made in accordance with this clause 19, the liabilities of the parties under this Deed shall be no greater than such liabilities would have been if the assignment had not occurred.

20. Costs

- 20.1. Subject to clause 20.2, and except as otherwise provided in this Deed (or any other Transaction Document), each party shall be responsible for its own Costs, charges and other expenses (including those of its Affiliates) incurred in connection with the Proposed Transaction.
- 20.2. The Purchaser or its Affiliates shall bear all stamp duty, notarisation fees or other documentary transfer or transaction duties, and all stamp duty reserve tax, stamp duty land tax and any other transfer taxes, including, in each case, any related interest or penalties arising as a result of this Deed or of any of the other Transaction Documents or any of the transactions contemplated hereunder.

21. Notices

- 21.1. Subject to clause 4.8, any notice in connection with this Deed shall be in writing in English and delivered by hand, email, registered post or courier using an internationally recognised courier company. A notice shall be effective upon receipt and shall be deemed to have been received:
- (a) at the time of delivery, if delivered by hand, registered post or courier; or
- (b) at the time of transmission if delivered by email,

provided that in either case, where delivery occurs outside Working Hours, notice shall be deemed to have been received at the start of Working Hours on the following Business Day.

21.2. The email addresses and, where relevant, addresses of the relevant persons for the purpose of clause 21.1 are:

Institutional Sellers' Representative

For the attention of: Address: Email:

Simon Powell Advent International plc spowell@adventinternational.co.uk

111 Buckingham Palace

Road

London SW1W 0SR United Kingdom

With a copy (such copy in itself not constituting

notice) to: Address: Email:

Adrian Maguire Freshfields Bruckhaus adrian.maguire@freshfields.com

Deringer LLP 65 Fleet Street London EC4Y 1HS United Kingdom

Management Sellers' Representative

For the attention of: Address: Email:

Tom Riall Priory Group TomRiall@priorygroup.com

Floor 5

80 Hammersmith Road London W14 8UD United Kingdom

David Hall Priory Group DaveHall@priorygroup.com

Floor 5

80 Hammersmith Road London W14 8UD United Kingdom

With a copy (such copy in itself not constituting

notice) to: Address: Email:

Stephen Atkinson DLA Piper UK LLP stephen.atkinson@dlapiper.com

Princes Exchange Princes Square Leeds LS1 4BY

Trustee

For the attention of: Address: Email:

Patrick Jones 13-14 The Esplanade PJones@applebyglobal.com

St Helier Jersey JEI 1BD Channel Islands

Purchaser / Purchaser Guarantor

For the attention of: Address: Email:

Christopher L. Howard, Acadia Healthcare Chris.Howard@acadiahealthcare.com

EVP, General Counsel and Company, Inc., 6100
Secretary Tower Circle Drive, Suite 1000, Franklin, TN 37067

United States

With a copy (such copy in itself not constituting

notice) to: Address: Email:

Andrew Edge Stephenson Harwood LLP andrew.edge@shlegal.com

1 Finsbury Circus London EC2M 7SH United Kingdom

Institutional Sellers' Pricing Representative

For the attention of: Email:

Tom Allen TAllen@adventinternational.co.uk

With a copy (such copy in itself not constituting notice) to Email:

Siddarth Jhaver and Adrian Maguire sjhaver@adventinternational.co.uk adrian.maguire@freshfields.com

22. Conflict with other agreements

- 22.1. If there is any conflict between the terms of this Deed and any other agreement (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the Investment Documents), this Deed shall prevail (as between the parties to this Deed and as between any of their Affiliates) unless:
- (a) the parties to this Deed are either also parties to that other agreement and that other agreement expressly states that it overrides this Deed in the relevant respect; or
- (b) the parties to this Deed expressly agree in writing that such other agreement shall override this Deed in that respect.

- 22.2. Each of the Sellers acknowledges and agrees, for the benefit of each other Seller that the entry into of the Transaction Documents and the completion of the Proposed Transaction is approved for all purposes under the Investment Documents and the Articles, and no Seller shall assert any claim against any other Seller pursuant to the Investment Documents or Articles in respect of any action contemplated by the Transaction Documents.
- 22.3. To the extent permitted by law, where any provision of this Deed conflicts with any of the Articles, each of the relevant Sellers undertakes to exercise its voting rights in respect of such Target Company to procure that the relevant Articles are amended so as to ensure that they are consistent with the terms of this Deed.

23. Whole agreement

This Deed and the Transaction Documents together set out the whole agreement between the parties in respect of the sale and purchase of the Shares and supersede any prior agreement (whether oral or written) relating to the Proposed Transaction. It is agreed that:

- (a) no party shall have any claim or remedy in respect of any statement, representation, warranty or undertaking made by or on behalf of the other party (or any of its Connected Persons) in relation to the Proposed Transaction which is not expressly set out in this Deed or any other Transaction Document;
- (b) any terms or conditions implied by law in any jurisdiction in relation to the Proposed Transaction are excluded to the fullest extent permitted by law or, if incapable of exclusion, any right, or remedies in relation to them are irrevocably waived;
- (c) the only right or remedy of a party in relation to any provision of this Deed or any other Transaction Document shall be for breach of this Deed or the relevant Transaction Document; and
- (d) except for any liability in respect of a breach of this Deed or any other Transaction Document, no party (or any of its Connected Persons) shall owe any duty of care or have any liability in tort or otherwise to the other parties (or their respective Connected Persons) in relation to the Proposed Transaction.

provided that this clause 23 shall not exclude any liability for (or remedy in respect of) fraud or fraudulent misrepresentation. Each party agrees to the terms of this clause 23 on its own behalf and as agent for each of its Connected Persons. For the purpose of this clause 23, *Connected Persons* means (in relation to a party) the officers, employees, agents and advisers of that party or any of its Affiliates.

24. Withholdings and set-off

- 24.1. All sums payable under this Deed or any of the Transaction Documents or for breach of any of the provisions of this Deed or any of the Transaction Documents shall be paid free and clear of all deductions or withholdings whatsoever, save only as provided in this Deed or as required by law.
- 24.2. Each party waives and relinquishes any right of set-off or counterclaim, deduction or retention which it might otherwise have out of any payments which it may be obliged to make (or procure to be made) to any other party pursuant to this Deed or otherwise.

25. Waivers, rights and remedies

- 25.1. Except as expressly provided in this Deed, no failure or delay by any party in exercising any right or remedy relating to this Deed or any of the Transaction Documents shall affect or operate as a waiver or variation of that right or remedy or preclude its exercise at any subsequent time. No single or partial exercise of any such right or remedy shall preclude any further exercise of it or the exercise of any other remedy.
- 25.2. The aggregate total liability of each Seller in respect of all claims under the Transaction Documents shall not exceed an amount equal to its individual consideration (as set out in clause 2), provided that this clause 25.2 shall not apply to any liability of a Seller pursuant to the undertakings and covenants in clause 12 (*No Leakage undertaking*).
- 25.3. Any indemnity contained in this Deed shall be calculated on an after tax basis so as to take into account the amount and timing of any tax which becomes payable by the recipient of the payment as a result of the payment being subject to tax in the hands of the recipient and the amount and timing of utilisation of any Relief which is obtained by the recipient of the payment (or any subsidiary undertaking or parent undertaking of the recipient) to the extent that such Relief is attributable to the matter giving rise to the payment.

26. Specific performance

Without affecting any other rights or remedies that they may have, each party acknowledges that a person with rights under this Deed may be irreparably harmed by any breach of its terms and that damages alone may not necessarily be an adequate remedy. Equitable relief (including the remedies of specific performance and injunction) shall be an available remedy for any threatened or actual breach of, and no proof of special damages will be necessary to enforce, the terms of this Deed.

27. Counterparts

- 27.1. This Deed may be executed in any number of counterparts, and by each party on separate counterparts. Each counterpart is an original, but all counterparts shall together constitute one and the same instrument. Delivery of a counterpart of this Deed by e-mail attachment or telecopy shall be an effective mode of delivery.
- 27.2. The parties acknowledge and agree that columns 3, 4, 5, 7, 8, 9, 11, 12, 13, 15, 16, 17, 19, 20, 21, 23, 24, 25, 27, 28, 29, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37 and 38 of Part C of the Allocation Table shall be redacted in full for the purposes of any disclosure to the Management Sellers, save with respect to the information set out against such Management Seller's name in Part C of the Allocation Table, and each Management Seller acknowledges the provisions of clauses 1.5 and 4.11 of this Deed.

28. Variations

28.1. Subject to clause 28.2, no amendment of this Deed (or of any other Transaction Document) shall be valid unless it is in writing and duly executed by or on behalf of the Sellers' Representatives and the Purchaser, other than an amendment to clause 17, for which the consent of the Trustee shall be required.

- 28.2. This clause 28 and clauses 30, 31.6, 31.7 and 32 (and any related definitions to the extent a modification, waiver or termination of such definitions would modify the substance of any of the foregoing clauses) may not be modified, waived or terminated in a manner that is adverse in any material respect to the Debt Financing Sources or the Equity Financing Sources without the prior written consent of such Debt Financing Sources or Equity Financing Sources, as applicable.
- 28.3. No failure or delay on the part of any party in the exercise of any right under this Deed shall impair such right or be construed to be a waiver of, or acquiescence in, any breach of any representation, warranty or agreement herein, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such right preclude any other or further exercise thereof or any other right.
- 28.4. All rights and remedies existing under this Deed are cumulative to, and not exclusive of, any rights or remedies otherwise available.

29. Invalidity

Each of the provisions of this Deed and the other Transaction Documents are severable. If any such provision is held to be or becomes invalid or unenforceable in any respect under the law of any jurisdiction, it shall have no effect in that respect and the parties shall use all reasonable efforts to replace it in that respect with a valid and enforceable substitute provision the effect of which is as close to its intended effect as possible.

30. Third party enforcement rights

- 30.1. The Connected Persons specified in clause 23 shall have the right to enforce the relevant terms of that clause; the Covered Persons shall have the right to enforce the terms of clauses 11.2 to 11.5 (inclusive); the relevant Target Company shall have the right to enforce clause 11.2; and the Debt Financing Sources shall have the right to enforce clauses 28, 30, 31.6, 31.7 and 32 by reason of the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999. This right is subject to: (i) the rights of the parties to amend or vary this Deed without the consent of any Connected Person, Covered Person, Target Company or any director, officer, employee, adviser and representative of the Target Companies or Debt Financing Source (in each case, except in its capacity as a party to this Deed); and (ii) the other terms and conditions of this Deed.
- 30.2. Except as provided in clause 30.1, a person who is not a party to this Deed shall have no right under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 to enforce any of its terms.

31. Governing law and jurisdiction

- 31.1. This Deed and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with this Deed shall be governed by, and interpreted in accordance with, English law.
- 31.2. Except as expressly provided otherwise in this Deed, the English courts shall have exclusive jurisdiction in relation to all disputes (including claims for set-off and

counterclaims) arising out of or in connection with this Deed including, without limitation, disputes arising out of or in connection with: (i) the creation, validity, effect, interpretation, performance or non-performance of, or the legal relationships established by, this Deed; and (ii) any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with this Deed. For such purposes each party irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of the English courts and waives any objection to the exercise of such jurisdiction.

- 31.3. The Institutional Sellers shall at all times maintain an agent for service of process and any other documents in proceedings in England or any other proceedings in connection with this Deed. Such agent shall be Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer LLP (Attention: Dispute Resolution Department Managing Partner, Adrian Maguire and Julian Pritchard) currently of 65 Fleet Street, London EC4Y 1HS and any claim form, judgment or other notice of legal process shall be sufficiently served on the Institutional Sellers if delivered to such agent at its address for the time being. The Institutional Sellers irrevocably undertake not to revoke the authority of this agent and if, for any reason, the Purchaser requests the Institutional Sellers to do so, they shall promptly appoint another such agent with an address in England and advise the Purchaser. If, following such a request, the Institutional Sellers fail to appoint another agent, the Purchaser shall be entitled to appoint one on behalf of the Institutional Sellers at the Institutional Sellers' expense.
- 31.4. The Trustee shall at all times maintain an agent for service of process and any other documents in proceedings in England or any other proceedings in connection with this Deed. Such agent shall be Avonwick Ltd. currently of 80 Coleman Street, London EC2R 5BJ and any claim form, judgment or other notice of legal process shall be sufficiently served on the Trustee if delivered to such agent at its address for the time being. The Trustee irrevocably undertakes not to revoke the authority of this agent and if, for any reason, the Purchaser requests the Trustee to do so, it shall promptly appoint another such agent with an address in England and advise the Purchaser. If, following such a request, the Trustee fails to appoint another agent, the Purchaser shall be entitled to appoint one on behalf of the Trustee at the Trustee's expense.
- 31.5. The Purchaser Guarantor shall at all times maintain an agent for service of process and any other documents in proceedings in England or any other proceedings in connection with this Deed. Such agent shall be the Purchaser and any claim form, judgment or other notice of legal process shall be sufficiently served on the Purchaser Guarantor if delivered to such agent at its address for the time being. The Purchaser Guarantor irrevocably undertakes not to revoke the authority of this agent and if, for any reason, the Sellers' Representatives request the Purchaser Guarantor to do so, it shall promptly appoint another such agent with an address in England and advise the Sellers' Representatives. If, following such a request, the Purchaser Guarantor fails to appoint another agent, the Sellers' Representatives shall be entitled to appoint one on behalf of the Purchaser Guarantor at the Purchaser Guarantor's expense.
- 31.6. Notwithstanding the provisions of this clause 31, each of the parties: (i) agrees that it will not bring or support any Action of any kind or description, whether in law or in equity, whether in contract or in tort or otherwise, against the Debt Financing Sources in any way relating to this Deed, the Purchaser's Debt Financing or any of the

transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, including any dispute arising out of or relating in any way to the Debt Commitment Agreement or any other letter or contract related to the Purchaser's Debt Financing or the performance thereof, in any forum other than any State or Federal court sitting in the Borough of Manhattan in the City of New York; and (ii) agrees that any such Action shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York.

31.7. EACH PARTY ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT ANY CONTROVERSY WHICH MAY ARISE UNDER THIS DEED IS LIKELY TO INVOLVE COMPLICATED AND DIFFICULT ISSUES, AND THEREFORE IT HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY LITIGATION DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS DEED OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY. EACH PARTY CERTIFIES AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT: (A) NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE EITHER OF SUCH WAIVERS; (B) IT UNDERSTANDS AND HAS CONSIDERED THE IMPLICATIONS OF SUCH WAIVERS; (C) IT MAKES SUCH WAIVERS VOLUNTARILY; AND (D) IT HAS BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS DEED BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS CLAUSE 31.7. EACH PARTY AGREES THAT THE WAIVERS CONTAINED IN THIS CLAUSE 31.7 SHALL EXTEND TO THE DEBT FINANCING SOURCES.

32. Non-recourse

- 32.1. Each Seller covenants and agrees that it shall not institute, and shall cause its Affiliates not to institute, a legal proceeding (whether based in contract, tort, fraud, strict liability, other laws or otherwise) arising under or in connection with, this Deed, the Debt Commitment Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby against any of the Debt Financing Sources or Equity Financing Sources (including for any alleged damage or loss relating to this Deed or the performance of or failure to perform any transactions contemplated by it) and that none of the Debt Financing Sources or Equity Financing Sources shall have any liability or obligations (whether based in contract, tort, fraud, strict liability, other laws or otherwise) to any Seller or any of its Affiliates or any of their respective successors, heirs or representatives thereof arising out of or relating to this Deed, the Debt Commitment Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby. This clause 32 shall apply only as between each Seller and the Debt Financing Sources and the Equity Financing Sources, shall not constitute an agreement between any Seller (on the one hand) and the Purchaser or the Purchaser Guarantor (on the other hand), neither the Purchaser nor the Purchaser Guarantor shall have any rights under this clause 32, and this clause 32 shall not affect or amend in any way the agreement between the parties provided for in this Deed.
- 32.2. Each Seller acknowledges that it has no direct relationship with any of the Debt Financing Sources or Equity Financing Sources with respect to any of the transactions contemplated by this Deed and is not an intended beneficiary of any arrangements that the Purchaser may have with any Debt Financing Sources or Equity Financing Sources.

Schedule 1 Details of the Sellers

Part A Institutional Sellers

Name and Address

Advent Therapy (Luxembourg) S.à r.l. 2-4, rue Beck, L-1222 Luxembourg

Advent Miro Luxembourg Holding S.à r.l.

2-4, rue Beck, L-1222 Luxembourg

Advent Miro Luxembourg Finance S.à r.l.

2-4, rue Beck, L-1222 Luxembourg

Advent Therapy (Luxembourg) Finance S.à r.l.

2-4, rue Beck, L-1222 Luxembourg

Part B Management Sellers

Name Tom Riall

Mark Moran

Ian Fraser

Sam Rogers

Flavia Rogers

David Hall

Angela Hall

Trevor Torrington

Mark Underwood

Chris Screech

Sarah Hughes

Sian Wicks

Tina Walton

<u>Name</u> Claire Balmforth

Nigel Myers

Steve Travers

Adrian Dallinson

Jim Lee

Annie Meharg

David Watts

Sylvia Tang

Tom Muir

Stephen McAndrew

James Willis

Simon Coles

Lisa Deane

Michelle Darrell

Clair Dunn

Michelle Metcalf

Matthew Atherton

Nicky Cooper

Rebekah Cresswell

Karen Price

Alison Pleszak

Gair Stott

Jane Stone

Sue Harms

Stephen McShane

Name Andy Cobley

Trevor Wilson Smith

Lee Jones

Dolores Watkins

Jonathan Harker

Hayden Knight

Jason Lock

Julie Lock

Matthew Franzidis

Helen Sharpe

Philip Scott

Equiom (Isle of Man) Limited (as trustee of the Lausaur Settlement)

Christopher Thompson

Schedule 2 Closing arrangements

Part A Seller Obligations

- 1. At Closing:
 - (a) each of the Sellers shall deliver, or ensure that there is delivered, to the Purchaser:
 - (i) duly executed transfers into the name of the Purchaser in respect of all the Shares in which it holds the legal interest;
 - (ii) share certificates relating to all the Shares held by it in respect of which certificates were issued or are required by law to be issued (or indemnities in lieu of such certificates in the Agreed Form if those certificates have been lost by that Seller); and
 - (iii) a copy of a duly executed deed of termination in respect of the Investment Documents in the Agreed Form;
 - (b) the Sellers' Representatives shall deliver, or ensure that there is delivered, to the Purchaser:
 - the duly signed resignations in the Agreed Form of such persons as are notified by the Purchaser to Sellers' Representatives 14 days prior to Closing, in respect of their directorships of any Target Company;
 - (ii) subject to compliance by the Purchaser with its obligations pursuant to paragraph (b)(vi) of Part B of this Schedule 2, a certificate issued by the Company confirming that all Notes have been redeemed in full and all Outstanding Notes Debt has been paid in full;
 - (iii) subject to compliance by the Purchaser with its obligations pursuant to paragraphs (b)(ix) and (b)(x) of Part B of this Schedule 2, a certificate issued by the Company confirming that all Senior Secured Bonds and Senior Unsecured Bonds have been redeemed in full;
 - (iv) on a non-reliance basis only, a copy of any opinion provided by the Target Companies' counsel to the Senior Secured Bond Trustee and Senior Unsecured Bond Trustee in connection with the redemption of each of the Senior Secured Bonds and the Senior Unsecured Bonds and/or the discharge of each of the Senior Secured Bond Indenture and Senior Unsecured Bond Indenture;
 - (v) evidence that, upon compliance by the Purchaser with its obligations pursuant to paragraphs (b)(vii), (b)(ix) and (b)(x) of Part B of this Schedule 2, (and receipt by the relevant recipients of the amounts referred to in those paragraphs), the duly executed Deed of Release will be delivered to the Sellers' Representatives; and
 - (vi) to the extent such notice is so delivered, a copy of any notice delivered by any Target Company to the Agent (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility Agreement) in respect of the prepayment and cancellation of the Revolving Credit Facility Agreement; and

- (c) each of the Institutional Sellers shall deliver, or ensure that there is delivered, to the Purchaser a copy of a resolution of the managers of such Institutional Seller authorising the execution of and the performance by that Institutional Seller of its obligations under this Deed and each of the Transaction Documents to be executed by it.
- 2. The Sellers shall procure that at or prior to Closing a meeting of the board of directors of the Company is held at which the directors:
 - (a) approve for registration the transfers in respect of the Shares into the name of the Purchaser (subject to their being duly stamped);
 - (b) accept the resignations of the resigning directors, and appoint such persons as are notified by the Purchaser to the Sellers' Representatives 14 days prior to Closing as directors of the Company, conditional upon and with effect from Closing;
 - (c) give authority to operate all such bank accounts of the Target Companies in favour of such persons, and revoke such existing authorities to bankers in respect of such accounts, in each case as are notified by the Purchaser to the Sellers' Representatives 14 days prior to Closing, conditional upon and with effect from, Closing;
 - (d) approve the repayment of the Outstanding RCF Debt;
 - (e) approve the redemption of the Notes and the delivery of notices to effect the redemption process under the Loan Note Instruments;
 - (f) if any of the Preference Shares are to be redeemed in accordance with clause 1.8 of this Deed, approve such redemption and circulate any shareholder resolutions necessary for such redemption; and
 - (g) approve all Transaction Documents (or any other documents) to be entered into by the Company in connection with the Proposed Transaction.

Part B Purchaser Obligations

At Closing, the Purchaser shall:

- (a) deliver, or ensure that there is delivered to the Sellers' Representatives, a copy of a resolution of the board of directors of each of the Purchaser and the Purchaser Guarantor authorising the execution of and the performance by the relevant company of its obligations under this Deed and each of the Transaction Documents to be executed by it; and
- (b) pay by electronic funds transfer for value on the Closing Date:
 - (i) that part of the Share Price (in pounds sterling) that is payable in cash to the Institutional Sellers pursuant to clause 2 to the Institutional Sellers' Account;

- (ii) that part of the Share Price (in pounds sterling) payable to the Management Sellers pursuant to clause 2 (subject to any adjustments to take account of any amounts to be paid to the Company or the Trustee pursuant to clause 3) to the Management Sellers' Account (and the Trustee directs the Purchaser to make such payment in respect of the relevant Shares held by the Trustee as nominee for the Management Sellers);
- (iii) that part of the Share Price (in pounds sterling) payable to the Trustee pursuant to clauses 2 and 3 to the Trustee's Account;
- (iv) that part of the Share Price (in pounds sterling) payable to the Company pursuant to clause 3 to the Company's Account;
- (v) any Cash Consideration Increase Amount (in US dollars) that is payable to the Institutional Sellers pursuant to clause 2 to a US dollar bank account specified by the Institutional Sellers' Representative no less than five Business Days prior to Closing;
- (vi) the Outstanding Notes Debt (in pounds sterling) payable to the Institutional Sellers and to the Individual Seller in the proportions specified in the Allocation Table to the Institutional Sellers' Account (in the case of the Institutional Sellers) and the Management Sellers' Account (in the case of the Individual Seller);
- (vii) the Outstanding RCF Debt (in pounds sterling) to the bank account(s) as specified by the Agent and/or the Security Agent (each such term as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility Agreement);
- (viii) the Sellers' Disclosed Transaction Costs (in pounds sterling) that have not been paid prior to Closing to the bank account(s) as specified by the relevant payee(s) as notified to the Purchaser in the Closing Statement;
- (ix) the Senior Secured Bond Payoff Amount (in pounds sterling) to be deposited in trust to the bank account of the Senior Secured Bond Trustee as specified by the Institutional Sellers' Representative; and
- (x) the Senior Unsecured Bond Payoff Amount (in pounds sterling) to be deposited in trust to the bank account of the Senior Unsecured Bond Trustee as specified by the Institutional Sellers' Representative;
- (c) deliver to the Institutional Sellers' Representative:
 - (i) evidence that the certificates representing the Acadia Common Stock Consideration or, if relevant, the Adjusted Acadia Placing Stock (and any additional shares of Acadia Common Stock to be issued pursuant to clause 2.6) have been issued, in each case registered in the name of the relevant Institutional Seller (or such other person, as it may elect); and

(ii) an executed certificate that states that, for the relevant period through Closing, the class of Acadia Common Stock (which includes the Acadia Common Stock Consideration), is regularly traded on the NASDAQ Global Stock Market and is, therefore, stock that is "regularly traded on an established securities market," as defined in Treasury Regulation Section 1.1445-2(c)(2).

Part C General

All documents and items delivered at Closing pursuant to this Schedule 2 shall be held by the recipient to the order of the person delivering the same until such time as Closing shall be deemed to have taken place. Simultaneously with:

- (a) delivery of all documents and all items required to be delivered at Closing (or waiver of the delivery of it by the person entitled to receive the relevant document or item); and
- (b) receipt of electronic funds transfers in accordance with paragraph 1(b) of Part B of this Schedule 2,

the documents and items delivered in accordance with this Schedule shall cease to be held to the order of the person delivering them and Closing shall be deemed to have taken place.

Part D Sellers' Undertaking

Each Institutional Seller undertakes that it shall, immediately prior to Closing:

- (a) repay to each Target Company all indebtedness outstanding at Closing from that Institutional Seller;
- (b) release all guarantees, indemnities, bonds, letters of comfort, Third Party Rights or other similar obligation given by any Target Company in that Institutional Seller's favour in respect of liabilities of such Institutional Seller (and prior to such repayment or release such Institutional Seller undertakes to the Purchaser (on behalf of itself and as trustee on behalf of such Target Company) to keep such Target Company fully indemnified against any liability arising under any such guarantee, indemnity, bond, letter of comfort or Third Party Rights (provided that any claim for indemnification under this paragraph (b) of Part D of Schedule 2 is notified to the Institutional Sellers' Representative by no later than the date falling six months after the Closing Date)); and
- (c) unconditionally and irrevocably release each Target Company from any obligation or sum due to such Institutional Seller or any of its Affiliates by a Target Company.

Schedule 3 Permitted Leakage

(1) (2) No. Description of Permitted Leakage

- 1. Sellers' Disclosed Transaction Costs
- 2. Any income tax and employee national insurance contributions made in connection with the transfer of interests in Ordinary Shares from the Trustee to certain Management Sellers
- 3. Accrual (but, for the avoidance of doubt, not the declaration or payment) of any dividends in relation to any Preference Shares in accordance with the Articles between the Locked Box Date and Closing
- 4. Accrual (but, for the avoidance of doubt, not the payment) of interest in relation to any Loan Notes in accordance with the terms of the Loan Note Instruments between the Locked Box Date and Closing
- 5. The issuance of PIK Notes in accordance with the terms of the Loan Note Instruments
- 6. Directors' and officers' fees, remuneration and expenses paid to, or in respect of, directors or officers of any Target Company in accordance with their service contracts, consultancy agreements and/or appointment letters and consistent with past practice in the ordinary course of business
- 7. Salaries and other employment-related benefits or payments (including bonus, pension, payments in lieu of pension, healthcare, season ticket loans, parking and other benefits) paid to, or in respect of, employees of any Target Company who are Sellers or Affiliates of any Sellers in accordance with their employment agreements, together with any severance payment paid to, or in respect of, Annie Meharg
- 8. The waiver or release of obligations in respect of amounts owed by the Trustee to the Company in respect of the cost of acquisition of the Shares
- 9. Any payments made in accordance with the terms of the Transaction Documents
- 10. Any amounts provided for, accrued or otherwise included as liabilities in the Locked Box Accounts
- 11. Any matter which the Purchaser and the Sellers' Representatives agree in writing shall be Permitted Leakage
- 12. Any amounts incurred or paid or agreed to be paid or payable or liability, cost or expense incurred in connection with any matter undertaken at the written request of, or with the prior written consent of, the Purchaser
- 13. Any Leakage refunded or made to the Target Companies on or prior to Closing

(1) No.	(2) Description of Permitted Leakage
14	Any payments made pursuant to any agreement or arrangement in respect of any of the matters set out above

14. Any payments made pursuant to any agreement or arrangement in respect of any of the matters set out above

15. Any tax arising in connection with any of the matters set out above

Schedule 4 Voting Power of Attorney

Appointment and Powers

- 1.1 This power of attorney shall take effect in respect of each Seller immediately upon Closing having occurred in accordance with this Deed. If Closing does not occur, or this Deed terminates in accordance with its terms, this power of attorney shall have no force or effect in respect of any Seller whatsoever.
- 1.2 For the purpose of securing the interest of the Purchaser in the Shares but subject always to paragraph 1.1 above, each Seller irrevocably and by way of security appoints the Purchaser as its true and lawful attorney with authority on its behalf and in its name or otherwise to exercise all rights, powers and privileges attaching to the Shares or otherwise capable of being exercised by the registered holder of the Shares and for such purpose to do all such acts and things and to execute all such deeds and other documents as the Purchaser shall consider necessary or desirable pending registration of the Shares into the name of the Purchaser including all or any of the following (in each case in such manner and on such terms as the Purchaser in its absolute discretion shall think fit):
 - (a) to attend, participate in and direct the exercise of any voting rights attaching to the Shares at any general meeting class meeting or other meeting at which such rights are capable of being exercised;
 - (b) to approve, complete, or otherwise sign or execute any requisition of any meeting, consent to short notice, proxy, written resolution, agreement of the members of the Company (or any of them) or other document capable of being signed by the registered holder of the Shares:
 - (c) to sell, transfer, exchange or otherwise dispose of all or any of the Shares and for this purpose to enter into any contract for such sale or disposition on such terms (including the giving of such warranties and indemnities) and subject to such conditions as the Purchaser may in its absolute discretion think fit;
 - (d) to receive or authorise the receipt of the consideration for a sale or disposition of all or any of the Shares and to execute any transfer, renunciation or other document as the Purchaser may consider necessary or desirable for selling, transferring, exchanging or otherwise disposing of the Shares or any interest therein or arising thereout;
 - (e) to agree to any compromise or arrangement affecting the Shares and to use any lawful means that may appear to the Purchaser necessary or desirable in order to safeguard the interests, or enforce the rights, of the registered holder of the Shares;
 - (f) to sign, endorse or otherwise execute all receipts, dividend and interest warrants, cheques, releases, discharges, reconveyances or other deeds or documents whatsoever that the Company may consider necessary or desirable in the circumstances; and

(g) to appoint one or more persons to act as a substitute attorney for any Seller and to exercise one or more of the powers conferred on the Purchaser by this power of attorney (other than the power to appoint a substitute attorney) and to revoke any such appointment.

2. Authority of the Purchaser

2.1 All acts done and documents executed or signed by the Purchaser in good faith in the purported exercise of any power conferred by this power of attorney shall for all purposes be valid and binding on a Seller and his/her/its successors and each such Seller undertakes and agrees to ratify all such acts done and documents executed and signed.

2.2 Each Seller undertakes:

- (a) not to exercise any power conferred on the Purchaser by this power of attorney without the Purchaser's prior written consent;
- (b) to hold the Shares on trust for the Purchaser as beneficial owner and to promptly account to the Purchaser for any distributions received by such Seller in relation to them after the date of this deed;
- (c) to act promptly in accordance with the Purchaser's instructions in relation to any rights exercisable by such Seller in its capacity as the registered holder of the Shares; and
- (d) to promptly on receipt, notify and deliver to the Purchaser anything received by such Seller in its capacity as the registered holder of the Shares.
- 2.3 Each Seller declares that a person who deals with the Purchaser in good faith may accept a written statement signed by the Purchaser to the effect that this power of attorney has not been revoked as conclusive evidence of that fact.
- 2.4 The Purchaser shall not take any step in relation to any legal, arbitral or other proceedings (including, without limitation, the commencement, prosecution, settlement or discontinuance thereof) in the name of or otherwise on behalf of the Sellers without the prior written consent of the Sellers.
- 2.5 In exercising any or all of the Purchaser's powers hereunder the Purchaser shall not incur or purport to incur any liability, duty or obligation of any nature whatsoever (including pursuant to the Companies Act and/or the Insolvency Act 1986) in the name of or otherwise on behalf of any or all of the Sellers or enter into any agreement (formal or informal), deed or other document, scheme or arrangement, or do any other act or thing of any nature whatsoever as a result of which (directly or indirectly) any or all of the Sellers would or might reasonably be expected to incur any such liability, duty or obligation (including the acceptance of nil or partly paid shares in the capital of the Company).

3. Indemnity

Each Seller undertakes to indemnify the Purchaser and each of its agents and estates fully against all actions, proceedings, claims, costs, expenses and liabilities of every description arising from the exercise or the purported exercise in good faith of any of the powers conferred by this power of attorney (including any costs incurred in enforcing this indemnity).

4. Revocability and Termination

This power of attorney shall be irrevocable and shall terminate upon the Shares being registered in the name of the Purchaser (or, if earlier, the date falling six months following the Closing Date) and is given on the basis that the Purchaser shall use its reasonable endeavours to effect such registration as soon as is reasonably practicable.

Schedule	5 Deed of A	dherence	
THIS DE	ED is made	on the of 201 by [•] (the <i>New Seller</i>).	
This Deed	Witnesses a	s follows:	
1.	The New Seller confirms that it has read a copy of a deed dated 31 December 2015 made between: (1) Whitewell UK Investments 1 Limited; and (2) certain persons (therein referred to as the Institutional Sellers) and others, as amended from time to time (which agreement is herein referred to as the <i>SPA</i>) and hereby covenants to each of the persons referred to in clause 2(a) and 2(b) to be bound by the SPA in all respects as if the New Seller were a party to the SPA as a "Management Seller" and to perform all the obligations imposed on such a party to the SPA, to be performed on, as on, or after the date hereof.		
2.	This Deed is made for the benefit of:		
	(a)	the parties to the SPA as at the date of the SPA; and	
	(b)	any other person or persons who may after the date of the SPA (and whether prior to or after the date hereof) assume any rights or obligations under the SPA and be permitted to do so by the terms thereof.	

- 3. Save as expressly set out in the SPA, in favour of the New Seller, no party:
 - (a) makes any representations or warranty or assumes any responsibility with respect to the legality, validity, effectiveness, adequacy or enforceability of the SPA or any agreement entered into pursuant thereto; and
 - (b) assumes any responsibility for the performance and observance by any party to the SPA or any other document (save as expressly provided therein) of the SPA or any other document,

and any and all conditions and warranties, whether express or implied by law or otherwise, are to the extent legally possible excluded.

Words and expressions defined in the SPA shall bear the same meanings herein.

This Deed shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of England.

DULY DELIVERED as a Deed on the date and year first above written.

EXECUTED and DELIVERED as a)
DEED by)
[Insert name of New Seller]	
acting by two directors/a director and	
the secretary)

[Execution block to be amended to reflect nature of party signing Deed of Adherence]

Schedule 6 Additional Purchaser Guarantor warranties

The Purchaser Guarantor hereby warrants to the Sellers that, except as disclosed in: (a) the Purchaser Guarantor Reports (but excluding any risk factor disclosures contained under the heading "Risk Factors" and in any section relating to forward-looking statements to the extent that they are cautionary, predictive or otherwise forward-looking in nature) where the relevance of the information as an exception to (or disclosure for purposes of) a particular representation, warranty or covenant is reasonably apparent on the face of such disclosure; or (b) the disclosure schedule delivered by Purchaser Guarantor to the Sellers concurrently with the execution of this Deed and annexed to this Deed (the *Purchaser Guarantor Schedules*) (each section of which qualifies the correspondingly numbered representation, warranty or covenant if specified therein and such other representations, warranties or covenants where its relevance as an exception to (or disclosure for purposes of) such other representation, warranty or covenant is reasonably apparent):

1. Ownership of stock/capitalisation

The total number of shares of capital stock of all classes which the Purchaser Guarantor has the authority to issue is 90,000,000 shares of Acadia 1.1 Common Stock and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value US\$0.01 per share, of the Purchaser Guarantor (Purchaser Guarantor Preferred Stock). Of such authorised shares, as of the date hereof, a total of 71,681,068 shares of Acadia Common Stock and 0 shares of Purchaser Guarantor Preferred Stock are issued and outstanding. All of the shares of Acadia Common Stock have been duly authorised and validly issued, are fully paid and non-assessable, have been issued in compliance in all material respects with applicable laws and have not been issued in violation of, and are not subject to, any pre-emptive or subscription rights or rights of first refusal granted by the Purchaser Guarantor. As of the date hereof, options to purchase 696,943 shares of Acadia Common Stock (the *Purchaser Guarantor Options*) were outstanding and, except as set forth on section 1.1(a) of the Purchaser Guarantor Schedules all such Purchaser Guarantor Options were issued under the Acadia Healthcare Company, Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan (the Purchaser Guarantor Incentive Plan). As of the date hereof, 947,562 shares of restricted Acadia Common Stock were outstanding (the *Purchaser Guarantor Restricted Stock*) and 218,084 restricted stock units were outstanding (the Purchaser Guarantor Restricted Stock Units). Except as set forth in the Purchaser Guarantor Reports, none of the Purchaser Guarantor or any of its subsidiaries is a party to any stockholders' agreement, voting trust agreement or registration rights agreement relating to any equity securities of the Purchaser Guarantor or any of its subsidiaries or any other Contract relating to disposition, voting or dividends with respect to any equity securities of the Purchaser Guarantor or any of its subsidiaries. No dividends on shares of Acadia Common Stock have been declared or have accrued since December 31, 2014. Except for the shares of Acadia Common Stock, the Purchaser Guarantor Options, the Purchaser Guarantor Restricted Stock, and the Purchaser Guarantor Restricted Stock Units, there are no outstanding shares of capital stock or rights, options, warrants, convertible securities, subscription rights, conversion rights, exchange rights or other agreements that require the Purchaser Guarantor to issue or sell any shares of capital stock or similar equity interests (or securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares of its capital stock or similar equity interests) or otherwise provide any payments or benefits similar to equity (including any equity appreciation, phantom stock or other similar rights).

1.2 Except as set forth on section 1.1(a) of the Purchaser Guarantor Schedules and except for the Purchaser Guarantor Options, the Purchaser Guarantor Restricted Stock Units, each as described in section 1.1 of Schedule 6, (i) there are no Purchaser Guarantor Options outstanding as of the date hereof; and (ii) there is no obligation, contingent or otherwise, of the Purchaser Guarantor or any of its subsidiaries to: (A) repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any share of the capital stock or other equity interests of the Purchaser Guarantor or any of its subsidiaries; or (B) other than in connection with the Purchaser Guarantor Credit Agreements or pursuant to inter-company arrangements among or between the Purchaser Guarantor and one or more of its subsidiaries or among or between one or more subsidiaries of the Purchaser Guarantor, provide funds to, or make any investment in (in the form of a loan, capital contribution or otherwise), or provide any guarantee with respect to the obligations of, the Purchaser Guarantor or any of its subsidiaries or any other person.

2. Consents and approvals

The execution and delivery of the Deed by each of the Purchaser Guarantor and the Purchaser do not, and the performance by each of the Purchaser Guarantor and the Purchaser of this Deed and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Deed will not, require the Purchaser Guarantor or the Purchaser to obtain any material consent, approval, waiver, authorisation, permit, filing, registration or notification from any governmental or regulatory authority, except: (a) for compliance with the applicable requirements, if any, of the CMA (and any similar law enforced by any governmental or regulatory authority regarding pre-acquisition notifications for the purpose of competition reviews); and (b) for compliance with any applicable requirements of the SEC or the NASDAQ Global Select Market.

3. Acadia Common Stock

The Purchaser Guarantor will have at Closing sufficient authorised but unissued shares of Acadia Common Stock to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Deed including the issue of Acadia Common Stock provided for under the terms of this Deed. When issued in accordance with the terms of the Deed, the shares of Acadia Common Stock constituting the Acadia Common Stock Consideration will be duly and validly issued in accordance with all applicable laws, will be fully paid and non-assessable, will be free and clear of all Liens and will not be subject to pre-emptive rights or similar rights of stockholders, except as set forth in and restrictions on transfer arising under securities laws.

4. Financial statements; SEC reports; undisclosed liabilities

4.1 The Purchaser Guarantor has made available to the Company copies of: (a) the unaudited consolidated balance sheet, as of September 30, 2015, of the Purchaser Guarantor and its subsidiaries, and the unaudited consolidated statements of earnings and cash flows of the Purchaser Guarantor and its subsidiaries for the nine-month period then ended (such statements, the *Latest Purchaser Guarantor Financial Statements*); and (b) the audited consolidated balance sheets, as of December 31, 2014, December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 of the Purchaser Guarantor and its

subsidiaries and the audited consolidated statements of earnings, stockholders' equity and cash flows of the Purchaser Guarantor and its subsidiaries for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2014, December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 (such statements, the *Annual Purchaser Guarantor Financial Statements*, and together with the Latest Purchaser Guarantor Financial Statements, the *Purchaser Guarantor Financial Statements*. The Purchaser Guarantor Financial Statements fairly present, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Purchaser Guarantor and its subsidiaries, as of the date thereof, and the consolidated results of operations and changes in cash flows of the Purchaser Guarantor and its subsidiaries, for the period set forth therein, subject, in the case of the Latest Purchaser Guarantor Financial Statements, to normal year-end adjustments and the absence of footnote disclosures. Each of the Purchaser Guarantor Financial Statements (including all related notes) has been prepared in accordance with GAAP, except as otherwise noted therein, and subject, in the case of the Latest Purchaser Guarantor Financial Statements, to normal year-end adjustments and the absence of footnote disclosures. The Latest Purchaser Guarantor Financial Statements have been prepared from the books and records of Purchaser Guarantor and its subsidiaries, in all material respects, on a basis consistent with the Annual Purchaser Guarantor Financial Statements, subject to normal year-end adjustments and the absence of footnote disclosures.

- The Purchaser Guarantor has timely filed in all material respects all forms, reports, statements, certifications and other documents (including all exhibits, amendments and supplements thereto) required to be filed by it with the SEC under applicable law, including the Exchange Act since December 31, 2011 (such documents filed since December 31, 2011 and prior to the date hereof, the Purchaser Guarantor Reports). As of their respective dates, each of the Purchaser Guarantor Reports complied as to form in all material respects with the applicable requirements of applicable law, including the Exchange Act, the Securities Act, and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and, in each case, the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, each as in effect on the date so filed. Except to the extent amended or superseded by a subsequent filing with the SEC made prior to the date hereof, as of their respective dates (and if so amended or superseded, then on the date of such subsequent filing), none of the Purchaser Guarantor Reports contained any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact required to be stated or incorporated by reference therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. As of the date hereof, there are no outstanding or unresolved comments received from the SEC staff with respect to the Purchaser Guarantor Reports. As of the date hereof, to the knowledge of the Purchaser Guarantor, none of the Purchaser Guarantor Reports is the subject of ongoing SEC review or investigation, other than any review or investigation initiated as a result of the transactions contemplated by this Deed. None of the subsidiaries of the Purchaser Guarantor is required to file any forms, reports or other documents with the SEC pursuant to Section 13 or 15 of the Exchange Act.
- 4.3 The system of internal controls over financial reporting of the Purchaser Guarantor and its subsidiaries is sufficient in all material respects to provide reasonable assurance: (i) that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis during

the periods involved; (ii) that transactions are executed only in accordance with the authorisation of management; and (iii) regarding prevention or timely detection of the unauthorised acquisition, use or disposition of the Purchaser Guarantor's properties or assets. Each of the principal executive officer of the Purchaser Guarantor and the principal financial officer of the Purchaser Guarantor (or each former principal executive officer of the Purchaser Guarantor and each former principal financial officer of the Purchaser Guarantor, as applicable) has made all applicable certifications required by Rule 13a-14 or 15d-14 under the Exchange Act and Sections 302 and 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act with respect to the Purchaser Guarantor Reports, and the statements contained in such certifications are true and accurate as of the date of such certifications. None of the Purchaser Guarantor or any of its subsidiaries has outstanding, or has arranged any outstanding, "extensions of credit" to directors or executive officers within the meaning of Section 402 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The disclosure controls and procedures utilised by the Purchaser Guarantor are reasonably designed to ensure that all information (both financial and non-financial) required to be disclosed by the Purchaser Guarantor in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC and that all such information required to be disclosed is accumulated and communicated to the management of the Purchaser Guarantor, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure and to enable the chief executive officer and chief financial officer of the Purchaser Guarantor to make the certifications required under the Exchange Act with respect to such reports.

5. Absence of certain changes or events

Since December 31, 2014, except as otherwise contemplated by this Deed or as disclosed in the Purchaser Guarantor Reports, the Purchaser Guarantor and its subsidiaries have conducted their businesses, in all material respects, in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice.

6. Absence of litigation

Section 6 of the Purchaser Guarantor Schedules sets forth: (a) all of the material claims, actions, arbitrations, suits or proceedings of any kind whatsoever, at law or in equity (including actions or proceedings seeking injunctive relief), by or before any governmental or regulatory authority or arbitrator pending or, to the knowledge of the Purchaser Guarantor, threatened in writing against the Purchaser Guarantor or any of its subsidiaries or affecting any of their properties or assets; and (b) any litigation that has been settled for more than US\$1,000,000 since January 1, 2014 until the date hereof. Except as set forth in the Purchaser Guarantor Reports, neither the Purchaser Guarantor nor any of its subsidiaries is (or has been since January 1, 2014) a party to or subject to, or in default under, any order, decree or judgment of any court or any governmental or regulatory authority (*Orders*) that are material to the Purchaser Guarantor and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole.

7. Permits/compliance with laws

Except as would not be material to the Purchaser Guarantor and its subsidiaries taken as a whole, the Purchaser Guarantor and each subsidiary of the Purchaser Guarantor possess all Permits required under applicable laws to own, lease and operate its properties and assets and

to carry on its business as it is now being conducted (collectively, the *Purchaser Guarantor Permits*) and as of the date hereof there is no proceeding by or before any governmental or regulatory authority pending or, to the knowledge of the Purchaser Guarantor, threatened in writing regarding the revocation of any such Purchaser Guarantor Permit or a declaration of any such Purchaser Guarantor Permit as invalid. The Purchaser Guarantor and each of its subsidiaries is, and has been at all times since January 1, 2014, in compliance with all Permits and with all laws and Orders applicable to it or by or to which any of its properties or assets is bound or subject (other than with respect to Permits that are not material to the Purchaser Guarantor and its subsidiaries taken as a whole), and neither the Purchaser Guarantor nor any of its subsidiaries has received any notice alleging non-compliance (other than ordinary course regulatory audits and corresponding plans of correction that are not material to the Purchaser Guarantor and its subsidiaries taken as a whole).

Schedule 7 Conduct of the Purchaser Guarantor prior to Closing

Except as otherwise set forth on section 7 of the Purchaser Guarantor Schedules, as required by law or any applicable Order, as expressly permitted or required under the terms of this Deed or with the prior written consent of the Sellers' Representative, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned, during the period from the date of this Deed to the earlier of Closing or termination of this Deed in accordance with its terms, the Purchaser Guarantor shall, and the Purchaser Guarantor shall cause each subsidiary of Purchaser Guarantor to conduct its business in the ordinary course consistent with past practice. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, and except as otherwise set forth on section 7 of the Purchaser Guarantor Schedules, as required by law or any Order or as expressly permitted or required under the terms of the Deed, during the period from the date of this Deed through the earlier of Closing or termination of this Deed in accordance with its terms, the Purchaser Guarantor shall not, and the Purchaser Guarantor shall cause each of its subsidiaries not to, without the prior written consent of the Sellers' Representatives, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned:

- (a) amend the certificate of incorporation or by-laws or comparable organisational documents of the Purchaser Guarantor or any subsidiary;
- (b) issue, reissue, sell or pledge, or authorise or propose the issuance, reissuance, sale or pledge of, shares of capital stock of any class or series, or any securities convertible into capital stock of any class or series (other than upon exercise of the Purchaser Guarantor Options or vesting of Purchaser Guarantor Restricted Stock Units granted under the Purchaser Guarantor Incentive Plan or the issuance of Purchaser Guarantor Options, restricted shares of Acadia Common Stock or Purchaser Guarantor Restricted Stock Units under the Purchaser Guarantor Incentive Plan or any issue of Acadia Common Stock provided for under the terms of this Deed) of the Purchaser Guarantor or any of its subsidiaries, or grant or enter into any rights, warrants, options, agreements or commitments with respect to the issuance of such capital stock or convertible securities or amend any terms of any such right, warrant, option, agreement or commitment;
- (c) declare, set aside or pay any dividend or other distribution of assets in respect of any class or series of its capital stock, in each case, other than dividends and distributions by a subsidiary of the Purchaser Guarantor to the Purchaser Guarantor or a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Purchaser Guarantor:
- (d) adjust, split, combine, subdivide or reclassify any shares of its capital stock or any option, warrant or right relating thereto;
- (e) (i) sell, lease, transfer or otherwise dispose of any of its material properties, assets or rights, other than: (A) sales in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice; (B) dispositions of obsolete or unsalable inventory or equipment; or (C) transfers of other material properties, assets or rights in an amount not to exceed US\$100,000,000 in the aggregate; or (ii) acquire any properties, assets or rights in an amount in excess of US\$150,000,000 in the aggregate;
- (f) create, incur, assume or guarantee any financial indebtedness, other than: (i) pursuant to inter-company arrangements among or between the Purchaser Guarantor

and one or more of the subsidiaries or among or between the subsidiaries of the Purchaser Guarantor; (ii) borrowings (or incurrence of a repayment obligation in respect of letters of credit) permitted or not prohibited under the Purchaser Guarantor Credit Agreement; or (iii) the Purchaser's Debt Financing;

- (g) settle or compromise any claim, action, arbitration, suit or proceeding relating to the transactions contemplated by this Deed;
- (h) permit the Purchaser Guarantor to dissolve, wind-up or liquidate;
- (i) take any action that would reasonably be expected to prevent, materially impede or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Deed, or materially impair the Purchaser's or the Purchaser Guarantor's ability to perform its obligations under this Deed or consummate the transactions contemplated thereby;
- (j) take any action that would be reasonably expected to have a material adverse impact on the Purchaser's Financing; or
- (k) authorise, resolve, commit or agree (by contract or otherwise) to do any of the foregoing.

Schedule 8 Actions pending Closing

The following matters require prior approval by the Purchaser in accordance with and subject to clause 4.1:

- 1. any amendment to the articles of association of each Target Company;
- 2. any material change in the conduct of the Business;
- 3. any change in the share or loan capital of any Target Company or the creation, allotment, issue or acquisition of any shares or of any other security of any Target Company or the grant of any option or rights to subscribe for or to convert any instrument into such shares or securities or agree, arrange or undertake to do any of those things or acquire or agree to acquire an interest in an undertaking, save for: (i) from one Target Company to another Target Company; and (ii) the issuance of PIK Notes in accordance with the Loan Note Instruments;
- 4. entry into any agreement or incurrence of any commitment involving any capital expenditure in excess of the budgeted amount by more than £750,000 (inclusive of VAT) per item;
- 5. any amendment in a material manner or termination of any contract of the Business or waiver of any material right or benefit under any of contracts of the Business, in cases where such amendment, termination or waiver has an impact upon the value of such contract in excess of £3,000,000 (inclusive of VAT) per annum;
- 6. any acquisition, or agreement to acquire, or purchase substantially all the assets of, or otherwise acquire any business or any corporation, partnership, association or other business organisation or division thereof;
- 7. effecting any restructuring, reorganisation or complete or partial liquidation of any Target Company;
- 8. any disposal, lease, sublease, mortgage or pledge of fixed assets and equipment with an aggregate value of more than £500,000 owned by the Target Companies, or enter into any agreement regarding the foregoing excluding any mortgage or pledge arising in the ordinary course of business or by operation of law;
- 9. save as required by law:
 - (i) making any material amendment to the terms and conditions of employment of any Management Employee (other than any annual increases in emoluments made in the ordinary and usual course of business or in connection with law, in which case the Sellers' Representatives shall notify the Purchaser of such increases as soon as reasonably practicable);
 - (ii) terminating the employment of any Management Employee (other than for gross misconduct); or
 - (iii) discontinuing, commencing to wind up or terminating the Pension Schemes (as defined the Management Warranty Deed);

- 10. the adoption or variation of any share option or share incentive scheme or employee share trust or share ownership plan or retirement benefit scheme;
- 11. (i) save for a budgeted salary increase of 1.5 per cent. proposed to take effect from April 2016, implementing or agreeing to implement a discretionary rise in salary for all employees of the Target Companies; (ii) save for the bonus scheme operated, or to be operated by the Target Companies known as the "BDM Commission Schemes 2016", establishing, in relation to the financial year ending on 31 December 2016, any new bonus or incentive scheme for the benefit of any employee of the Target Companies other than any such scheme for the benefit of any Relevant Employee provided that any such scheme will be on substantially similar terms to the scheme in place for those employees for the financial year ending on 31 December 2015; or (iii) entering into any settlement or compromise agreement with any employee of a Target Company pursuant to the terms of which the relevant employee is or would be entitled to receive from the Target Company which employs or employed him a sum that is greater than 150% of what he would otherwise be entitled to pursuant to applicable law or his contract of employment; or
- 12. any drawdown under the Revolving Credit Facility (but excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, any rollover or repayment of the existing indebtedness of the Target Companies under the Revolving Credit Facility).

Schedule 9 Definitions and interpretation

1. Definitions

In this Deed, the following words and expressions shall have the following meanings:

A *Ordinary Share Price* means, in respect of a Seller, the amount set out opposite such Seller's name in column 3 and, following adjustment in accordance with clause 4.11, column 5 of Part A and column 3 and, following adjustment in accordance with clause 4.11, column 5 of Part C of the Allocation Table;

A Ordinary Shares means the class A ordinary shares with a nominal value of £0.001 each in the capital of the Company;

Acadia Common Stock means the common stock, US\$0.01 par value per share, of the Purchaser Guarantor;

Acadia Common Stock Consideration means 5,363,000 shares of Acadia Common Stock;

Acadia Common Stock Consideration Amount means an amount equal to US\$337,547,220;

Acadia Common Stock Reduction Shares has the meaning given in clause 2.5(c);

Acadia Publicly Issued Shares has the meaning given in clause 4.6(a);

Act means the Enterprise Act 2002;

Action means any action, claim, suit, arbitration, litigation, proceeding or governmental investigation;

Additional Notes Debt means, in respect of a Seller, an amount equal to all interest (whether arising or accruing, or satisfied through the issue of "payment in kind" notes, in each case on a daily basis based on a 365-day year) on the Loan Notes held by that Seller arising or accruing in the period from but excluding the date of this Deed to and including the Closing Date;

Additional Preference Share Price means, in respect of a Seller, an amount equal to the amount of all dividends (whether arising or accruing, in each case on a daily basis based on a 365-day year) on the Preference Shares held by that Seller arising or accruing in the period from but excluding the date of this Deed to and including the Closing Date;

Adjusted Acadia Placing Stock has the meaning given in clause 2.5(b);

Affiliate means

(a) in the case of a person which is a body corporate, any subsidiary undertaking or parent undertaking of that person and any subsidiary undertaking of any such parent undertaking or any entity which manages and/or advises any such entity, in each case from time to time;

- (b) in the case of a person which is an individual, any spouse, co-habitee and/or lineal descendants by blood or adoption or any person or persons acting in its or their capacity as trustees of a trust of which such individual is the settler;
- (c) in the case of a person which is a limited partnership, the partners of the person or their nominees or a nominee or trustee for the person, or any investors in a fund which holds interests, directly or indirectly, in the limited partnership or any entity which manages and/or advises any such entity; and
- (d) any Affiliate of any person in paragraphs (a) to (c) above,

but shall not include any Target Company;

Agreed Form means, in relation to a document, the form of that document which has been initialled on the date of this Deed for the purpose of identification by or on behalf of each Sellers' Representative and the Purchaser (in each case with such amendments as may be agreed in writing by or on behalf of each Sellers' Representative and the Purchaser);

Agreed Leakage Amount has the meaning given in clause 12.5;

Agreed Threshold Share Price means the share price specified in the document entitled "Agreed Threshold Share Price" in the Agreed Form;

Allocation Table means the Agreed Form of the allocation table;

Amended Registration Rights Agreement means the amended registration rights agreement entered into on the date of this Deed between, amongst others, the Purchaser Guarantor and the Institutional Sellers;

Articles means the articles of association of the Company adopted by a special resolution passed on 27 August 2014;

B Ordinary Share Price means, in respect of a Seller, the amount set out opposite such Seller's name in column 7 and, following adjustment in accordance with clause 4.11, column 9 of Part C of the Allocation Table;

B Ordinary Shares means the class B ordinary shares with a nominal value of £0.001 each in the capital of the Company;

Bond Issuer means Priory Group No. 3 plc;

Business means the business of the Target Companies as carried on at the date of this Deed;

Business Day means a day other than a Saturday or Sunday or public holiday in England or the United States of America on which banks are open in London and New York for general commercial business;

C Ordinary Share Price means, in respect of a Seller, the amount set out opposite such Seller's name in column 3 and, following adjustment in accordance with clause 4.11, column 5 of Part B and column 11 and, following adjustment in accordance with clause 4.11, column 13 of Part C of the Allocation Table;

C Ordinary Shares means the class C ordinary shares with a nominal value of £0.001 each in the capital of the Company;

Cash Consideration Increase Amount has the meaning given in clause 2.5(c);

Cash Deduction has the meaning given in clause 2.4;

Claim means any claim under or for breach of this Deed including, without limitation, any claim for breach of the Sellers' Warranties and any claim for Leakage;

Closing means completion of the sale and purchase of the Shares in accordance with the provisions of this Deed;

Closing Date means 16 February 2016 or such different date as may be agreed between the Purchaser and the Institutional Sellers' Representative;

Closing Statement has the meaning given in clause 4.10;

CMA means the Competition and Markets Authority;

Companies Act means the UK Companies Act 2006;

Company means Priory Group No. 1 Limited, a company incorporated in England and Wales (company number: 7480152) having its registered office at Fifth Floor, 80 Hammersmith Road, London W14 8UD;

Company's Account means the account of Priory Central Services Limited with sort code 20-00-00 and account number 13458571 (and/or such other account(s) as the Company and the Purchaser may agree in writing);

Compliant means, with respect to the Required Target Financial Information, that:

- (a) such Required Target Financial Information is compliant in all material respects with all requirements of Regulation S-X under the Securities Act (excluding information required by Regulation S-X Rule 3-09, Regulation S-X Rule 3-10 and Regulation S-X Rule 3-16) applicable to non-U.S. target companies of a reporting U.S. company offering securities on a registration statement on Form S-11
- (b) the Target Companies' auditors have not withdrawn any audit opinion with respect to any financial statements contained in the Required Target Financial Information; and
- (c) with respect to any interim financial statements, such interim financial statements have been reviewed by the Target Companies' auditors as provided in the procedures specified by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board in AU 722 or under International Standard on Review Engagements 2410;

Confidential Information has the meaning given in clause 16.1;

Connected Persons has the meaning given in clause 23;

Consideration Deduction Amount has the meaning given in clause 3(c);

Costs means all damages, losses, charges, liabilities, Actions, payments, judgments, settlements, interest, penalties, costs and expenses reasonably incurred (including, in each case, tax incurred thereon);

Covered Person has the meaning given in clause 11.2;

D Ordinary Share Price means, in respect of a Seller, the amount set out opposite such Seller's name in column 7 and, following adjustment in accordance with clause 4.11, column 9 of Part A and column 15 and, following adjustment in accordance with clause 4.11, column 17 of Part C of the Allocation Table;

D Ordinary Shares means the class D ordinary shares with a nominal value of: (i) £0.001; or (ii) £500, each in the capital of the Company;

Data Room means the virtual data room administered by Merrill DataSite comprising the documents and other information relating to the Target Companies and the Business as listed on the data room index in the Agreed Form;

Debt Commitment Agreement means the debt commitment letter delivered by the Purchaser to the Sellers' Representatives on the date hereof, together with any fee letters (in a customarily redacted form), in each case, as amended, supplemented or replaced in compliance with this Deed relating to the provision of financing to the Purchaser or any member of the Purchaser Group for the purpose of the Proposed Transaction;

Debt Financing Sources means the persons, other than the Purchaser, Purchaser Guarantor and any other member of the Purchaser's Group, that have committed to provide or arrange or otherwise entered into agreements in connection with the Purchaser's Debt Financing or other financings in connection with the Proposed Transaction, and parties to any joinder agreements, indentures or credit agreements entered pursuant thereto or relating thereto, together with their respective Affiliates, and their respective Affiliates' officers, directors, employees, agents and representatives and their respective successors and assigns;

Debt Security means the security constituted by the Transaction Security Documents (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility Agreement);

Deed of Adherence means a deed substantially in the form set out in Schedule 5;

Deed of Release means one or more deeds of release and DS1 forms (and any equivalent release document(s) or form(s) required in Scotland and/or the Cayman Islands) pursuant to which all of the Debt Security shall be released on the Closing Date, subject to receipt by the relevant recipients of the Senior Secured Bond Payoff Amount, the Senior Unsecured Bond Payoff Amount and the Outstanding RCF Debt and (notwithstanding the determination of a "material obligation" pursuant to clause 5.13), on the basis that the delivery of the DS1 forms (and any equivalent release document(s) or form(s) required in Scotland and/or the Cayman Islands) shall not be deemed to be a material obligation in respect of any Seller for the purposes of clause 5.13;

Default Interest means interest at LIBOR plus four per cent.;

Disclosure Letter means the disclosure letter from the Warrantors (as defined therein) to the Purchaser dated the date of this Deed;

E1 Ordinary Share Price means, in respect of a Seller, the amount set out opposite such Seller's name in column 7 and, following adjustment in accordance with clause 4.11, column 9 of Part B of the Allocation Table and column 19 and, following adjustment in accordance with clause 4.11, column 21 of Part C of the Allocation Table:

E1 Ordinary Shares means the class E1 ordinary shares with a nominal value of £0.001 each in the capital of the Company;

E2 Ordinary Share Price means, in respect of a Seller, the amount set out opposite such Seller's name in column 23 and, following adjustment in accordance with clause 4.11, column 25 of Part C of the Allocation Table;

E2 Ordinary Shares means the class E2 ordinary shares with a nominal value of £0.001 each in the capital of the Company;

Election Notice has the meaning given in clause 2.6;

Equity Financing Sources means the underwriters of the Public Equity Offering, together with their respective Affiliates, and their respective Affiliates' officers, directors, employees, agents and representatives and their respective successors and assigns;

Equity Proceeds means the net proceeds actually received by the Purchaser Guarantor in connection with the Public Equity Offering (including net proceeds actually received by the Purchaser Guarantor in connection with the Option Closing provided the Option Closing occurs prior to the date that is five Business Days before the Closing Date), less the amount of all fees, costs and expenses (including underwriting discounts and commissions) incurred or to be incurred by the Purchaser Group or arising in connection with the Public Equity Offering;

Executive Management Team Members means Tom Riall, Mark Moran, Trevor Torrington, Mark Underwood, Sarah Hughes, Sam Rogers, David Hall, Claire Balmforth, Tina Walton, Adrian Pancott, Christopher Screech, Tom Muir, Sylvia Tang and Sian Wicks;

Fund VI Affiliate means Advent International GPE VI Limited Partnership, Advent International, GPE VI-A Limited Partnership, Advent International GPE VI-B Limited Partnership, Advent International GPE VI-C Limited Partnership, Advent International GPE VI-D Limited Partnership, Advent International GPE VI-E Limited Partnership, Advent International GPE VI-F Limited Partnership, Advent International GPE VI-G Limited Partnership, Advent Partners GPE VI 2008 Limited Partnership, Advent Partners GPE VI 2010 Limited Partnership, Advent Partners GPE VI-A Limited Partnership and Advent Partners GPE VI-A 2010 Limited Partnership;

GAAP means U.S. generally accepted accounting principles;

Individual Seller means Tom Riall;

Initial Acadia Common Stock Reduction Shares has the meaning given in clause 2.5(b);

Initial Cash Consideration Increase Amount has the meaning given in clause 2.5(a);

Initial Cash Price means, in respect of a Seller, an amount equal to the aggregate of the relevant: (a) Initial Ordinary Share Price; and (b) Initial Preference Share Price, as applicable;

Initial Ordinary Share Price means, in respect of a Seller, an amount equal to the aggregate of the relevant: (a) A Ordinary Share Price; (b) B Ordinary Share Price; (c) C Ordinary Share Price; (d) D Ordinary Share Price; (e) E1 Ordinary Share Price; and (f) E2 Ordinary Share Price;

Initial Notes Debt means, in respect of a Seller, the amount set out opposite such Seller's name in column 14 of Part A and column 30 of Part C of the Allocation Table;

Initial Preference Share Price means, in respect of a Seller, the amount set out opposite such Seller's name in column 11 of Part A and column 27 of Part C of the Allocation Table;

Initial Seller Acadia Placing Shares has the meaning given in clause 2.5(a);

Institutional Sellers' Account means such bank account(s) of the Institutional Sellers as the Institutional Sellers' Representative notifies to the Purchaser in writing no less than five Business Days prior to Closing;

Institutional Sellers' Pricing Representative means Tom Allen (Managing Director) of Advent International plc, unless the Institutional Sellers' Representative elects to nominate (by notice in writing to the Purchaser) such other person of Advent International plc in his place, in which case that person shall be the Institutional Sellers' Pricing Representative;

Institutional Sellers' Representative has the meaning given in clause 10.1;

Investment Documents means:

- (a) the investment agreement entered into between, amongst others, the Institutional Sellers and the Company on 17 January 2011 (as amended and restated from time to time);
- (b) the put and call option agreement dated on or around 4 March 2011 between, amongst others, the Company, the Trustee and certain of the Management Sellers; and

(c) the call option deed dated 4 March 2011 between Advent Therapy (Luxembourg) S.à r.l., Jason Lock, David Hall and Sam Rogers;

knowledge of the Purchaser Guarantor means the actual knowledge of Joey Jacobs (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer), Brent Turner (President), David Duckworth (Chief Financial Officer) and Christopher L. Howard (EVP, General Counsel and Secretary);

Leakage means, in each case to, or on behalf of, or for the benefit of a Seller or any of its Affiliates:

- (a) any dividend or distribution (whether in cash or in kind) declared, paid or made by any Target Company;
- (b) any payments made or agreed (whether in cash or in kind) to be made by any Target Company in respect of any share capital or loan capital of any Target Company being redeemed, purchased or repaid, or any other return of capital (whether by reduction of capital or redemption or purchase of shares) by any Target Company;
- (c) the assumption of any liability, or any undertaking to assume, indemnify, guarantee or secure any such liability, of a Seller or any of its Affiliates by a Target Company;
- (d) the purchase or sale by any Target Company from a Seller or any of its Affiliates of any assets other than on arm's length terms;
- (e) any transaction between a Target Company and a Seller or any of its Affiliates that is not on arm's length terms;
- (f) any fees (including directors' fees or monitoring fees) paid by any Target Company (excluding any VAT in respect of the fees which is recoverable by the Target Companies by repayment or credit);
- (g) the waiver, deferral or release by any Target Company of any amount owed to that Target Company or any assumption or discharge of any liability (including in relation to any recharging of costs of any kind) by any Target Company;
- (h) any payments made, or liabilities incurred, by any Target Company to any third party in connection with the preparation for, negotiation of, or implementation of the Proposed Transaction (including any transaction, advisory or retention bonuses, fees or commissions for management (including any income tax, national insurance contributions or social security contributions relating to any such bonuses and payable by a Target Company) or Sellers' Transaction Costs (excluding any VAT in respect of the costs which is recoverable by the Target Companies by repayment or credit) payable, in each case, in connection with the preparation for, negotiation of, or implementation of the Proposed Transaction); and
- (i) any agreement or arrangement made or entered into by any Target Company to do or give effect to any matter referred to in (a) to (h) above, but, in each case, does not include Permitted Leakage;

LIBOR means the display rate per annum of the offered quotation for deposits in pounds sterling for a period of one month which appears on the appropriate page of the Reuters Screen (or such other page as the parties may agree) at or about 11.00 a.m. London time on the date on which payment of the sum under this Deed was due but not paid;

Liens means lien, security interest, mortgage, pledge, charge or similar matter affecting title, or other encumbrance;

Loan Note Instruments means: (i) the unsecured loan note instrument executed by the Company dated 4 March 2011 constituting £130,000,000 unsecured subordinated loan notes and unsecured PIK notes due 2060; and (ii) the unsecured loan note instrument executed by the Company dated 14 April 2011 constituting £51,548,613 unsecured subordinated loan notes and unsecured PIK notes due 2057;

Loan Notes means the unsecured subordinated loan notes constituted by the Loan Note Instruments;

Locked Box Date means 31 October 2015;

Management Employee means each of the Executive Management Team Members and the Specialist Directors (as defined in the Management Warranty Deed);

Management Sellers' Account means the DLA Piper UK LLP Client Account with sort code 60-60-05 and account number 86467654 (and/or such other account(s) as the Management Sellers' Representative and the Purchaser may agree in writing);

Management Sellers' Representative has the meaning given in clause 10.1;

Management Warranty Deed means the management warranty deed entered into on or around the date hereof between the Warrantors (as defined therein) and the Purchaser;

Notes means the Loan Notes and the PIK Notes;

Option Acadia Common Stock Reduction Shares has the meaning given in clause 2.5(c);

Option Cash Consideration Increase Amount has the meaning given in clause 2.5(c);

Option Closing means any closing related to the exercise by the underwriters in the Public Equity Offering of the option (granted to them by the Purchaser Guarantor in the underwriting agreement entered into in connection with the Public Equity Offering) to acquire (or be issued) additional shares of Acadia Common Stock;

Ordinary Shares means the A Ordinary Shares, the B Ordinary Shares, the C Ordinary Shares, the D Ordinary Shares, the E1 Ordinary Shares and the E2 Ordinary Shares;

Outstanding Debt means together the Outstanding Notes Debt and the Outstanding RCF Debt;

Outstanding Notes Debt means the aggregate of the Initial Notes Debt and the Additional Notes Debt;

Outstanding RCF Debt means the aggregate amount required to be paid by the Target Companies in order to: (i) discharge all amounts outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility Agreement (and to cancel the facility made available thereunder) and the other Finance Documents (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility Agreement); and (ii) release the Debt Security, in each case on the Closing Date (including, without limitation, all amounts of principal, accrued interest, fees, costs, expenses and break costs);

parent undertaking has the meaning given in the Companies Act;

Permits means approvals, authorisations, licences, registrations and permits of governmental or regulatory authorities;

Permitted Leakage means those items of Leakage detailed in Schedule 3;

PIK Notes means the "payment in kind" notes constituted by the Loan Note Instruments;

Preference Shares means the 12 per cent. cumulative redeemable preference shares with a nominal value of £1.00 each in the capital of the Company;

Pricing Date means the date on which the Public Equity Offering Price is determined as between the Purchaser Guarantor and the lead underwriter of the Public Equity Offering and on which the underwriting agreement in connection with the Public Equity Offering is signed;

Proposed Transaction means the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents;

Pro Rata means, with respect to an Institutional Seller, the proportion of the aggregate amount of consideration to be received by that Institutional Seller as against the aggregate amount of consideration to be received by all Institutional Sellers, in each case under the terms of this Deed (in each case disregarding for this purpose the application of clauses 2.4 to 2.6);

Public Equity Offering has the meaning given in clause 4.5;

Public Equity Offering Price means the initial public offering price per share of Acadia Common Stock paid by investors in the Public Equity Offering;

Public Offering has the meaning given in clause 4.5;

Purchaser Credit Agreement means the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of December 31, 2012 among Acadia, the subsidiaries of the Acadia party thereto, Bank of America, N.A. as administrative agent, swing line lender and L/C issuer and the other parties thereto (as amended, modified or otherwise supplemented prior to the date hereof);

Purchaser Debt Agreements means the Purchaser Credit Agreement and the Purchaser Indentures;

Purchaser Group means the Purchaser and its Affiliates from time to time;

Purchaser Guaranteed Obligations has the meaning given in clause 14.1;

Purchaser Guarantor Credit Agreement means that certain Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of December 31, 2012 (as amended by that certain Consent and First Amendment dated as of March 11, 2013, as further amended by that certain Second Amendment dated as of June 28, 2013, as further amended by that certain Third Amendment dated as of September 30, 2013, as further amended by that certain Fourth Amendment dated as of February 13, 2014, as further amended by that certain Fifth Amendment dated as of June 16, 2014 and as may be further amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time), by and among the Purchaser Guarantor, certain of the Purchaser Guarantor's subsidiaries as guarantors, the financial institutions from time to time party thereto as lenders, and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent for the lenders;

Purchaser Guarantor Reports means all reports, schedules, forms, statements, certifications and other documents filed by the Purchaser Guarantor with the SEC from January 1, 2015 to the close of business of the second Business Day prior to the date hereof;

Purchaser Guarantor Warranties means the warranties given by the Purchaser Guarantor pursuant to clause 7 and Schedule 6;

Purchaser Indentures means (1) the Indenture dated as of March 12, 2013, by and among the Borrower, the subsidiaries of the Borrower party thereto and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee and the 6.125% notes issued thereunder, (2) the indenture dated as of July 4, 2014, by and among the Borrower, the subsidiaries of the Borrower party thereto and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee and the 5.125% notes issued thereunder) and (3) the indenture dated as of February 11, 2015, by and among the Borrower, the subsidiaries of the Borrower party thereto and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee and the 5.625% notes issued thereunder, in each case as amended, modified for supplemented prior to the date hereof;

Purchaser Obligation means any representation, warranty or undertaking to pay given by the Purchaser to the Sellers (or any of them) under this Deed;

Purchaser Warranties means the warranties given by the Purchaser and the Purchaser Guarantor pursuant to clause 7;

Purchaser's Bank Account means such bank account(s) of the Purchaser as the Purchaser notifies to the Sellers' Representatives in writing no less than five Business Days prior to Closing;

Purchaser's Counsel means Andrew Edge (failing which another partner in the corporate department) of Stephenson Harwood LLP, 1 Finsbury Circus, London EC2M 7SH;

Purchaser's Debt Financing means the financings incurred or intended to be incurred pursuant to the Debt Commitment Agreement;

Purchaser's Financing means, collectively, the Purchaser's Debt Financing and the Public Equity Offering;

Regulation S means Regulation S under the Securities Act;

Relevant Affiliate means each Fund VI Affiliate, Advent International plc and Advent International Corporation;

Relevant Employee means any employee of a Target Company who is classified as a tier 1, tier 2, tier 3, tier 4, tier 5 or tier 6 employee for the purposes of that Target Company's personnel records;

Relevant Seller has the meaning given in clause 12.5;

Relief includes, unless the context otherwise requires, any allowance, credit, deduction, exemption or set off in respect of any tax or relevant to the computation of any income, profits or gains for the purposes of any tax, or any right to or actual repayment of or saving of tax (including any repayment supplement, fee or interest in respect of tax);

Representatives has the meaning given in clause 16.1;

Required Target Financial Information has the meaning given in clause 4.1(b)(i);

Revised Schedule has the meaning given in clause 4.11;

Revolving Credit Facility Agreement means the senior revolving facility agreement entered into between, amongst others, Priory Group No.3 plc, the Arranger (as defined therein) and the Original Lenders (as defined therein) on 3 February 2011 (as amended and/or amended and restated from time to time):

Sarbanes-Oxley Act means Sarbanes-Oxley Act 2002, as amended and the applicable rules and regulations thereunder;

SEC means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission;

Securities Act means the United States Securities Act of 1933;

Seller Obligation means any representation, warranty or undertaking to pay given by the Sellers (or any of them) to the Purchaser under this Deed;

Sellers' Disclosed Transaction Costs means the Sellers' Transaction Costs as set out in the Closing Statement;

Sellers' Representatives means the Institutional Sellers' Representative and the Management Sellers' Representative;

Sellers' Transaction Costs means any professional fees, expenses or other costs paid or agreed to be paid or incurred or owing by any Target Company in connection with the implementation of the Proposed Transaction (including any bonuses paid or payable in connection with the implementation of the Proposed Transaction and any

income tax, national insurance contributions or social security contributions relating to any such bonuses and payable by a Target Company), or the potential initial public offering of any of the Target Companies or any holding company of any of the Target Companies, or to Knight Frank in relation to a valuation report, since the Locked Box Date (but excluding such costs and expenses referred to in clause 4.9(a));

Sellers' Warranties means the warranties given by the Sellers pursuant to clause 6;

Senior Secured Bonds means the 7% senior secured notes due 2018 issued by the Bond Issuer pursuant to the Senior Secured Bond Indenture, which are outstanding in the principal amount of £386,300,000;

Senior Secured Bond Indenture means the indenture dated 3 February 2011 between Priory Group No. 3 plc (formerly Crown Newco 3 plc) and Deutsche Trustee Company Limited, as trustee, Deutsche Bank AG London Branch, as security agent, principal paying agent, and transfer agent, and Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A., as registrar, Luxembourg paying agent and transfer agent;

Senior Secured Bond Payoff Amount means an amount sufficient to pay in full the principal of, premium, if any, interest and other fees, costs, expenses and other amounts due on the Senior Secured Bonds or under the Senior Secured Notes Documents (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility Agreement) in order to: (i) redeem the Senior Secured Bonds in full; and (ii) release the Debt Security, in each case on the Closing Date;

Senior Secured Bond Trustee means Deutsche Trustee Company Limited, as trustee;

Senior Unsecured Bonds means the 8.875% senior unsecured notes due 2019 issued by the Bond Issuer pursuant to the Senior Unsecured Bond Indenture, which are outstanding in the principal amount of £175,000,000;

Senior Unsecured Bond Indenture means the indenture dated 3 February 2011 between Priory Group No. 3 plc (formerly Crown Newco 3 plc) and Deutsche Trustee Company Limited, as trustee, Deutsche Bank AG London Branch, as principal paying agent and transfer agent, and Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A. as registrar, Luxembourg paying agent and transfer agent;

Senior Unsecured Bond Payoff Amount means an amount sufficient to pay in full the principal of, premium, if any, interest and other fees, costs, expenses and other amounts due on the Senior Unsecured Bonds or under the Senior Unsecured Notes Documents (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility) in order to redeem the Senior Unsecured Bonds in full on the Closing Date;

Senior Unsecured Bond Trustee means Deutsche Trustee Company Limited, as trustee;

Share Price means the aggregate of an amount equal to the Initial Cash Price and the Additional Preference Share Price for all Sellers;

Shares means the shares in the capital of the Company set out in the Allocation Table, comprising the A Ordinary Shares, the B Ordinary Shares, the C Ordinary Shares, the D Ordinary Shares, the E1 Ordinary Shares, the E2 Ordinary Shares and the Preference Shares;

subsidiary undertaking has the meaning given in the Companies Act;

Surviving Provisions means clauses 12.5 (Payments), 15 (Announcements), 16 (Confidentiality), 19 (Assignment), 20 (Costs), 21 (Notices), 0 (Conflict with other agreements), 23 (Whole agreement), 25 (Waiver, rights and remedies), 28 (Variations), 29 (Invalidity), 30 (Third party enforcement rights), 31 (Governing law and jurisdiction) and Schedule 9 (Definitions and interpretation);

Target Companies means the Company and its subsidiary undertakings, and Target Company means any of them;

tax or taxation means: (a) taxes on income, profits and gains; and (b) all other taxes, levies, duties, imposts, charges and withholdings in the nature of taxation, including any excise, property, value added, sales, transfer, franchise and payroll taxes, and any national insurance or social security contributions, together with all penalties, charges, fees and interest relating to any of the foregoing or to any late or incorrect return in respect of any of them;

Tax Authority means any taxing or other authority (whether within or outside the United Kingdom) competent to impose any tax liability or assess or collect any tax;

Tax Liabilities Amount has the meaning given in clause 3(a);

Third Party Right means any interest or equity of any person (including any right to acquire, option or right of pre-emption or conversion) or any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien, assignment, hypothecation, security interest, title retention or any other security agreement or arrangement, or any agreement to create any of the above;

Transaction Documents means this Deed, the Management Warranty Deed, the Disclosure Letter and any other documents in Agreed Form;

Trustee's Account means the account of ATJL Priory Equity Plan Employee Trust with sort code 16-10-28 and account number 50791241 (and/or such other account(s) as the Trustee and the Purchaser may agree in writing);

VAT means value added tax and any similar sales or turnover tax; and

Working Hours means 9.30am to 5.30pm in the relevant location on a Business Day.

2. Interpretation

In this Deed, unless the context otherwise requires:

(a) references to a *person* include any individual, firm, body corporate (wherever incorporated), government, state or agency of a state or any joint venture, association, partnership, works council or employee representative body (whether or not having separate legal personality);

- (b) headings do not affect the interpretation of this Deed; the singular shall include the plural and vice versa; and references to one gender include all genders;
- (c) references to any English legal term or concept shall, in respect of any jurisdiction other than England, be construed as references to the term or concept which most nearly corresponds to it in that jurisdiction;
- (d) references to sterling or pounds sterling or £ are references to the lawful currency from time to time of England;
- (e) for the purposes of applying a reference to a monetary sum expressed in sterling, an amount in a different currency shall be deemed to be an amount in sterling translated at the Exchange Rate at the relevant date; and
- (f) any phrase introduced by the terms *including*, *include*, *in particular* or any similar expression shall be construed as illustrative and shall not limit the sense of the words preceding those terms.

3. Enactments

Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Deed, any express reference to an enactment (which includes any legislation in any jurisdiction) includes references to: (i) that enactment as amended, consolidated or re-enacted by or under any other enactment before or after the date of this Deed; (ii) any enactment which that enactment re-enacts (with or without modification); and (iii) any subordinate legislation (including regulations) made (before or after the date of this Deed) under that enactment, as amended, consolidated or re-enacted as described at (i) or (ii) above, except to the extent that any of the matters referred to in (i) to (iii) occurs after the date of this Deed and increases or alters the liability of the Sellers or the Purchaser under this Deed.

4. Schedules

The Schedules comprise schedules to this Deed and form part of this Deed.

5. Inconsistencies

Where there is any inconsistency between the definitions set out in this Schedule and the definitions set out in any clause or any other Schedule, then, for the purposes of construing such clause or Schedule, the definitions set out in such clause or Schedule shall prevail.

6. Several undertakings

Except as otherwise provided in this Deed, the obligations of each of the Sellers under this Deed are entered into on a several basis and no claim may be made against any Seller in respect of the performance of any obligations under, or any breach of, this Deed by any other Seller.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF this Deed has been duly executed by the parties and is intended to be and is hereby delivered on the date first above written.		
EXECUTED AS A DEED		
for and on behalf of		
ADVENT THERAPY	/s/ Myriam Deltenre	
(LUXEMBOURG) S.À R.L.	/s/ Fergal O'Hannrachain	
acting by, a Manager)		
In the presence of:		
Signature of witness:	/s/ Linda Harroch	
Name of witness:	Harroch Linda	
Address:	2 Rue Peternelchen, Luxenbourg	
Occupation:	Lawyer	
EXECUTED AS A DEED)		
for and on behalf of	/ (NC 1 - D):	
ADVENT MIRO	/s/ Myriam Deltenre	
LUXEMBOURG HOLDING S.À R.L.	/s/ Fergal O'Hannrachain	
acting by, a Manager)		
In the presence of:		
Signature of witness:	/s/ Linda Harroch	
Name of witness:	Harroch Linda	
Address:	2 Rue Peternelchen, Luxenbourg	
Occupation:	Lawyer	
EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of ADVENT MIRO	/s/ Myriam Deltenre	
LUXEMBOURG FINANCE S.À R.L.	/s/ Fergal O'Hannrachain	
acting by, a Manager)	70 Telgar O Taminaciani	
In the presence of:		
Signature of witness:	/s/ Linda Harroch	
Name of witness:	Harroch Linda	
Address:	2 Rue Peternelchen, Luxenbourg	
Occupation:	Lawyer	
•		

EXECUTED AS A DEED)
for and on behalf of	
ADVENT THERAPY) /s/ Myriam Deltenre
(LUXEMBOURG) FINANCE S.À R.L.) /s/ Fergal O'Hannrachain
acting by, a Manager)
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness:	/s/ Linda Harroch
Name of witness:	Harroch Linda
Address:	2 Rue Peternelchen, Luxenbourg
Occupation:	Lawyer
EXECUTED AS A DEED)
for and on behalf of) /s/ Patrick Jones
APPLEBY TRUST	<u> </u>
(JERSEY) LIMITED)
in its capacity as trustee of the)
PRIORY EQUITY PLAN) /s/ Brendan Dowling
EMPLOYEE TRUST	
acting by two authorised signatories)
EVECUTED AC A DEED	s (d) Partial Trans
EXECUTED AS A DEED) /s/ Patrick Jones
for and on behalf of	
APPLEBY TRUST	
(JERSEY) LIMITED) /s/ Pronden Doviling
in its capacity as nominee) /s/ Brendan Dowling
for the Management Sellers	J)
acting by two authorised signatories)

)) /s/ David Hall
)
/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon 80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD Head of Commercial Contracts
)) /s/ David Hall)
/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon 80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD Head of Commercial Contracts
))) /s/ David Hall)
/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon 80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD Head of Commercial Contracts

EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of SAM ROGERS acting by David Hall, his attorney))) <u>/s/ David Hall</u>)
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness: Name of witness: Address: Occupation:	/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon 80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD Head of Commercial Contracts
EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of FLAVIA ROGERS acting by David Hall, his attorney)) /s/ David Hall)
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness: Name of witness: Address: Occupation:	/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon 80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD Head of Commercial Contracts
EXECUTED AS A DEED by DAVID HALL) o /s/ David Hall
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness: Name of witness: Address: Occupation:	/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon 80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD Head of Commercial Contracts

EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of ANGELA HALL acting by David Hall, her attorney))) <u>/s/ David Hall</u>)
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness: Name of witness: Address: Occupation:	/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon 80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD Head of Commercial Contracts
EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of TREVOR TORRINGTON acting by David Hall, his attorney)) /s/ David Hall)
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness: Name of witness: Address: Occupation:	/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon 80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD Head of Commercial Contracts
EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of MARK UNDERWOOD acting by David Hall, his attorney))) <u>/s/ David Hall</u>)
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness: Name of witness: Address: Occupation:	/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon 80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD Head of Commercial Contracts

EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of CHRIS SCREECH)	/s/ David Hall
acting by David Hall, his attorney	
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness: Name of witness: Address: Occupation:	/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon 80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD Head of Commercial Contracts
EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of SARAH HUGHES acting by David Hall, her attorney	/s/ David Hall
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness: Name of witness: Address: Occupation:	/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon 80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD Head of Commercial Contracts
EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of SIAN WICKS acting by David Hall, her attorney	/s/ David Hall
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness: Name of witness: Address: Occupation:	/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon 80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD Head of Commercial Contracts

EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of TINA WALTON acting by David Hall, her attorney)) <u>/s/ David Hall</u>)
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness: Name of witness: Address: Occupation:	/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon 80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD Head of Commercial Contracts
EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of CLAIRE BALMFORTH acting by David Hall, her attorney)) <u>/s/ David Hall</u>
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness: Name of witness: Address: Occupation:	/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon 80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD Head of Commercial Contracts
EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of NIGEL MYERS acting by David Hall, his attorney)
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness: Name of witness: Address: Occupation:	/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon 80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD Head of Commercial Contracts

EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of STEVE TRAVERS)	/s/ David Hall
acting by David Hall, his attorney)	
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness: Name of witness: Address: Occupation:	/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon 80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD Head of Commercial Contracts
EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of ADRIAN DALLISON acting by David Hall, his attorney)	/s/ David Hall
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness: Name of witness: Address: Occupation:	/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon 80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD Head of Commercial Contracts
EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of JIM LEE acting by David Hall, his attorney	/s/ David Hall
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness: Name of witness: Address: Occupation:	/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon 80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD Head of Commercial Contracts

EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of ANNIE MEHARG))) /s/ David Hall
acting by David Hall, her attorney)
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness: Name of witness: Address:	/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon 80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD
Occupation:	Head of Commercial Contracts
EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of DAVID WATTS acting by David Hall, his attorney)) /s/ David Hall)
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness: Name of witness: Address: Occupation:	/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon 80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD Head of Commercial Contracts
EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of SYLVIA TANG acting by David Hall, her attorney))) /s/ David Hall)
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness: Name of witness: Address:	/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon 80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD
Occupation:	Head of Commercial Contracts

EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of TOM MUIR	/s/ David Hall
acting by David Hall, his attorney	
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness:	/s/ Matthew Dillon
Name of witness:	Matthew Dillon
Address:	80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD
Occupation:	Head of Commercial Contracts
EXECUTED AS A DEED	
for and on behalf of	
STEPHEN McANDREW	/s/ David Hall
acting by David Hall, his attorney	
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness:	/s/ Matthew Dillon
Name of witness:	Matthew Dillon
Address:	80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD
Occupation:	Head of Commercial Contracts
EXECUTED AS A DEED	
for and on behalf of	
JAMES WILLIS	/s/ David Hall
acting by David Hall, his attorney	
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness:	/s/ Matthew Dillon
Name of witness:	Matthew Dillon
Address:	80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD
Occupation:	Head of Commercial Contracts

EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of SIMON COLES)	/s/ David Hall
acting by David Hall, his attorney	
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness:	/s/ Matthew Dillon
Name of witness:	Matthew Dillon
Address: Occupation:	80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD Head of Commercial Contracts
Occupation.	nead of Confinercial Contracts
EXECUTED AS A DEED)	
for and on behalf of	
LISA DEANE)	/s/ David Hall
acting by David Hall, her attorney	
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness:	/s/ Matthew Dillon
Name of witness:	Matthew Dillon
Address:	80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD
Occupation:	Head of Commercial Contracts
EXECUTED AS A DEED	
for and on behalf of) MICHELLE DARRELL	/s/ David Hall
acting by David Hall, her attorney	/S/ David Hall
acting by Buvid Hair, net attorney	
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness:	/s/ Matthew Dillon
Name of witness:	Matthew Dillon
Address:	80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD
Occupation:	Head of Commercial Contracts

EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of CLAIR DUNN)	/s/ David Hall
acting by David Hall, her attorney	
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness: Name of witness: Address: Occupation:	/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon 80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD Head of Commercial Contracts
EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of MICHELLE METCALF acting by David Hall, her attorney)	/s/ David Hall
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness: Name of witness: Address: Occupation:	/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon 80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD Head of Commercial Contracts
EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of MATTHEW ATHERTON acting by David Hall, his attorney)	/s/ David Hall
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness:	/s/ Matthew Dillon
Name of witness:	Matthew Dillon
Address:	80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD
Occupation:	Head of Commercial Contracts

EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of NICKY COOPER acting by David Hall, his attorney)) /s/ David Hall)
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness: Name of witness: Address: Occupation:	/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon 80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD Head of Commercial Contracts
EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of REBEKAH CRESSWELL acting by David Hall, her attorney)) / <u>s/ David Hall</u>)
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness: Name of witness: Address: Occupation:	/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon 80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD Head of Commercial Contracts
EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of KAREN PRICE acting by David Hall, her attorney))) <u>/s/ David Hall</u>)
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness: Name of witness: Address: Occupation:	/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon 80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD Head of Commercial Contracts

EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of ALISON PLESZAK	/s/ David Hall
acting by David Hall, her attorney	
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness: Name of witness:	/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon
Address:	80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD
Occupation:	Head of Commercial Contracts
EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of GAIR STOTT)	/s/ David Hall
acting by David Hall, his attorney	
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness:	/s/ Matthew Dillon
Name of witness:	Matthew Dillon
Address:	80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD
Occupation:	Head of Commercial Contracts
EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of JANE STONE	/s/ David Hall
acting by David Hall, her attorney	
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness:	/s/ Matthew Dillon
Name of witness:	Matthew Dillon
Address:	80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD Head of Commercial Contracts
Occupation:	nead of Commercial Contracts

EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of SUE HARMS)	/s/ David Hall
acting by David Hall, her attorney)	
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness: Name of witness: Address: Occupation:	/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon 80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD Head of Commercial Contracts
EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of STEPHEN McSHANE acting by David Hall, his attorney)	/s/ David Hall
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness: Name of witness: Address: Occupation:	/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon 80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD Head of Commercial Contracts
EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of ANDY COBLEY acting by David Hall, his attorney)	/s/ David Hall
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness: Name of witness: Address: Occupation:	/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon 80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD Head of Commercial Contracts

EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of TREVOR WILSON SMITH)	/s/ David Hall
acting by David Hall, his attorney	
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness: Name of witness:	/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon
Address:	80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD
Occupation:	Head of Commercial Contracts
EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of LEE JONES)	/s/ David Hall
acting by David Hall, his attorney	
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness: Name of witness:	/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon
Address:	80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD
Occupation:	Head of Commercial Contracts
EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of DOLORES WATKINS)	/s/ David Hall
acting by David Hall, her attorney	
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness:	/s/ Matthew Dillon
Name of witness:	Matthew Dillon
Address:	80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD
Occupation:	Head of Commercial Contracts

EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of JONATHAN HARKER)	/s/ David Hall
acting by David Hall, his attorney	
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness: Name of witness:	/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon
Address:	80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD
Occupation:	Head of Commercial Contracts
EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of HAYDEN KNIGHT)	/s/ David Hall
acting by David Hall, his attorney	
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness:	/s/ Matthew Dillon
Name of witness: Address:	Matthew Dillon
Occupation:	80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD Head of Commercial Contracts
EXECUTED AS A DEED)	
for and on behalf of)	
JASON LOCK)	/s/ David Hall
acting by David Hall, his attorney	
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness:	/s/ Matthew Dillon
Name of witness:	Matthew Dillon
Address:	80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD
Occupation:	Head of Commercial Contracts

EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of JULIE LOCK))) /s/ David Hall	
acting by David Hall, her attorney)	
In the presence of:		
Signature of witness:	/s/ Matthew Dillon	
Name of witness:	Matthew Dillon	
Address:	80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD	
Occupation:	Head of Commercial Contracts	
EXECUTED AS A DEED)	
for and on behalf of)	
MATTHEW FRANZIDIS	/s/ David Hall	
acting by David Hall, his attorney		
In the presence of:		
Signature of witness:	/s/ Matthew Dillon	
Name of witness:	Matthew Dillon	
Address:	80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD	
Occupation:	Head of Commercial Contracts	
EXECUTED AS A DEED)	
for and on behalf of)	
HELEN SHARPE) /s/ David Hall	
acting by David Hall, her attorney		
In the presence of:		
Signature of witness:	/s/ Matthew Dillon	
Name of witness:	Matthew Dillon	
Address:	80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD	
Occupation:	Head of Commercial Contracts	

EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of PHILIP SCOTT acting by David Hall, his attorney)) /s/ David Hall)
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness: Name of witness: Address: Occupation:	/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon 80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD Head of Commercial Contracts
EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of EQUIOM (ISLE OF MAN) LIMITED (AS TRUSTEE OF THE LAUSAUR SETTLEMENT) acting by David Hall, its attorney) /s/ David Hall)))
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness: Name of witness: Address: Occupation:	/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon 80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD Head of Commercial Contracts
EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of CHRISTOPHER THOMPSON acting by David Hall, his attorney)) /s/ David Hall)
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness: Name of witness: Address: Occupation:	/s/ Matthew Dillon Matthew Dillon 80 Hammersmith Road, W148UD Head of Commercial Contracts

EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of	
WHITEWELL UK INVESTMENTS 1	/s/ Joey A. Jacobs
LIMITED	
acting by, a director	
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness:	/s/ Christopher L. Howard
_	
Name of witness:	Christopher L. Howard
Address:	6100 Tower Circle, Suite 1000
	Franklin, TN 37067 USA
Occupation:	Attorney
EXECUTED AS A DEED for and on behalf of ACADIA HEALTHCARE)) /s/ Joey A. Jacobs
COMPANY, INC.	
acting by, a director	
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness:	/s/ Christopher L. Howard
Name of witness:	Christopher L. Howard
Address:	6100 Tower Circle, Suite 1000
	Franklin, TN 37067 USA
Occupation:	Attorney
Occupation.	money

THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT

THIS THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is made and entered into as of December 31, 2015 by and among Acadia Healthcare Company, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), the Persons listed on the Schedule of WCP Investors attached hereto (each, a "WCP Investor" and, collectively, the "WCP Investors"), the Persons listed on the Schedule of Bain Investors attached hereto (each a "Bain Investor" and, collectively, the "Bain Investors"), the Persons listed on the Schedule of Other Investors attached hereto (each, an "Other Investor" and, collectively, the "Other Investors") and the Persons listed on the Schedule of Advent Investors attached hereto (each, an "Advent Investor" and, collectively, the "Advent Investors") and amends and restates the Second Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated October 29, 2014, as amended (the "Second Amended Agreement"). The Company, the WCP Investors, the Bain Investors, the Other Investors and the Advent Investors are sometimes collectively referred to herein as the "Parties" and individually as a "Party." Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein have the meanings set forth in Section 11.

WHEREAS, Acadia Healthcare Holdings, LLC ("Holdings") and certain of the WCP Investors previously entered into a Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of December 30, 2005 (the "Initial Agreement");

WHEREAS, Holdings and certain of the WCP Investors were party to that certain Investor Purchase Agreement, dated as of January 31, 2011 (the "WCP Purchase Agreement"), pursuant to which, among other things, such WCP Investors agreed to purchase Class A Units of Holdings;

WHEREAS, Holdings and certain of the Other Investors were party to those certain Executive Purchase Agreements, each dated as of January 31, 2011 (the "Executive Purchase Agreements"), pursuant to which, among other things, such Other Investors agreed to purchase Class A Units of Holdings;

WHEREAS, in order to induce the applicable WCP Investors and the Other Investors to enter into the WCP Purchase Agreement and the Executive Purchase Agreements, respectively, and to consummate the transactions contemplated thereby, Holdings agreed to amend and restate the Initial Agreement in its entirety to provide the registration rights set forth in the Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement (the "<u>First Amended Agreement</u>");

WHEREAS, the Company was a party to an Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May 23, 2011 (the "PHC Merger Agreement"), pursuant to which PHC, Inc. merged with and into a subsidiary of the Company, and in connection with the transactions contemplated by the PHC Merger Agreement, Holdings distributed the common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, of the Company ("Common Stock") to its equity holders and Holdings was thereafter dissolved:

WHEREAS, the Company assumed all of the rights and obligations of Holdings under the First Amended Agreement;

WHEREAS, the Company was a party to that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated October 29, 2014 (the "<u>CRC Merger Agreement</u>") pursuant to which, among other things, Copper Acquisition Co., Inc., a Delaware corporation and a subsidiary of the Company was merged with and into CRC Health Group, Inc. ("<u>CRC</u>") (the "<u>CRC Merger</u>");

WHEREAS, the Bain Investors acquired shares of Common Stock as consideration in the merger contemplated by the CRC Merger Agreement and in connection therewith the Company and the WCP Investors agreed to amend and restate the First Amended Agreement to provide the Bain Investors with the registration rights set forth in the Second Amended Agreement;

WHEREAS, the Company is a party to that certain Sale and Purchase Deed, dated December 31, 2015 (the "Priory Sale and Purchase Deed") pursuant to which the Company will acquire (the "Priory Acquisition") the entire issued share capital of Priory Group No. 1 Limited ("Priory"); and

WHEREAS, the Advent Investors will acquire shares of Common Stock as partial consideration for the acquisition of the issued share capital of Priory contemplated by the Priory Sale and Purchase Deed and in connection therewith the Company, the WCP Investors and the Bain Investors have agreed to amend and restate the Second Amended Agreement to provide the Advent Investors with the registration rights set forth in this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, agreements and understandings contained herein and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereby agree as follows:

Section 1. Demand Registrations.

1A. Requests for Registration. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, at any time and from time to time following the date hereof, the holders of (i) a majority of the WCP Registrable Securities then outstanding, (ii) a majority of the Bain Registrable Securities then outstanding or (iii) a majority of the Advent Registrable Securities then outstanding may (a) request registration under the Securities Act of all or any portion of their Registrable Securities on Form S-1 or any similar long-form registration ("Long-Form Registrations") in accordance with Section 1B or (b) if available, request registration under the Securities Act of all or any portion of their Registrable Securities on Form S-3 (including a Shelf Registration) or any similar short-form registration ("Short-Form Registrations") in accordance with Section 1C and Section 1D. All registrations requested pursuant to this Section 1 by the holders of Registrable Securities (including all Shelf Offerings) are referred to herein as "Demand Registrations." Each request for a Demand Registration shall specify the approximate number of Registrable Securities requested to be registered and the intended method of distribution. Unless a shorter period of time is provided herein, the Company shall promptly (and in any event within three business days after receipt of any such request), give written notice of such requested registration to all other holders of Registrable Securities and, subject to the terms of Section 1E, shall include in such registration (and in all related registrable Securities with respect to which the Company has received written requests for inclusion therein within five business days after the receipt of the Company's notice.

1B. Long-Form Registrations. Each of (a) the holders of a majority of the WCP Registrable Securities then outstanding, (b) the holders of a majority of the Bain Registrable Securities then outstanding and (c) the holders of a majority of the Advent Registrable Securities then outstanding shall be entitled to four Long-Form Registrations. A registration shall not count against the total number of Long-Form Registrations provided for in this Section 1B unless it has become effective and unless the holders of Registrable Securities are able to register and sell at least 90% of the Registrable Securities requested to be included in such registration; provided that in any event the Company shall pay all Registration Expenses in connection with any registration initiated as a Long-Form Registration whether or not it has become effective and whether or not such registration counts against the total number of Long-Form Registrations provided for in this Section 1B; provided further that no Demand Registration shall be deemed to be a Long-Form Registration whenever the Company is permitted to use any applicable short form. All Long-Form Registrations shall be underwritten registrations unless otherwise approved by the holders of 66 2/3% of the Sponsor Registrable Securities to be included in such registration.

1C. Short-Form Registrations. In addition to the Long-Form Registrations provided pursuant to Section 1B, each of (a) the holders of a majority of the WCP Registrable Securities then outstanding, (b) the holders of a majority of the Bain Registrable Securities then outstanding and (c) the holders of a majority of the Advent Registrable Securities then outstanding shall be entitled to an unlimited number of Short-Form Registrations. The Company shall pay all Registration Expenses with respect to Short-Form Registrations, whether or not any such registration has become effective. Demand Registrations shall be Short-Form Registrations whenever the Company is permitted to use any applicable short form, including Form S-3, and if the managing underwriters (if any) agree to the use of a Short-Form Registration. The Company shall use its reasonable best efforts to make Short-Form Registrations available for the sale of Registrable Securities. If (a) the holders of a majority of the WCP Registrable Securities, (b) the holders of a majority of the Bain Registrable Securities or (c) the holders of a majority of the Advent Registrable Securities, as the case may be, initially requesting a Short-Form Registration request that such Short-Form Registration be filed pursuant to Rule 415 (a "Shelf Registration"), and the Company is qualified to do so, then the Company shall use its reasonable best efforts to cause the registration statement for the Shelf Registration (a "Shelf Registration Statement") to be filed and to be declared effective under the Securities Act in accordance with Section 4 hereof. If for any reason the Company ceases to be a WKSI or becomes ineligible to utilize Form S-3, then the Company shall prepare and file with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission") one or more registration statements on such form that is available for the sale of Registrable Securities to be included in such registration and except as provided in the last sentence of Section 1D(a) below.

1D. Shelf Offerings.

(a) In the event that one or more Shelf Registration Statements is effective, or if the Company has a shelf registration statement on Form S-3 or Form S-3ASR effective and outstanding (which for purposes of this Agreement shall be deemed to be a Shelf Registration Statement whether or not filed at the request of the holders of Registrable Securities),

the holders of a majority of the WCP Registrable Securities, a majority of the Bain Registrable Securities or a majority of the Advent Registrable Securities which are covered by, or which may be registered on, such Shelf Registration Statements shall each have the right at any time or from time to time to elect to sell pursuant to an offering (including an underwritten offering) Registrable Securities available for sale or which may be registered pursuant to such registration statements ("Shelf Registrable Securities"), so long as the Shelf Registration Statements or such Form S-3 or Form S-3ASR remain in effect, and the Company shall pay all Registration Expenses in connection therewith. The holders of a majority of the WCP Registrable Securities, the holders of a majority of the Bain Registrable Securities or the holders of a majority of the Advent Registrable Securities shall make such election by delivering to the Company a written request (a "Shelf Offering Request") for such offering specifying the number of Shelf Registrable Securities that the holders desire to sell pursuant to such offering (the "Shelf Offering"). As promptly as practicable, but no later than two business days after receipt of a Shelf Offering Request, the Company shall give written notice (the "Shelf Offering Notice") of such Shelf Offering Request to all other holders of Shelf Registrable Securities. The Company shall include in such Shelf Offering the Shelf Registrable Securities of any other holder of Shelf Registrable Securities that shall have made a written request to the Company for inclusion in such Shelf Offering (which request shall specify the maximum number of Shelf Registrable Securities intended to be disposed of by such holder) within five business days after the receipt of the Shelf Offering Notice. Each holder of Shelf Registrable Securities agrees that such holder shall treat as confidential the receipt of the Shelf Offering Notice and shall not disclose or use the information contained in such Shelf Offering Notice without the prior written consent of the Company until such time as the information contained therein is or becomes available to the public generally, other than as a result of disclosure by the holder in breach of the terms of this Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, Registrable Securities registered on a Shelf Registration Statement may be sold at any time, or from time to time, in non-underwritten transactions, without requiring notice to or participation by any other party.

- (b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the holders of a majority of the WCP Registrable Securities, a majority of the Bain Registrable Securities or a majority of the Advent Registrable Securities wish to engage in an underwritten block trade off of a Shelf Registration Statement (including off of the Company's existing registration statement on Form S-3 or Form S-3ASR) (either through filing an Automatic Shelf Registration Statement or through a take-down from an already existing Shelf Registration Statement), then notwithstanding the foregoing time periods, such holders only need to notify the Company of the block trade Shelf Offering three business days prior to the day such offering is to commence and the Company shall notify other holders of Registrable Securities must elect whether or not to participate on the day prior to the day such offering is to commence and the Company shall as expeditiously as possible use its reasonable best efforts to facilitate such offering (which may close as early as three business days after the date it commences); provided that the holders of a majority of the Sponsor Registrable Securities participating in the block trade shall use reasonable best efforts to work with the Company and the underwriters prior to making such request in order to facilitate preparation of the registration statement, prospectus and other offering documentation related to the underwritten block trade.
- (c) The Company shall, at the request of the holders of a majority of the WCP Registrable Securities, the request of the holders of a majority of the Bain Registrable Securities or the request of the holders of a majority of the Advent Registrable Securities, in each case, which either are or are eligible to be included in a Shelf Registration Statement (including the Company's existing registration statement on Form S-3 or Form S-3ASR), file any prospectus supplement or, if the applicable Shelf Registration Statement is an Automatic Shelf Registration Statement, any post-effective amendments and otherwise take any action necessary to include therein all disclosure and language deemed necessary or advisable by the holders of a majority of the WCP Registrable Securities, Bain Registrable Securities or Advent Registrable Securities to effect such Shelf Offering.
- 1E. Priority on Demand Registrations. The Company shall not include in any Demand Registration that is an underwritten offering any Registrable Securities that are held by an employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any person controlled by any such employee without the prior written consent of the managing underwriters and shall not include in any Demand Registration any securities that are not Registrable Securities without the prior written consent of the holders of 66 2/3% of the Sponsor Registrable Securities included in such registration. If a Demand Registration is an underwritten offering and the managing underwriters advise the Company in writing that in their opinion the number of Registrable Securities and, if permitted hereunder, other securities requested to be included in such offering exceeds the number of Registrable Securities and other securities, if any, that can be sold without adversely affecting the marketability of the proposed offering, price, timing or method of distribution of the offering, then the Company shall include in such registration only that number of securities which in the opinion of such underwriters can be sold in such offering without adversely affecting the marketability of the offering within such price range, with priority for inclusion to be determined as follows: (A) first, the Registrable Securities requested to be included in such registration, which in the opinion of such underwriters can be sold in an orderly manner without such adverse effect, pro rata among the respective holders thereof on the basis of the number of Registrable Securities owned by each such holder, and (ii) second, any other securities requested to

be included in such registration, the inclusion of which the holders of 66 2/3% of the Sponsor Registrable Securities to be included in such registration have consented to in writing, which in the opinion of such underwriters can be sold in an orderly manner without such adverse effect, pro rata among the respective holders thereof on the basis of the number of such securities owned by each such holder. For purposes of determining priorities under this Agreement, Registrable Securities "owned" by a person shall be deemed to include Registrable Securities actually owned by such person or such person's affiliates (and not Registrable Securities owned by other persons that are or may be deemed "beneficially owned" by virtue of SEC rules and regulations); provided, for the avoidance of doubt, all WCP Registrable Securities shall be aggregated for such purposes, all Bain Registrable Securities shall be aggregated for such purposes.

- 1F. Restrictions on Demand Registrations. The Company shall not be obligated to effect any Demand Registration within 180 days after the effective date of a previous Long-Form Registration. The Company may postpone for up to 90 days the filing or the effectiveness of a registration statement (or the use of a Shelf Registration Statement) for a Demand Registration if the Company's board of directors (or any successor governing body) reasonably determines in its good faith judgment (i) that such Demand Registration (or use of a Shelf Registration Statement) would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company's or any of its Subsidiaries' ability to complete any proposal or plan by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to engage in any material financing, acquisition of assets (other than in the ordinary course of business) or securities, or any material recapitalization, merger, consolidation, tender offer, reorganization or similar material transaction or (ii) the filing or effectiveness of such registration statement (or the use of the Shelf Registration statement) would require the inclusion in such registration statement or related prospectus of financial information or pro forma financial statements related to an acquisition or disposition that cannot be produced without unreasonable effort or expense; provided that in such event, the holders of Registrable Securities initially requesting such Demand Registration shall be entitled to withdraw such request and, if such request is withdrawn with respect to a Long-Form Registration is so withdrawn, such Demand Registration shall not count against the total number of Long-Form Registrations provided for in Section 1B, and the Company shall pay all Registration Expenses in connection with such registration. The Company may delay a Demand Registration hereunder only once in any consecutive 12-month period. No holder of Registrable Securities shall have the right to request a Demand Registration or sell pursuant to a Shelf Offering or any
- 1G. Selection of Underwriters. If any Demand Registration is an underwritten offering, then either the holder of a majority of the WCP Registrable Securities, a majority of the Bain Registrable Securities or a majority of the Advent Registrable Securities (whichever is holding the largest number of Sponsor Registrable Securities included in such Demand Registration) shall have the right to select the investment banker(s) and manager(s) to administer such offering.
- 1H. Other Registration Rights. The Company represents and warrants that neither it nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to, or otherwise bound by, any agreement granting registration rights to any other Person with respect to any securities of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (other than this Agreement, the Second Amended Agreement, the First Amended Agreement and the Initial Agreement). Except as provided to the holders of Registrable Securities in this Agreement, the Company shall not grant to any Persons the right to request the Company to register any equity securities of the Company, or any securities, options or rights convertible or exchangeable into or exercisable for such securities, without the prior written consent of the holders of 66 2/3% of the Sponsor Registrable Securities then outstanding.

Section 2. <u>Piggyback Registrations</u>.

2A. Right to Piggyback. Whenever the Company proposes to register any of its securities under the Securities Act (other than pursuant to any Demand Registration or a registration on Form S-4, Form S-8 or any successor form(s)) and the registration form to be used may be used for the registration of Registrable Securities (a "Piggyback Registration"), the Company shall give prompt written notice (in any event within three business days) to all holders of Registrable Securities of its intention to effect such a registration and, subject to the terms of Section 2C and Section 2D, shall include in such registration (and in all related registrations or qualifications under blue sky laws and in compliance with other registration requirements and in any related underwriting) all Registrable Securities with respect to which the Company has received written requests for inclusion therein within 30 days after the receipt of the Company's notice; provided that the Company shall not include in any Piggyback Registration that is an underwritten offering any securities that are held by an employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any Person controlled by any such employee without the prior written consent of the managing underwriters.

- 2B. <u>Piggyback Expenses</u>. The Registration Expenses of the holders of Registrable Securities shall be paid by the Company in all Piggyback Registrations, whether or not any such registration has become effective.
- 2C. Priority on Primary Piggyback Registrations. If a Piggyback Registration is an underwritten primary registration on behalf of the Company and the managing underwriters advise the Company in writing that in their opinion the number of securities requested to be included in such registration exceeds the number of securities that can be sold within a price range acceptable to the Company, then the Company shall include in such registration only that number of securities which in the opinion of such underwriters can be sold in such offering without adversely affecting the marketability of the offering within such price range, with priority for inclusion to be determined as follows: (A) <u>first</u>, the securities the Company proposes to sell, (B) <u>second</u>, the Registrable Securities requested to be included in such registration, which in the opinion of such underwriters can be sold in an orderly manner without such adverse effect, pro rata among the respective holders thereof on the basis of the number of Registrable Securities owned by each such holder, and (C) <u>third</u>, any other securities requested to be included in such registration, the inclusion of which the holders of 66 2/3% of the Sponsor Registrable Securities to be included in such registration have consented to in writing, which in the opinion of such underwriters can be sold in an orderly manner without such adverse effect, pro rata among the respective holders thereof on the basis of the number of such securities owned by each such holder.
- 2D. <u>Priority on Secondary Piggyback Registrations</u>. If a Piggyback Registration is an underwritten secondary registration on behalf of holders of the Company's securities (other than holders of Registrable Securities) and the managing underwriters advise the Company in writing that in their opinion the number of securities requested to be included in such registration exceeds the number of securities that can be sold within a price range acceptable to the holders of the Company's securities initially requesting such registration, then the Company shall include in such registration only that number of securities which in the opinion of such underwriters can be sold in such offering without adversely affecting the marketability of the offering within such price range, with priority for inclusion to be determined as follows: (A) <u>first</u>, the securities requested to be include therein by the holders requesting such registration and the Registrable Securities requested to be included in such registration, which in the opinion of such underwriters can be sold in an orderly manner without such adverse effect, pro rata among the respective holders thereof on the basis of the number of Registrable Securities owned by each such holder, and (C) <u>third</u>, any other securities requested to be included in such registration, the inclusion of which the holders of 66 2/3% of the Sponsor Registrable Securities to be included in such registration have consented to in writing, which in the opinion of such underwriters can be sold in an orderly manner without such adverse effect, pro rata among the respective holders thereof on the basis of the number of such underwriters can be sold in an orderly manner without such adverse effect, pro rata among the respective holders thereof on the basis of the number of such underwriters can be sold in an orderly manner without such adverse effect, pro rata among the respective holders thereof on the basis of the number of such securities owned by each such holder.
- 2E. <u>Selection of Underwriters</u>. If any Piggyback Registration is an underwritten offering, then the selection of investment banker(s) and manager(s) for the offering (i) shall be in the discretion of the Company to the extent chosen from any of the joint lead arrangers, joint book managers or the documentation agent under the Company's amended and restated credit agreement (as such agreement exists as of the date hereof) or any manager of any primary securities offering made by the Company in the three years period ended as of the date of this agreement or (ii) if not chosen from the categories described in clause (i) of this sentence, must be approved by the holders of a majority of the Sponsor Registrable Securities requested to be included in such Piggyback Registration, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

Section 3. Holdback Agreements.

3A. No holder of Registrable Securities shall (i) offer, sell, contract to sell, pledge or otherwise dispose of (including sales pursuant to Rule 144), directly or indirectly, any equity securities of the Company, or any securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for such securities (including equity securities of the Company that may be deemed to be owned beneficially by such holder in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Commission) (collectively, "Securities"), (ii) enter into a transaction which would have the same effect as described in clause (i) above, (iii) enter into any swap, hedge or other arrangement that transfers, in whole or in part, any of the economic consequences or ownership of any Securities, whether such transaction is to be settled by delivery of such Securities, in cash or otherwise (each of (i), (ii) and (iii) above, a "Sale Transaction"), or (iv) publicly disclose the intention to enter into any Sale Transaction, in any such case commencing on the earlier of the date on which the Company has notice of the circulation of a preliminary or final prospectus for an underwritten Public Offering or the "pricing" of such offering and continuing to the date that is 60 days following the date of the final prospectus for such Public Offering (the "Holdback Period"), except as part of such Public Offering, unless the underwriters managing such registered Public Offering otherwise agree in writing. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (a) this Section 3A shall not be applicable to or otherwise be binding on the holders of Registrable Securities unless the Company

complies with its obligations under <u>Section 3B</u> in connection with any such offering and (b) the holders of Registrable Securities will be subject to no more than one Holdback Period in any 12 month period as a result of an underwritten Public Offering in which the Company sells Securities for its own account. The Company may impose stop-transfer instructions with respect to its equity securities subject to the foregoing restriction during any Holdback Period. Each holder of Registrable Securities agrees to enter into lock-up agreements with the managing underwriter(s) of an underwritten Public Offering in such form as agreed to by the holders of a majority of the Sponsor Registrable Securities participating in such offering; <u>provided</u> that the period of the lock-up shall not be longer than provided in this <u>Section 3A</u>.

- 3B. The Company (i) shall not file any registration statement for any public sale or make any distribution of its Securities, or cause any such registration statement to become effective, or effect any Sale Transaction, during the Holdback Period (except as part of such underwritten registration or pursuant to registrations on Form S-4 or Form S-8 or any successor form), and (ii) shall cause each of its executive officers and directors (other than the WCP Directors and Bain Directors), to agree not to effect any Sale Transaction during such periods (except as part of such underwritten registration, if otherwise permitted), unless the underwriters managing the registered Public Offering otherwise agree in writing.
- 3C. <u>Waivers</u>. If the Company agrees to release any holder of Sponsor Registrable Securities from the restrictions set forth in <u>Section 3A</u> (a "<u>Released Sponsor</u>"), then the Company shall also agree to release each other holder of Sponsor Registrable Securities from its restrictions under such sections up to the number of Registrable Securities equal to the aggregate number of shares held by such holder multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of Registrable Securities held by the Released Sponsor and its affiliates that the Company agreed to release from the restrictions set forth in <u>Section 3A</u>, and the denominator of which is the aggregate number of Registrable Securities held by the Released Sponsor and its affiliates that were in aggregate subject to such lock-up.
- 3D. <u>Other Sales</u>. The parties hereto agree that any sales of Registrable Securities in transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act, including, without limitation, any sales pursuant to Rule 144 thereunder, shall comply with the volume limitations contained in Rule 144(e) as if the Party for which Registrable Securities are sold was an affiliate of the Company, regardless of whether such Party is an affiliate.
- Section 4. Registration Procedures. Whenever the holders of Registrable Securities have requested that any Registrable Securities be registered pursuant to this Agreement (or requested a Shelf Offering), the Company shall use its reasonable best efforts to effect the registration and the sale of such Registrable Securities hereunder in accordance with the intended method of disposition thereof, and pursuant thereto the Company shall as expeditiously as possible:
- 4A. in accordance with the Securities Act and all applicable rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, prepare and file with the Commission a registration statement, and all amendments and supplements thereto and related prospectuses as may be necessary to comply with applicable securities laws, with respect to such Registrable Securities and use its reasonable best efforts to cause such registration statement to become effective (provided that, before filing a registration statement or prospectus or any amendments or supplements thereto, the Company shall furnish to counsel selected by the holders of a majority of the Sponsor Registrable Securities covered by such registration statement copies of all such documents proposed to be filed, which documents shall be subject to the review and reasonable comment of such counsel);
- 4B. notify each holder of Registrable Securities of (i) the issuance by the Commission of any stop order suspending the effectiveness of any registration statement or the initiation of any proceedings for that purpose, (ii) the receipt by the Company or its counsel of any notification with respect to the suspension of the qualification of the Registrable Securities for sale in any jurisdiction or the initiation or threatening of any proceeding for such purpose, and (iii) the effectiveness of each registration statement filed hereunder;
- 4C. prepare and file with the Commission such amendments and supplements to such registration statement and the prospectus used in connection therewith as may be necessary to keep such registration statement effective for a period ending when all of the securities covered by such registration statement have been disposed of in accordance with the intended methods of disposition by the sellers thereof as set forth in such registration statement or, in the case of a Shelf Registration, if earlier, the date as of which all of the Sponsor Registrable Securities included in such registration cease to be Registrable Securities (but in any event not before the expiration of any longer period required under the Securities Act or, if such registration statement relates to an underwritten offering, such longer period as in the opinion of counsel for the underwriters a prospectus is required by law to be delivered in connection with sales of securities thereunder by any underwriter or dealer) and comply with the provisions of the Securities Act with respect to the disposition of all securities covered by such registration statement during such period in accordance with the intended methods of disposition by the sellers thereof set forth in such registration statement;

4D. furnish to each seller of Registrable Securities thereunder such number of copies of such registration statement, each amendment and supplement thereto, the prospectus included in such registration statement (including each preliminary prospectus and any summary prospectus), each Free-Writing Prospectus and such other documents as such seller may reasonably request in order to facilitate the disposition of the Registrable Securities owned by such seller;

4E. use its reasonable best efforts to register or qualify such Registrable Securities under such other securities or blue sky laws of such jurisdictions as any seller reasonably requests and do any and all other acts and things which may be reasonably necessary or advisable to enable such seller to consummate the disposition in such jurisdictions of the Registrable Securities owned by such seller (provided that the Company shall not be required to (i) qualify generally to do business in any jurisdiction where it would not otherwise be required to qualify but for this <u>Section 4E</u>, (ii) subject itself to taxation in any such jurisdiction, or (iii) consent to general service of process in any such jurisdiction);

4F. promptly notify in writing each seller of such Registrable Securities (i) after it receives notice thereof, of the date and time when such registration statement and each post-effective amendment thereto has become effective or a prospectus or supplement to any prospectus relating to a registration statement has been filed and when any registration or qualification has become effective under a state securities or blue sky law or any exemption thereunder has been obtained, (ii) after receipt thereof, of any request by the Commission for the amendment or supplementing of such registration statement or prospectus or for additional information, and (iii) at any time when a prospectus relating thereto is required to be delivered under the Securities Act, of the happening of any event as a result of which the prospectus included in such registration statement contains an untrue statement of a material fact or omits any fact necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, and, at the request of any such seller, the Company promptly shall prepare, file with the Commission and furnish to each such seller a reasonable number of copies of a supplement or amendment to such prospectus so that, as thereafter delivered to the purchasers of such Registrable Securities, such prospectus shall not contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any fact necessary to make the statements therein not misleading;

4G. prepare and file promptly with the Commission, and notify such holders of Registrable Securities prior to the filing of, such amendments or supplements to such registration statement or prospectus as may be necessary to correct any statements or omissions if, at the time when a prospectus relating to such securities is required to be delivered under the Securities Act, when any event has occurred as the result of which any such prospectus or any other prospectus as then in effect would include an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, and, if any such holders of Registrable Securities or any underwriter for any such holders is required to deliver a prospectus at a time when the prospectus then in circulation is not in compliance with the Securities Act or the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, the Company shall use its best efforts to prepare promptly upon request of any such holder or underwriter such amendments or supplements to such registration statement and prospectus as may be necessary in order for such prospectus to comply with the requirements of the Securities Act and such rules and regulations;

- 4H. cause all such Registrable Securities to be listed on each securities exchange on which similar securities issued by the Company are then listed;
- 4I. provide a transfer agent and registrar for all such Registrable Securities not later than the effective date of such registration statement;
- 4J. enter into and perform such customary agreements (including underwriting agreements in customary form) and take all such other actions as the holders of a majority of the Registrable Securities included in such registration, the holders of a majority of the Other Registrable Securities included in such registration or the underwriters, if any, reasonably request in order to expedite or facilitate the disposition of such Registrable Securities (including effecting a split or combination of equity, recapitalization or reorganization and preparing for and participating in such number of "road shows," investor presentations and marketing events as the underwriters managing such offering may reasonably request);

4K. make available for inspection by any seller of Registrable Securities, any underwriter participating in any disposition pursuant to such registration statement and any attorney, accountant or other agent retained by any such seller or underwriter, all financial and other records, pertinent corporate and business documents and properties of the Company and cause the Company's officers, managers, directors, employees, agents, representatives and independent accountants to supply all information reasonably requested by any such seller, underwriter, attorney, accountant or agent in connection with such registration statement;

4L. take all reasonable actions to ensure that any Free-Writing Prospectus prepared by or on behalf of the Company in connection with any Demand Registration or Piggyback Registration hereunder complies in all material respects with the Securities Act, is filed in accordance with the Securities Act to the extent required thereby, is retained in accordance with the Securities Act to the extent required thereby and, when taken together with the related prospectus, will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading (provided that, before filing a Free-Writing Prospectus, the Company shall furnish to counsel selected by the holders of a majority of the Sponsor Registrable Securities participating in such Demand Registration or Piggyback Registration copies of all such documents proposed to be filed, which documents shall be subject to the review and reasonable comment of such counsel);

4M. otherwise use its reasonable best efforts to comply with all applicable rules and regulations of the Commission and make available to its security holders, as soon as reasonably practicable, an earnings statement covering the period of at least 12 months beginning with the first day of the Company's first full calendar quarter after the effective date of the registration statement, which earnings statement shall satisfy the provisions of Section 11(a) of the Securities Act and Rule 158:

- 4N. permit any holder of Registrable Securities which holder, in its good faith judgment (based on the advice of counsel), could reasonably be expected to be deemed to be an underwriter or a controlling Person of the Company, to participate in the preparation of such registration or comparable statement and to require the insertion therein of material, furnished to the Company in writing, which in the reasonable judgment of such holder and its counsel should be included:
- 4O. in the event of the issuance of any stop order suspending the effectiveness of a registration statement, or the issuance of any order suspending or preventing the use of any related prospectus or suspending the qualification of any equity securities included in such registration statement for sale in any jurisdiction, the Company shall use its reasonable best efforts promptly to obtain the withdrawal of such order;
- 4P. cause such Registrable Securities covered by such registration statement to be registered with or approved by such other governmental agencies or authorities as may be necessary to enable the sellers thereof to consummate the disposition of such Registrable Securities;
- 4Q. cooperate with each holder of Registrable Securities covered by the registration statement and the managing underwriters or agents, if any, to facilitate the timely preparation and delivery of certificates (not bearing any restrictive legends) representing securities to be sold under the registration statement and enable such securities to be in such denominations and registered in such names as the managing underwriters, or agents, if any, or such holder may request;
- 4R. cooperate with each holder of Registrable Securities covered by the registration statement and each underwriter or agent participating in the disposition of such Registrable Securities and their respective counsel in connection with any filings required to be made with FINRA;
- 4S. obtain a cold comfort letter from the Company's independent public accountants in customary form and covering such matters of the type customarily covered by cold comfort letters as the holders of a majority of the Sponsor Registrable Securities included in such registration reasonably request;
- 4T. if requested by the holders of a majority of the WCP Registrable Securities, a majority of the Bain Registrable Securities or a majority of the Advent Registrable Securities included in such registration or required by the underwriters managing such offering, provide a legal opinion of the Company's outside counsel, dated the effective date of such registration statement (and, if such registration includes an underwritten Public Offering, dated the date of the closing under the underwriting agreement), with respect to the registration statement, each amendment and supplement thereto, the prospectus included therein (including the preliminary prospectus) and such other documents relating thereto in customary form and covering such matters of the type customarily covered by legal opinions of such nature, which opinion shall be addressed to the underwriters and the applicable holders of Registrable Securities; and
- 4U. cooperate with the holders of Registrable Securities subject to the registration statement and with the managing underwriter or agent, if any, to facilitate any Charitable Gifting Event and to prepare and file with the Commission such amendments and supplements to such registration statements and the prospectus used in connection therewith as may be necessary to permit any such recipient Charitable Organization to sell in the Public Offering if it so elects.

Section 5. <u>Certain Obligations of Holders of Registrable Securities</u>. Each holder of Registrable Securities that sells such securities pursuant to a registration under this Agreement agrees as follows:

- 5A. Such holder (if such holder is an employee or independent contractor of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries) shall cooperate with the Company (as reasonably requested by the Company) in connection with the preparation of the registration statement, and, for so long as the Company is obligated to file and keep effective such registration statement, each holder of Registrable Securities that is participating in such registration shall provide to the Company, in writing, for use in the applicable registration statement, all such information regarding such holder and its plan of distribution of such securities as may be reasonably necessary to enable the Company to prepare the registration statement and prospectus covering such securities, to maintain the currency and effectiveness thereof and otherwise to comply with all applicable requirements of law in connection therewith.
- 5B. During such time as a holder of Registrable Securities may be engaged in a distribution of such securities, such holder shall distribute such securities under the registration statement solely in the manner described in the registration statement.
- 5C. Each Person that is participating in any registration under this Agreement, upon receipt of any notice from the Company of the happening of any event of the kind described in Section 4F, shall immediately discontinue the disposition of its securities of the Company pursuant to the registration statement until such Person's receipt of the copies of a supplemented or amended prospectus as contemplated by Section 4F. In the event the Company has given any such notice, the applicable time period set forth in Section 4C during which a registration statement is to remain effective shall be extended by the number of days during the period from and including the date of the giving of such notice pursuant to this Section 5C to and including the date when each seller of Registrable Securities covered by such registration statement shall have received the copies of the supplemented or amended prospectus contemplated by Section 4F.

Section 6. Registration Expenses.

- 6A. All expenses incident to the Company's performance of or compliance with this Agreement, including all registration, qualification and filing fees, fees and expenses of compliance with securities or blue sky laws, filing expenses, printing expenses, messenger and delivery expenses, fees and disbursements of custodians and fees and disbursements of counsel for the Company and all independent certified public accountants, underwriters (excluding discounts and commissions) and other Persons retained by the Company (all such expenses being herein called "Registration Expenses"), shall be borne by the Company as provided in this Agreement, and the Company also shall pay all of its internal expenses (including all salaries and expenses of its officers and employees performing legal or accounting duties), the expense of any annual audit or quarterly review, the expense of any liability insurance and the expenses and fees for listing the securities to be registered on each securities exchange on which similar securities issued by the Company are then listed. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, each seller of securities pursuant to a registration under this Agreement shall bear and pay all underwriting discounts and commissions applicable to the securities sold for such seller's account.
- 6B. In connection with each Demand Registration and each Piggyback Registration, the Company shall reimburse the holders of Registrable Securities included in such registration for the reasonable fees and disbursements of one counsel chosen by either (a) the holders of a majority of the WCP Registrable Securities included in such registration or offering, (b) the holders of a majority of the Bain Registrable Securities included in such registration or offering or (c) the holders of a majority of the Advent Registrable Securities included in such registration or offering, based upon whether the holders of WCP Registrable Securities, the holders of Bain Registrable Securities or the holders of Advent Registrable Securities are collectively including more Registrable Securities in such registration or offering and for the reasonable fees and disbursements of each additional counsel retained by any holder of Registrable Securities for the purpose of rendering a legal opinion on behalf of such holder in connection with any underwritten Demand Registration or Piggyback Registration.
- 6C. To the extent any expenses relating to a registration hereunder are not required to be paid by the Company, each holder of securities included (or requested to be included) in any registration hereunder shall pay those expenses allocable to the registration (or proposed registration) of such holder's securities so included (or requested to be included), and any expenses not so allocable shall be borne by all sellers of securities requested to be included in such registration in proportion to the aggregate selling price of the securities to be so registered.

Section 7. <u>Indemnification</u>.

7A. The Company shall indemnify and hold harmless, to the fullest extent permitted by law, each holder of Registrable Securities, its officers, directors, members, managers, partners, agents, affiliates and employees and each Person who controls such holder (within the meaning of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act) against all losses, claims, actions, damages, liabilities and expenses (including with respect to actions or proceedings, whether commenced or threatened, and including

reasonable attorney fees and expenses) caused by, resulting from, arising out of, based upon or related to any of the following statements, omissions or violations by the Company: (i) any untrue or alleged untrue statement of material fact contained in (A) any registration statement, prospectus, preliminary prospectus or Free-Writing Prospectus, or any amendment thereof or supplement thereto or (B) any application or other document or communication executed by or on behalf of the Company or based upon written information furnished by or on behalf of the Company filed in any jurisdiction in order to qualify any securities covered by such registration under the securities laws thereof, (ii) any omission or alleged omission of a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, or (iii) any violation or alleged violation by the Company of the Securities Act or any other similar federal or state securities laws or any rule or regulation promulgated thereunder applicable to the Company and relating to action or inaction required of the Company in connection with any such registration, qualification or compliance, and to pay to each holder of Registrable Securities, its officers, directors, members, managers, partners, agents, affiliates and employees and each Person who controls such holder (within the meaning of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act), as incurred, any legal and any other expenses reasonably incurred in connection with investigating, preparing or defending any such claim, loss, damage, liability or action, except insofar as the same are caused by or contained in any information furnished in writing to the Company or any managing underwriters by such holder expressly for use therein. In connection with an underwriter (within the meaning of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act) to the same extent as provided above with respect to the indemnification of the holders of Registrable Securities (or to such lesser extent that may be agreed to between

7B. In connection with any registration statement in which a holder of Registrable Securities is participating, each such holder shall furnish to the Company and the managing underwriter in writing such information and affidavits as the Company or the managing underwriter reasonably requests for use in connection with any such registration statement or prospectus and, to the extent permitted by law, shall indemnify the Company, its directors and officers and each Person who controls the Company (within the meaning of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act) against any losses, claims, damages, liabilities and expenses resulting from any untrue or alleged untrue statement of material fact contained in the registration statement, prospectus or preliminary prospectus or any amendment thereof or supplement thereto or any omission or alleged omission of a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, but only to the extent that such untrue statement or omission is contained in any information or affidavit so furnished in writing by such holder expressly for use therein; provided that, in the event that a court of competent jurisdiction decides against any such allegations of untrue statements or omissions of a material fact, such holders shall be reimbursed for any amounts previously paid hereunder with respect to such allegations; provided further that the obligation to indemnify shall be individual, not joint and several, for each holder and shall be limited to the net amount of proceeds received by such holder from the sale of Registrable Securities pursuant to such registration statement.

7C. Any Person entitled to indemnification hereunder shall (i) give prompt written notice to the indemnifying party of any claim with respect to which it seeks indemnification (provided that the failure to give prompt notice shall not impair any Person's right to indemnification hereunder to the extent such failure has not prejudiced the indemnifying party) and (ii) unless in such indemnified party's reasonable judgment a conflict of interest between such indemnified and indemnifying parties may exist with respect to such claim, permit such indemnifying party to assume the defense of such claim with counsel reasonably satisfactory to the indemnified party. If such defense is assumed, the indemnifying party shall not be subject to any liability for any settlement made by the indemnified party without its consent (but such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed). An indemnifying party who is not entitled to, or elects not to, assume the defense of a claim shall not be obligated to pay the fees and expenses of more than one counsel for all parties indemnified by such indemnifying party with respect to such claim, unless in the reasonable judgment of any indemnified party a conflict of interest may exist between such indemnified party and any other of such indemnified parties with respect to such claim. In such instance, the conflicting indemnified parties shall have a right to retain one separate counsel, chosen by the holders of a majority of the Registrable Securities included in the registration by such conflicting indemnified parties, at the expense of the indemnifying party. No indemnifying party, in the defense of such claim or litigation, shall, except with the consent of each indemnified party, consent to the entry of any judgment or enter into any settlement which does not include as an unconditional term thereof the giving by the claimant or plaintiff to such indemnified party of a release from all liability in respect to such claim or litigation.

7D. Each party hereto agrees that, if for any reason the indemnification provisions contemplated by Section 7A or Section 7B are unavailable to or insufficient to hold harmless an indemnified party in respect of or is otherwise unenforceable with respect to any losses, claims, damages, liabilities or expenses (or actions in respect thereof) referred to therein, then each indemnifying party shall contribute to the amount paid or payable by such indemnified party as a result of such losses, claims, damages, liabilities or expenses (or actions in respect thereof) in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative fault of the indemnifying party and the indemnified party as well as any other relevant equitable considerations. The

relative fault of such indemnifying party and indemnified party shall be determined by reference to, among other things, whether the untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or omission or alleged omission to state a material fact relates to information supplied by such indemnifying party or indemnified party, and the parties' relative intent, knowledge, access to information and opportunity to correct or prevent such statement or omission. The parties hereto agree that it would not be just and equitable if contribution pursuant to this Section 7D were determined by pro rata allocation (even if the holders or any underwriters or all of them were treated as one entity for such purpose) or by any other method of allocation which does not take account of the equitable considerations referred to in this Section 7D. The amount paid or payable by an indemnified party as a result of the losses, claims, damages, liabilities or expenses (or actions in respect thereof) referred to above shall be deemed to include any legal or other fees or expenses reasonably incurred by such indemnified party in connection with investigating or, except as provided in Section 7C, defending any such action or claim. No Person guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of Section 11(f) of the Securities Act) shall be entitled to contribution from any Person who was not guilty of such fraudulent misrepresentation. The sellers' obligations in this Section 7D to contribute shall be several in proportion to the amount of securities registered by them and not joint and shall be limited for each seller to an amount equal to the net proceeds actually received by such seller from the sale of Registrable Securities effected pursuant to such registration.

7E. The indemnification and contribution provided for under this Agreement shall be in addition to any other rights to indemnification and contribution that any indemnified party may have pursuant to law or contract and shall remain in full force and effect regardless of any investigation made by or on behalf of the indemnified party or any officer, director or controlling Person of such indemnified party and shall survive the transfer of securities. The Company and each holder of Registrable Securities also agrees to make such provisions, as are reasonable requested by any indemnified party, for contribution to such indemnified party in the event such Person's indemnification is unavailable for any reason.

7F. No indemnifying party shall, except with the consent of the indemnified party, consent to the entry of any judgment or enter into any settlement that does not include as an unconditional term thereof the giving by the claimant or plaintiff to such indemnified party a release from all liability in respect to such claim or litigation.

Section 8. Participation in Underwritten Registrations. No Person may participate in any registration hereunder which is underwritten unless such Person (i) agrees to sell such Person's securities on the basis provided in any underwriting arrangements approved by the Person or Persons entitled hereunder to approve such arrangements (including pursuant to any over-allotment or "green shoe" option requested by the underwriters, provided that no holder of Registrable Securities shall be required to sell more than the number of Registrable Securities such holder has requested to include) and (ii) completes and executes all questionnaires, powers of attorney, indemnities, underwriting agreements and other documents customarily required under the terms of underwriting arrangements; provided that no holder of Registrable Securities included in any underwritten registration shall be required to make any representations or warranties to the Company or the underwriters in connection with an underwritten registration (other than representations and warranties regarding such holder, such holder's title to the securities and such holder's intended method of distribution) or to undertake any indemnification obligations to the Company or the underwriters with respect thereto, except as otherwise specifically provided in Section 7, or to agree to any lock-up or holdback restrictions, except as otherwise specifically provided in Section 3A.

Section 9. Other Agreements. At all times after the Company has filed a registration statement with the Commission pursuant to the requirements of either the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, the Company shall use its reasonable best efforts to file all reports required to be filed by it under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations adopted by the Commission thereunder and shall take such further action as the holders of Registrable Securities may reasonably request, all to the extent required to enable such Persons to sell securities pursuant to (i) Rule 144 or any similar rule or regulation hereafter adopted by the Commission or (ii) a registration statement on Form S-3 or any similar registration form hereafter adopted by the Commission. Upon reasonable request, the Company shall deliver to the WCP Investors, the Bain Investors, the Other Investors and the Advent Investors a written statement as to whether it has complied with such requirements. The Company shall at all times use its reasonable best efforts to cause the securities so registered to be listed on one or more of the New York Stock Exchange, the American Stock Exchange and/or the NASDAQ Stock Market.

Section 10. <u>Subsidiary Public Offering</u>. If the Company distributes securities of a Subsidiary to its equity holders, then the rights of holders hereunder and the obligations of the Company pursuant to this Agreement shall apply, *mutatis mutandis*, to such Subsidiary, and the Company shall cause such Subsidiary to comply with such Subsidiary's obligations under this Agreement.

Section 11. Definitions.

"Advent Registrable Securities" means (i) the Common Stock issued to the Advent Investors pursuant to the Priory Sale and Purchase Deed, (ii) any other securities issued or issuable directly or indirectly with respect to the securities described in clause (i) of this definition by way of a dividend, distribution or equity split or in connection with an exchange or a combination of equity interests, recapitalization, reclassification, merger, consolidation or other reorganization, and (iii) any other securities of the Company held at any time by Persons holding securities described in clause (i) or (ii) of this definition. As to any particular Advent Registrable Securities, such securities shall cease to be Advent Registrable Securities when they have been distributed to the public pursuant to an offering registered under the Securities Act or sold to the public through a broker, dealer or market maker in compliance with Rule 144 (or any similar rule then in force) or repurchased by the Company or any Subsidiary. For purposes of this Agreement, a Person shall be deemed to be a holder of Advent Registrable Securities and such Advent Registrable Securities shall be deemed to be in existence whenever such Person has the right to acquire, directly or indirectly, such Advent Registrable Securities (upon conversion or exercise in connection with a transfer of securities or otherwise, but disregarding any restrictions or limitations upon the exercise of such right), whether or not such acquisition has actually been effected, and such Person shall be entitled to exercise the rights of a holder of Advent Registrable Securities hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any particular Advent Registrable Securities held by any Person shall not be deemed to be Advent Registrable Securities on and after such time as the Advent Registrable Securities constitute less than 2% of the Company's outstanding shares of Common Stock.

"Bain Directors" means any director of the Company, the designation of whom is controlled by one or more holders of securities that are or were Bain Registrable Securities.

"Bain Registrable Securities" means (i) the Common Stock issued to the Bain Investors pursuant to the CRC Merger Agreement, (ii) any other securities issued or issuable directly or indirectly with respect to the securities described in clause (i) of this definition by way of a dividend, distribution or equity split or in connection with an exchange or a combination of equity interests, recapitalization, reclassification, merger, consolidation or other reorganization, and (iii) any other securities of the Company held at any time by Persons holding securities described in clause (i) or (ii) of this definition. As to any particular Bain Registrable Securities, such securities shall cease to be Bain Registrable Securities when they have been distributed to the public pursuant to an offering registered under the Securities Act or sold to the public through a broker, dealer or market maker in compliance with Rule 144 (or any similar rule then in force) or repurchased by the Company or any Subsidiary. For purposes of this Agreement, a Person shall be deemed to be a holder of Bain Registrable Securities and such Bain Registrable Securities shall be deemed to be in existence whenever such Person has the right to acquire, directly or indirectly, such Bain Registrable Securities (upon conversion or exercise in connection with a transfer of securities or otherwise, but disregarding any restrictions or limitations upon the exercise of such right), whether or not such acquisition has actually been effected, and such Person shall be entitled to exercise the rights of a holder of Bain Registrable Securities hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any particular Bain Registrable Securities held by any Person shall not be deemed to be Bain Registrable Securities on and after the later of such time as the Bain Registrable Securities held by such Person and its Affiliates (a) constitute less than 2% of the Company's outstanding shares of Common Stock or (b) may be sold under Rule 144(b)(1)(i) without limitation under any of the

"Charitable Gifting Event" means any transfer by a holder of Sponsor Registrable Securities, or any subsequent transfer by such holder's members, partners or other employees, in connection with a bona fide gift to any Charitable Organization made on the date of, but prior to, the execution of the underwriting agreement entered into in connection with any underwritten Public Offering.

"Charitable Organization" means a charitable organization as described by Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as in effect from time to time.

"Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated from time-to-time thereunder.

"FINRA" means the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority.

"Free-Writing Prospectus" means a free-writing prospectus, as defined in Rule 405.

"Other Registrable Securities" means (i) the Common Stock of the Company distributed by Holdings to the Other Investors, (ii) any other securities issued or issuable directly or indirectly with respect to the securities described in clause (i)

of this definition by way of a dividend, distribution or equity split or in connection with an exchange or a combination of equity interests, recapitalization, reclassification, merger, consolidation or other reorganization (including any common stock issued or issuable to the Other Investors in connection with the conversion of the Company from a limited liability company to a corporation), and (iii) any other securities of the Company held at any time by Persons holding securities described in clause (i) or (ii) of this definition. As to any particular Other Registrable Securities, such securities shall cease to be Other Registrable Securities when they have been distributed to the public pursuant to an offering registered under the Securities Act or sold to the public through a broker, dealer or market maker in compliance with Rule 144 (or any similar rule then in force) or repurchased by the Company or any Subsidiary. As to any particular Other Registrable Securities held by any Other Investor, such securities shall also cease to be Other Registrable Securities when they have been distributed by such Other Investor to any of its direct or indirect partners or members or their affiliates. For purposes of this Agreement, a Person shall be deemed to be a holder of Other Registrable Securities and such Other Registrable Securities shall be deemed to be in existence whenever such Person has the right to acquire, directly or indirectly, such Other Registrable Securities (upon conversion or exercise in connection with a transfer of securities or otherwise, but disregarding any restrictions or limitations upon the exercise of such right), whether or not such acquisition has actually been effected, and such Person shall be entitled to exercise the rights of a holder of Other Registrable Securities hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any Other Registrable Securities held by any Person that may be sold under Rule 144(b)(1)(i) without limitation under any of the other requirements of Rule 144 (as confirmed by an

"<u>Person</u>" means an individual, a partnership, a corporation, a limited liability company, an association, a joint stock company, a trust, a joint venture, an unincorporated organization and a governmental entity or any department, agency or political subdivision thereof.

"<u>Public Offering</u>" means any sale or distribution by the Company and/or holders of Registrable Securities to the public of Common Stock pursuant to an offering registered under the Securities Act.

"Registrable Securities" means, collectively, the WCP Registrable Securities, the Bain Registrable Securities, the Other Registrable Securities and the Advent Registrable Securities.

"Rule 144", "Rule 158", "Rule 405" and "Rule 415" mean, in each case, such rule promulgated under the Securities Act (or any successor provision) by the Commission, as the same shall be amended from time to time, or any successor rule then in force.

"Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated from time-to-time thereunder.

"Sponsor Registrable Securities" means collectively the WCP Registrable Securities, the Bain Registrable Securities and the Advent Registrable Securities.

"Subsidiary." has the meaning set forth in the Amended and Restated Stockholders Agreement, dated as of October 29, 2014, by and among the Company, the WCP Investors, the Bain Investors and certain other persons party thereto.

"WCP Directors" means any director of the Company, the designation of whom is controlled by one or more holders of securities that are or were WCP Registrable Securities.

"WCP Registrable Securities" means (i) the Common Stock of the Company distributed by Holdings to the WCP Investors, (ii) any other securities issued or issuable directly or indirectly with respect to the securities described in clause (i) of this definition by way of a dividend, distribution or equity split or in connection with an exchange or a combination of equity interests, recapitalization, reclassification, merger, consolidation or other reorganization (including any common stock issued or issuable in connection with the conversion of the Company from a limited liability company to a corporation or any similar reorganization of the Company and its Subsidiaries in anticipation of a registered offering), and (iii) any other securities of the Company held at any time by Persons holding securities described in clause (i) or (ii) of this definition. As to any particular WCP Registrable Securities, such securities shall cease to be WCP Registrable Securities when they have been distributed to the public pursuant to an offering registered under the Securities Act or sold to the public through a broker, dealer or market maker in compliance with Rule 144 (or any similar rule then in force) or repurchased by the Company or any Subsidiary. For purposes of this Agreement, a Person shall be deemed to be a holder of WCP Registrable Securities and such WCP Registrable Securities shall be deemed to be in existence whenever such Person has the right to acquire, directly or indirectly, such WCP Registrable Securities (upon conversion or exercise in connection with a transfer of securities or

otherwise, but disregarding any restrictions or limitations upon the exercise of such right), whether or not such acquisition has actually been effected, and such Person shall be entitled to exercise the rights of a holder of WCP Registrable Securities hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any particular WCP Registrable Securities held by any Person shall not be deemed to be WCP Registrable Securities on and after the later of such time as the WCP Registrable Securities held by such Person and its Affiliates (a) constitute less than 2% of the Company's outstanding shares of Common Stock or (b) may be sold under Rule 144(b)(1)(i) without limitation under any of the other requirements of Rule 144 (as confirmed by an opinion of the Company's counsel).

"WKSI" means a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined under Rule 405.

Section 12. Miscellaneous.

- 12A. <u>No Inconsistent Agreements</u>. The Company shall not hereafter enter into any agreement with respect to its securities which is inconsistent with or violates the rights granted to the holders of Registrable Securities in this Agreement.
- 12B. <u>Adjustments Affecting Registrable Securities</u>. The Company shall not take any action, or permit any change to occur, with respect to its securities that would materially and adversely affect the ability of the holders of Registrable Securities to include such Registrable Securities in a registration undertaken pursuant to this Agreement or that would materially and adversely affect the marketability of such Registrable Securities in any such registration (including effecting a split or a combination of securities).
- 12C. Remedies. Any Person having any rights under any provision of this Agreement shall be entitled to enforce such rights specifically (without posting a bond or other security), to recover damages by reason of any breach of any provision of this Agreement and to exercise all other rights granted by law. The Parties agree and acknowledge that the holders of Registrable Securities would be irreparably harmed by, and money damages would not be an adequate remedy for, any breach of the provisions of this Agreement and that, in addition to any other rights and remedies existing in its favor, any party shall be entitled to specific performance and/or other injunctive relief from any court of law or equity of competent jurisdiction (without posting any bond or other security) in order to enforce or prevent violation of the provisions of this Agreement.
- 12D. Amendments and Waivers. Except as otherwise provided herein, the provisions of this Agreement may be amended, and any provision of this Agreement may be waived, only upon the prior written consent of the Company, the holders of a majority of the WCP Registrable Securities then outstanding, the holders of a majority of the Bain Registrable Securities then outstanding; provided that to the extent any such amendment or waiver materially and adversely affects the specific rights of the holders of Other Registrable Securities in a manner differently than the holders of WCP Registrable Securities, the Bain Registrable Securities or the Advent Registrable Securities, such amendment or waiver shall not be binding on the holders of Other Registrable Securities without the prior written consent of the holders of a majority of the Other Registrable Securities (but with it being understood that the addition of other Persons as parties hereto, including in the capacity as Other Investors, in no event shall require the consent of any holders of Other Registrable Securities). No course of dealing between or among the Parties (including the failure of any party to enforce any of the provisions of this Agreement) shall be deemed effective to modify, amend, waive or discharge any part of this Agreement or any rights or obligations of any Party under or by reason of this Agreement, and the failure of any party to enforce any of the provisions of this Agreement shall in no way be construed as a waiver of such provisions and shall not affect the right of such party thereafter to enforce each and every provision of this Agreement in accordance with its terms. The waiver by any party hereto of a breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of any preceding or succeeding breach.
- 12E. <u>Successors and Assigns</u>. This Agreement and all of the covenants and agreements contained herein and rights, interests or obligations hereunder, by or on behalf of any of the Parties, shall bind and inure to the benefit of the respective successors and assigns of the Parties whether so expressed or not, except that neither this Agreement nor any of the covenants and agreements herein or rights, interests or obligations hereunder may be assigned or delegated by the Company, without the prior written consent of the holders of a majority of the WCP Registrable Securities then outstanding, the holders of a majority of the Bain Registrable Securities then outstanding. Without limiting the foregoing, whether or not any express assignment has been made, the provisions of this Agreement which are for the benefit of holders of WCP Registrable Securities, the Bain Registrable Securities are also for the benefit of, and enforceable by, any subsequent holder of WCP Registrable Securities, the Bain Registrable Securities, the Advent Registrable Securities and (to the extent approved in writing by the Company) Other Registrable Securities, as applicable. If any of the WCP

Investors, Bain Investors or Advent Investors transfer their securities to one or more Affiliates, or shares are issued to one or more of their Affiliates at closing of the Priory Acquisition, such Affiliates may sign a joinder to this Agreement and shall thereafter be deemed to be a WCP Investor, Bain Investor or Advent Investor, as applicable, for all purposes of this Agreement, without requiring any consent hereunder.

- 12F. Severability. Whenever possible, each provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and valid under applicable law, but if any provision of this Agreement or the application of any such provision to any Person or circumstance shall be held to be prohibited by or illegal or unenforceable under applicable law in any respect by a court of competent jurisdiction, such provision shall be ineffective only in such jurisdiction and to the extent of such prohibition or illegality or unenforceability, without invalidating the remainder of such provision or the remaining provisions of this Agreement in such jurisdiction or any provisions of this Agreement in any other jurisdiction.
- 12G. Counterparts. This Agreement and any amendments hereto or thereto, to the extent signed and delivered in counterparts (any one of which need not contain the signatures of more than one party hereto or thereto, but all such counterparts together shall constitute one and the same Agreement) by means of a facsimile machine or electronic transmission in portable document format (pdf), shall be treated in all manner and respects as an original thereof and shall be considered to have the same binding legal effects as if it were the original signed version thereof delivered in person. At the request of any party hereto or thereto, each other party hereto or thereto shall re-execute original forms thereof and deliver them to all other parties hereto or thereto. No party hereto shall raise the use of a facsimile machine or electronic transmission in pdf to deliver a signature or the fact that any signature or document was transmitted or communicated through the use of facsimile machine as a defense to the formation of a contract, and each such party forever waives any such defense.
- 12H. <u>Descriptive Headings</u>; <u>Interpretation</u>. The headings and captions used in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. The use of the word "including" herein shall mean "including without limitation." Any reference to the masculine, feminine or neuter gender shall be deemed to include any gender or all three as appropriate.
- 12I. <u>Governing Law</u>. All issues and questions concerning the construction, validity, enforcement and interpretation of this Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Delaware, without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of law rules or provisions (whether of the State of Delaware or any other jurisdiction) that would cause the application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than the State of Delaware.
- 12J. Notices. All notices, demands or other communications to be given or delivered under or by reason of the provisions of this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given only (i) when delivered personally to the recipient, (ii) one business day after being sent to the recipient by reputable overnight courier service (charges prepaid) provided that confirmation of delivery is received, (iii) upon machine-generated acknowledgment of receipt after transmittal by facsimile (provided that a confirmation copy is sent via reputable overnight courier service for delivery within two business days thereafter), or (iv) five days after being mailed to the recipient by certified or registered mail (return receipt requested and postage prepaid). Such notices, demands and other communications shall be sent to the WCP Investors at the address set forth on the Schedule of Bain Investors, to the Other Investors at the addresses set forth on the Schedule of Other Investors, to the Advent Investors at the address indicated below:

Acadia Healthcare Company, Inc. 6100 Tower Circle, Suite 1000 Franklin, Tennessee 37067

Attention: Chief Executive Officer and General Counsel

Facsimile: (615)732-6315

with copies (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Waller Lansden Dortch & Davis, LLP 511 Union Street, Suite 2700 Nashville, Tennessee 37219

Attention: James H. Nixon III Facsimile: (615)244-6804

or to such other address or to the attention of such other Person as the recipient party has specified by prior written notice to the sending party.

- 12K. <u>Rights Cumulative</u>. The rights and remedies of each of the Parties under this Agreement shall be cumulative and not exclusive of any rights or remedies which a Party would otherwise have hereunder at law or in equity or by statute, and no failure or delay by either party in exercising any right or remedy shall not impair any such right or remedy or operate as a waiver of such right or remedy, and neither shall any single or partial exercise of any power or right preclude a Party's other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other power or right.
- 12L. <u>No Strict Construction</u>. The Parties have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement. In the event an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be construed as if drafted jointly by the Parties, and no presumption or burden of proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring any Party by virtue of the authorship of any of the provisions of this Agreement.
- 12M. <u>Complete Agreement</u>. This Agreement and the other agreements and instruments referred to herein contain the complete agreement between the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede any prior understandings, agreements and representations by or between the parties hereto (whether written or oral) which may have related to the subject matter hereof or thereof in any way (including, without limitation, the Second Amended Agreement, the First Amended Agreement and the Initial Agreement).

12N. Agreements in Connection with the Priory Acquisition.

- (a) With respect to the Second Amended Agreement, the WCP Investors, the Bain Investors and the Other Investors hereby (i) waive any and all rights they may have under the Second Amended Agreement to participate and sell shares in the equity offering contemplated to be effected by the Company in accordance with, and in order to raise a portion of the consideration necessary to consummate, the transactions contemplated by the Priory Sale and Purchase Deed (the "2016 Equity Offering"), including any rights they may have in accordance with Section 2 of the Second Amended Agreement, and (ii) waive any right to receive notice thereof.
- (b) The Advent Investors hereby agree to execute a customary lockup letter for the benefit of the underwriters of the 2016 Equity Offering, provided that (i) the maximum duration of such letter is no more than 60 days from the date of pricing of the offering, (ii) letters identical in all material respects and for the same duration are also signed by the WCP Investors and the Bain Investors and such letters provide that any waiver by the underwriters of such agreement for the benefit of the WCP Investors, the Bain Investors or the Advent Investors must apply for all of them but may not be granted until following the closing of the Priory Acquisition, (iii) such letters include customary exceptions for transfers to affiliates, and (iv) such equity offering is consummated no later than February 16, 2016.
- (c) Beginning from the date hereof and continuing through the earlier of (A) the later of (1) expiration of the lockup agreements executed by the WCP Investors, the Bain Investors, the Other Investors and the Advent Investors in connection with the 2016 Equity Offering and (2) closing of the Priory Acquisition and (B) February 23, 2016 (such period referred to herein as the "Restricted Period"), the WCP Investors, the Bain Investors and the Other Investors shall not (i) offer, sell, contract to sell, pledge or otherwise dispose of (including sales pursuant to Rule 144), directly or indirectly, any equity securities of the Company, or any securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for such securities (including equity securities of the Company that may be deemed to be owned beneficially by such holder in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Commission) (collectively, "Securities"), or exercise registration rights with respect thereto, (ii) enter into a transaction which would have the same effect as described in clause (i) above, (iii) enter into any swap, hedge or other arrangement that transfers, in whole or in part, any of the economic consequences or ownership of any Securities, whether such transaction is to be settled by delivery of such Securities, in cash or otherwise (each of (i), (ii) and (iii) above, a "Sale Transaction"), or (iv) publicly disclose the intention to enter into any Sale Transaction. In addition, during the Restricted Period the Company (i) shall not file any registration statement for any public sale or make any distribution of its Securities, or cause any such registration statement to become effective, or effect any Sale Transaction (except for the 2016 Equity Offering, which may only be a primary offering with no secondary participation, or pursuant to registrations on Form S-4 (for debt only) or Form S-8 or any successor form).
- (d) The Company represents and warrants that (i) this Agreement constitutes a valid and binding amendment and restatement of the Second Amended Agreement, (ii) the required parties have agreed to this amendment and restatement of the Second Amended Agreement in accordance with Section 12D of the Second Amended Agreement, and (iii) except as provided in Section 12O below, this Agreement shall govern the rights of the parties hereto relating to the subject matter hereof following the closing of the Priory Acquisition.

12O. Effectiveness. Except for Section 12N and Section 12O, each of which shall be effective as of the date hereof (and this Article 12 to the extent applicable to Section 12N), notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, this Agreement shall not become effective (and the Second Amended Agreement shall remain in full force and effect) until the closing of the Priory Acquisition. This Agreement, including, without limitation, the provisions of Section 12N, shall terminate (and the Second Amended Agreement shall remain in full force and effect) upon any termination of the Priory Sale and Purchase Deed prior to closing of the Priory Acquisition.

THE COMPANY:

ACADIA HEALTHCARE COMPANY, INC.

By: /s/ Joey A. Jacobs
Name: Joey A. Jacobs

Its: Chief Executive Officer

WCP INVESTORS:

WAUD CAPITAL PARTNERS II, L.P.

By: Waud Capital Partners Management II, L.P.

Its: General Partner

By: Waud Capital Partners II, L.L.C.

Its: General Partner

By: /s/ Reeve B. Waud

Name: Reeve B. Waud Its: Authorized Signatory

WAUD CAPITAL PARTNERS QP II, L.P.

By: Waud Capital Partners Management II, L.P.

Its: General Partner

By: Waud Capital Partners II, L.L.C.

Its: General Partner

By: /s/ Reeve B. Waud
Name: Reeve B. Waud
Its: Authorized Signatory

WCP FIF II (ACADIA), L.P.

By: Waud Capital Partners Management II, L.P.

Its: General Partner

By: Waud Capital Partners II, L.L.C.

Its: General Partner

By: /s/ Reeve B. Waud

Name: Reeve B. Waud Its: Authorized Signatory

WCP INVESTORS:

WAUD CAPITAL PARTNERS III, L.P.

By: Waud Capital Partners Management III, L.P.

Its: General Partner

By: Waud Capital Partners III, L.L.C.

Its: General Partner

By: /s/ Reeve B. Waud

Name: Reeve B. Waud Its: Authorized Signatory

WAUD CAPITAL PARTNERS QP III, L.P.

By: Waud Capital Partners Management III, L.P.

Its: General Partner

By: Waud Capital Partners III, L.L.C.

Its: General Partner

By: /s/ Reeve B. Waud
Name: Reeve B. Waud
Its: Authorized Signatory

WCP FIF III (ACADIA), L.P.

By: Waud Capital Partners Management III, L.P.

Its: General Partner

By: Waud Capital Partners III, L.L.C.

Its: General Partner

By: /s/ Reeve B. Waud

Name: Reeve B. Waud Its: Authorized Signatory

WCP INVESTORS:

WAUD CAPITAL AFFILIATES II, L.L.C.

By: /s/ Reeve B. Waud
Name: Reeve B. Waud
Its: Authorized Signatory

WAUD CAPITAL AFFILIATES III, L.L.C.

By: /s/ Reeve B. Waud
Name: Reeve B. Waud
Its: Authorized Signatory

WAUD FAMILY PARTNERS, L.P.

By: /s/ Reeve B. Waud
Name: Reeve B. Waud
Its: Authorized Signatory

REEVE B. WAUD 2011 FAMILY TRUST

By: /s/ Cornelius B. Waud
Name: Cornelius B. Waud
Its: Authorized Signatory

WAUD CAPITAL PARTNERS, LLC

By: /s/ Reeve B. Waud
Name: Reeve B. Waud
Its: General Partner

CRYSTAL COVE LP

By: /s/ Reeve B. Waud
Name: Reeve B. Waud
Its: Sole Manager

REEVE B. WAUD

/s/ Reeve B. Waud

Reeve B. Waud

MELISSA WAUD

/s/ Melissa Waud

Melissa Waud

Name: Danny Carpenter	
Name: Fred T. Dodd	
Name: Ron Fincher	
/s/ Christopher L. Howard	
Name: Christopher L. Howard	
/s/ Joey A. Jacobs	
Name: Joey A. Jacobs	
Name: Jack E. Polson	
Name: Robert Swinson	
/s/ Brent Turner	
Name: Brent Turner	
Name: Randall Goldberg	

OTHER INVESTORS:

OTHER INVESTORS:

JEREMY BRENT JACOBS GST NON-EXEMPT TRUST U/A/D 04-26-2011

By: /s/ Deborah H. Jacobs

Name: Deborah H. Jacobs

Its: Trustee

SCOTT DOUGLAS JACOBS GST NON-EXEMPT TRUST U/A/D 04-26-2011

By: /s/ Deborah H. Jacobs

Name: Deborah H. Jacobs

Its: Trustee

ELIZABETH GRACE TURNER 2011 VESTED TRUST

By: /s/ Caryn Turner
Name: Caryn Turner
Its: Trustee

WILLIAM JESSE TURNER 2011 VESTED TRUST

By: /s/ Caryn Turner
Name: Caryn Turner
Its: Trustee

RAS W. FINCHER II TRUST U/A/D 09-13-2011

By: /s/ Joey A. Jacobs
Name: Joey A. Jacobs
Its: Trustee

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed or caused to be executed on their behalf this	Third Amended and Restated Registration
Rights Agreement as of the date first written above.	

OTHER INVESTORS

MORGAN M. FINCHER TRUST U/A/D 09-13-2011

By: /s/ Joey A. Jacobs
Name: Joey A. Jacobs
Its: Trustee

CODY C. FINCHER TRUST U/A/D 09-13-2011

By: /s/ Joey A. Jacobs
Name: Joey A. Jacobs
Its: Trustee

JACK E. POLSON FAMILY 2013 GRANTOR RETAINED ANNUITY TRUST

By:			
Name:			
Its:			

BAIN INVESTORS:

BAIN CAPITAL FUND VIII, LLC

By: Bain Capital Fund VIII, L.P., its sole member

By: Bain Capital Partners VIII, L.P., its general partner

By: Bain Capital Investors, LLC, its general partner

By: /s/ Christopher Gordon

Name: Christopher Gordon Title: Managing Director

BAIN CAPITAL VIII COINVESTMENT FUND, LLC

By: Bain Capital VIII Coinvestment Fund, L.P.,

its sole member

By: Bain Capital Partners VIII, L.P., its general partner

By: Bain Capital Investors, LLC, its general partner

By: /s/ Christopher Gordon

Name: Christopher Gordon Title: Managing Director

BCIP ASSOCIATES - G

By: Bain Capital Investors, LLC, its managing partner

By: /s/ Christopher Gordon

Name: Christopher Gordon Title: Managing Director

BCIP ASSOCIATES III, LLC

By: BCIP Associates III, its manager

BY: Bain Capital Investors, LLC, its managing partner

By: /s/ Christopher Gordon

Name: Christopher Gordon Title: Managing Director

BAIN INVESTORS:

BCIP T ASSOCIATES III, LLC

By: Bain Trust Associates III, its manager

BY: Bain Capital Investors, LLC, its managing partner

By: /s/ Christopher Gordon

Name: Christopher Gordon Title: Managing Director

BCIP ASSOCIATES III-B, LLC

By: BCIP Associates III-B, its manager

BY: Bain Capital Investors, LLC, its managing partner

By: /s/ Christopher Gordon

Name: Christopher Gordon Title: Managing Director

BCIP T ASSOCIATES III-B, LLC

By: BCIP Trust Associates III-B, its manager

BY: Bain Capital Investors, LLC, its managing partner

By: /s/ Christopher Gordon

Name: Christopher Gordon Title: Managing Director

RGIP, LP

By: RGIP GP, LLC, its general partner

Name:

Title:

BAIN CAPITAL (CR) L.P.

By: Bain Capital Investors, LLC, its general partner

By: /s/ Christopher Gordon

Name: Christopher Gordon Title: Managing Director

ADVENT THERAPY (LUXEMBOURG) S.A R.L.:

By: /s/ Fergal O'Hannrachain

Name: Fergal O'Hannrachain

Title: Manager

ADVENT MIRO LUXEMBOURG HOLDING S.A R.L.:

By: /s/ Fergal O'Hannrachain

Name: Fergal O'Hannrachain

Title: Manager

ADVENT MIRO LUXEMBOURG FINANCE S.A R.L.:

By: /s/ Fergal O'Hannrachain

Name: Fergal O'Hannrachain

Title: Manager

ADVENT THERAPY (LUXEMBOURG) FINANCE S.A R.L.:

By: /s/ Fergal O'Hannrachain

Name: Fergal O'Hannrachain

Title: Manager

SCHEDULE OF WCP INVESTORS

Waud Capital Partners II, L.P.
Waud Capital Partners QP II, L.P.
WCP FIF II (Acadia), L.P.
Waud Capital Partners III, L.P.
Waud Capital Partners QP III, L.P.
Waud Capital Partners QP III, L.P.
WCP FIF III (Acadia), L.P.
Waud Capital Affiliates II, LLC
Waud Capital Affiliates III, LLC
Waud Family Partners, L.P.
Waud Capital Partners, LLC
Crystal Cove LP
Reeve B. Waud

Melissa Waud

Notice address for each WCP Investor:

300 North LaSalle Street, Ste. 4900

Chicago, Illinois 60654 Attention: Reeve B. Waud Mark Flower Facsimile: (312) 676-8444

SCHEDULE OF OTHER INVESTORS

Danny Carpenter Fred T. Dodd

Christopher L. Howard

Jack E. Polson

Robert Swinson

Randall Goldberg

Jeremy Brent Jacobs GST Non-Exempt Trust U/A/D 04-26-2011

Scott Douglas Jacobs GST Non-Exempt Trust U/A/D 04-26-2011

Elizabeth Grace Turner 2011 Vested Trust

William Jesse Turner 2011 Vested Trust

Ras W. Fincher II Trust U/A/D 09-13-2011

Morgan M. Fincher Trust U/A/D 09-13-2011

Cody C. Fincher Trust U/A/D 09-13-2011

Jack E. Polson Family 2013 Grantor Retained Annuity Trust

Joey A. Jacobs

William Brent Turner

Ron Fincher

Notice address for the Other Investors: c/o Acadia Healthcare Company, Inc.

6100 Tower Circle, Suite 1000,

Franklin, TN 37067

Attention: Chief Executive Officer and General Counsel

Facsimile: (615) 261-9685

Or such other address provided in writing by any Other Investor to all other parties hereto.

SCHEDULE OF BAIN INVESTORS

Bain Capital Fund VIII, LLC
Bain Capital VIII Coinvestment Fund, LLC
BCIP Associates III, LLC
BCIP Associates – G
BCIP Associates III-B, LLC
BCIP T Associates III, LLC
BCIP T Associates III-B, LLC
RGIP, LP
Bain Capital (CR) L.P.

Notice address for the Bain Investors:

Bain Capital Partners, LLC

John Hancock Tower 200 Clarendon Street Boston, MA 02116 Attention: Chris Gordon Facsimile: (617) 516-2010

SCHEDULE OF ADVENT INVESTORS

Advent Therapy (Luxembourg) S.A R.L. Advent Miro Luxembourg Holding S.A R.L. Advent Miro Luxembourg Finance S.A R.L. Advent Therapy (Luxembourg) Finance S.A R.L.

Notice address for the Advent Investors:



Contact: Brent Turner President (615) 861-6000

Acadia Healthcare to Acquire Priory Group, a Leading Provider of Behavioral Healthcare Services in the United Kingdom

Will Expand Acadia's U.K. Presence by Over 300 Facilities with Approximately 7,200 Beds

Expected Annualized Accretion in Range of \$0.38 to \$0.42 per Diluted Share

FRANKLIN, Tenn. – January 4, 2016 – Acadia Healthcare Company, Inc. (Nasdaq: ACHC) today announced that it has signed a definitive agreement for the acquisition of Priory Group ("Priory"). Priory is a leading provider of behavioral healthcare services in the United Kingdom, operating more than 300 facilities with approximately 7,200 beds. For 2015, Priory is expected to produce revenue of approximately \$865 million and adjusted EBITDA of approximately \$196 million.

In accordance with the terms of the purchase agreement, (i) an aggregate of 5.363 million shares of Acadia common stock, subject to adjustment as provided in the agreement, will be issued to the sellers, and (ii) Acadia will pay cash consideration of approximately £1.275 billion (or approximately \$1.887 billion), including approximately £925 million (or approximately \$1.369 billion) used to repay outstanding debt of Priory. It is expected that Acadia will seek a combination of equity and long-term debt financing to finance the transaction. Acadia has received a commitment from Bank of America Merrill Lynch and Jefferies Finance LLC regarding the debt financing for a portion of the cash payable in the transaction. Acadia expects to complete the transaction by February 16, 2016.

Joey Jacobs, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Acadia, remarked, "We are extremely pleased to announce this agreement with Priory, a leading provider of behavioral healthcare services in the U.K. This transaction strongly validates our strategic decision to enter the U.K. 18 months ago and our ongoing investment in the country, which has expanded our current presence to 54 inpatient facilities with approximately 2,200 beds. We believe the favorable industry dynamics that support this strategy – in particular, a long-term increase in the need for independent sector support for inpatient behavioral health – will provide Acadia continuing long-term accretive organic growth and acquisition opportunities. We look forward to welcoming Priory's outstanding team to Acadia and to building on a sector leadership position that reflects Priory's clinical expertise, strong operations and high-quality facilities."

Tom Riall, Chief Executive Officer of Priory, added, "Today's announcement is great news for Priory and we are delighted to be joining Acadia's global team. The combination of our two companies will provide the right platform to deliver long-term market leadership and sustainable growth. We are creating a genuine world leader in the provision of behavioral healthcare services, and we are excited about the opportunities for the future."

ACHC to Acquire the United Kingdom's Priory Group Page 2 January 4, 2016

Acadia expects this transaction will produce annualized earnings accretion in a range of approximately \$0.38 to \$0.42 per diluted share. These accretion expectations do not include the impact of transaction-related expenses.

Forward-Looking Statements

This news release contains forward-looking statements. Generally words such as "may," "will," "should," "could," "anticipate," "expect," "intend," "estimate," "plan," "continue," and "believe" or the negative of or other variation on these and other similar expressions identify forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are made only as of the date of this news release. We do not undertake to update or revise the forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. Forward-looking statements are based on current expectations and involve risks and uncertainties and our future results could differ significantly from those expressed or implied by our forward-looking statements. Factors that may cause actual results to differ materially include, without limitation, (i) Acadia's ability to complete the financing transactions for the Priory acquisition on the timing and terms expected, (ii) Acadia's ability to complete the Priory acquisition and other acquisitions and successfully integrate the operations of acquired facilities; (iii) Acadia's ability to add beds, expand services, enhance marketing programs and improve efficiencies at its facilities; (iv) potential reductions in payments received by Acadia from government and third-party payors; (v) the occurrence of patient incidents, which could adversely affect the price of our common stock and result in incremental regulatory burdens and governmental investigations; (vi) the risk that Acadia may not generate sufficient cash from operations to service its debt and meet its working capital and capital expenditure requirements; and (vii) potential operating difficulties, client preferences, changes in competition and general economic or industry conditions that may prevent Acadia from realizing the expected benefits of its business strategy. These factors and others are more fully described in Acadia's periodic reports and other filings with the SEC.

This news release does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any securities.

About Priory Group

Priory is a leading provider of behavioral healthcare services in the U.K. Priory's purpose is to make a real and lasting difference for everyone it supports. Priory consists of four divisions - Healthcare, Education and Children's Services, Adult Care and Older People Services – supporting more than 30,000 people per year in over 300 facilities across the U.K.

About Acadia

Acadia is a provider of inpatient behavioral healthcare services. Acadia operates a network of 258 behavioral healthcare facilities with over 9,900 beds in 39 states, the United Kingdom and Puerto Rico. Acadia provides psychiatric and chemical dependency services to its patients in a variety of settings, including inpatient psychiatric hospitals, residential treatment centers, outpatient clinics and therapeutic school-based programs.